
Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626 
e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - CABINET

Date & Time - Tuesday, 13 February 2018 at 10.00 am

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Cabinet:

Councillors: The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader), C N Worth (Deputy Leader), 
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader), A Casson, P E Coupland, R Gambba-Jones, C N 
Johnson, C J Lawton and G J Taylor. 

No substitutions permitted. Quorum 4.

Note: Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.  

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   5 February 2018



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Cabinet held on 21 November 2017 (copy enclosed).  

(Pages 
1 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest. - (Where a Councillor has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the 
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or 
making a statement on the item, except where a Councillor is permitted 
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.)

4. Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution 
(Standing Orders). 

5. To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in. 

6. To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules. 

7. Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy - To consider the 
Draft General Fund and Housing Revenue Account 2018-19 revenue 
and capital estimates and the Draft Financial Medium Term Plan (for 
Recommendation to Council) (report of the Portfolio Holder Finance and 
the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer) enclosed).

(Pages 
11 - 98)

8. Q3 Finance Report 2017-18 - To provide information on Quarter 3 (to 31 
December 2017) and forecast full year financial position of the Council 
(report of the Portfolio Holder Finance and the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer) enclosed.)

(Pages 
99 - 
112)

9. Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 - To consider the 
Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy for adoption (report of the Portfolio 
Holder for Housing and Health and the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer) enclosed).

(Pages 
113 - 
146)

10. Welland Homes Business Plan Update - To update the Welland Homes 
Business Plan, and to put in place the necessary arrangements for 
Welland Homes to commence delivery of a housing development at 
Parkside Crescent, Spalding (report of the Portfolio Holder Finance and 
the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer) enclosed).

(Please note that the appendices associated with this report are not 
for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 (Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the 
Local Government Act 1972, and are therefore attached to this 
agenda as item 13.)

(Pages 
147 - 
154)



11. Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. - 

Note: (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules.

12. To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act. 

13. Welland Homes Business Plan Update - Appendices (enclosed) (Pages 
155 - 
160)



This page is intentionally left blank



- 17 -

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 21 November 2017 at 10.00 am.

PRESENT

C N Worth (Deputy Leader)
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)
A Casson 

A Casson
P E Coupland

R Gambba-Jones
C N Johnson

C J Lawton

The Executive Director Strategy and Governance, the Executive Director 
Commercialisation, the Executive Director Place, the Executive Manager 
Governance, the Executive Manager People and Public Protection, the 
Environmental Services Manager, the Head of Service Revenue and Benefits, the 
Revenues and Recovery Team Leader and the Democratic Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors G A Porter, 
G J Taylor and T A Carter, together with the Citizens Advice Bureau (South Holland 
Citizens Advice Bureau), the Welland Seniors Forum (Welland Seniors Forum) and 
the Chief Executive.  

In Attendance:  Councillor B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel), 
Councillor G R Aley (Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee) and Councillor 
A M Newton (Independent Group Leader).

Action By
27. MINUTES 

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 19 September 2017 
were signed by the Deputy Leader as a correct record. 

28. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. 

There were no declarations of interest. 

29. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE 
COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING ORDERS). 

No questions were raised under the Council’s constitution 
(Standing Orders). 

30. TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT 
TO CALL-IN. 

There were no matters subject to call-in. 

31. TO CONSIDER MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2.



- 18 -

CABINET - 21 November 2017

There were no matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels. 

32. MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN SOUTH 
HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL AND BRECKLAND COUNCIL 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Governance and Customer and the Deputy Leader, the 
purpose of which was to review the Memorandum of Agreement 
between South Holland District Council and Breckland Council.

In the past, there had been difficulties in arranging meetings of 
the Appointments and Disciplinary Panel.  This might be 
overcome by having a smaller committee and a larger pool of 
substitutes.  It was clarified that appointments to this committee 
would still be subject to political group balance rules.  

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:

a) That the Memorandum of Agreement attached at Appendix 1 
to the report, and as amended, be approved and 
recommended to Council for adoption; and

b) That the Legal Services Manager, in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Governance and Customer, be 
instructed to amend the Terms of Reference of the Joint 
Appointments and Disciplinary Committee for submission to 
Council.

(Other options considered:
 To approve in part some of the recommended 

amendments to the Memorandum of Agreement;
 Not to approve any updates to the Memorandum of 

Agreement;
Reasons for decision:

 The Agreement must remain robust and reflect the current 
operation of all shared staff and the shared management 
structure as amended form time to time;

 The Memorandum of Agreement is reviewed every two 
years, and the current view is now due; and

 Greater certainty as to the parties respective rights and 
liabilities will be achieved, and the risk to parties will be 
minimised.) 

Lynn 
Eldred, 
Christine 
Morgan 
Sarah 
Wolstenhol
me-Smy 

33. UPDATE ON THE GARDEN WASTE COLLECTION PILOT 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Place and the Executive Director Place which provided 

Emily 
Spicer 

Page 2



- 19 -

CABINET - 21 November 2017

members with an update on the outcome of the Garden Waste 
Collection trial, and sought approval to formalise this service into 
the base budget.

In order to remain commercial, there would inevitably be areas 
within the district that it could not cover.  It was requested that 
members be provided with information on which areas would not 
be covered by the service.  

Members commented that the report implied that the cost of the 
service would not rise in the future, and felt that consideration 
should be given to the cost of providing it in years to come.  
Officers confirmed that financing of the service had been carefully 
considered, but that this would of course be reviewed in future 
years.

DECISION:

That the report be noted and the proposals approved so far as 
they may be executive functions.

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:

a) That approval be given for the Garden Waste Collection 
Scheme to become a formal offered service within target 
areas (not all of the district);

b) That approval be given to extend the Garden Waste Collection 
Scheme to two collection routes from 1 April 2018;

c) That the purple sack garden waste disposal service is 
reviewed in lined with the extension of the Garden Waste 
Collection Scheme;

d) That £240,000 is released from the Investment and Growth 
reserve in 2017/18 in order to finance the capital requirements 
(one vehicle and wheeled bin provision) or a second route to 
the garden waste collection scheme;

e) A further £165,000 is approved as a commitment from the 
Investment and Growth reserve in 2021/22 in order to finance 
the capital requirements (replacement vehicle); and

f) That in Year 1 (2018/19), based on the mid case scenario 
(Table 3, Option 2), the revenue budget is increased by up to 
£90,000 (net expenditure), that the funding for this initial 
investment is taken from the Investment and Growth Reserve, 
and that the revenue budgets will be reviewed and adjusted in 
accordance with demand during 2018/19.

Lynn 
Eldred, 
Christine 
Morgan, 
Emily 
Spicer 

Page 3



- 20 -

CABINET - 21 November 2017

(Other options considered:
 Formalise garden waste collection service (without 

extension);
 Do nothing;

Reasons for decision:
 The strategy for providing a formal garden waste collection 

service addresses a number of business objectives). 

34. UNREASONABLY PERSISTENT COMPLAINTS AND 
CUSTOMER BEHAVIOUR AND VEXATIOUS REQUESTS 
POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Governance and Customer, which asked members to consider 
the draft Policy for dealing with Unreasonably Persistent 
Complaints and Customer Behaviour and Vexatious Requests.

The Council did not currently have a policy or a procedure to deal 
with unreasonable customer behaviour and complaints and 
vexatious requests.  The purpose of the document was to define 
unreasonable customer behaviour, explain what was considered 
to be unreasonably persistent complaints and how they would be 
dealt with, and to define vexatious requests and how there would 
be dealt with.

DECISION:

That the proposed Policy be approved.

(Other options considered:
 To approve the draft Policy subject to amendments;
 Not to adopt a policy and procedures.

Reasons for decision:
 To ensure that complaints and customers are dealt with in 

an open, fair and proportionate way; and
 To underline the Authority’s commitment to transparency 

and openness). 

35. REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT (RIPA) 
POLICY UPDATE 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Governance and Customer which sought to update the Council’s 
RIPA Policy and Procedures in accordance with 
recommendations from the Office of the Surveillance 
Commissioner.

DECISION:

Page 4



- 21 -

CABINET - 21 November 2017

a) That the Executive Manager Governance be instructed to 
update the RIPA Policy and Procedures to reflect the 
recommendations of the Office of the Surveillance 
Commissioner;

b) That the Executive Manager Governance be instructed to 
report annually to members on the number of RIPA 
authorisations and on the fitness of the Policy and Procedures; 
and

c) That, in between annual reports, any activity be reported to the 
Portfolio Holder for Governance and Customer.

(Other options considered:
 To leave the Policy and Procedures unchanged.

Reasons for decision:
 To ensure that the Council’s Policy and Procedures are fit 

for purpose and compliant with current legal requirements 
and guidance).  

Mark 
Stinson 

36. CORPORATE HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY 2017 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
Public Protection and the Executive Manager for People and 
Public Protection, which proposed a revised Health and Safety 
Policy and recommended its formal adoption and implementation.

DECISION:

That the Policy be approved and adopted.

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing

Reasons for decision:
 To ensure that South Holland District Council is compliant 

with its statutory duties.) 

37. QUARTER 2 2017-18 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Strategy and Governance, which provided an update on Council 
performance for the period 1 July 2017 to 30 September 2017.

The Quarter 2 2017/18 Performance Report, attached at 
Appendix A to the report, provided councillors and residents with 
information about how the Council was delivering its services, and 
how it was progressing against its Corporate Priorities.

Page 5



- 22 -

CABINET - 21 November 2017

Quarter 2 saw performance improve in comparison to Quarter 1, 
with performance rated as ‘moderate’.  The following areas of 
concern were noted:

 Staff Turnover – Staff turnover for the quarter was 10.97%.  
Although well above the threshold, the figure was largely 
made up of leavers resulting from service reviews  

 Cases prevented from homelessness per 1,000 households  - 
Although not a targeted measure, monitoring would continue, 
as homelessness prevention was a key area for the Council 
and overall cases prevented from homelessness had seen a 
downwards trend over the last 4 quarters.

 Housing Voids – Overall, most of the housing void times had 
improved since the last quarter.  However, there were some 
performance indicators such as key to key for general needs 
and contractor times for general needs which exceeded 
targets.  These areas were being addressed.

 Business Rate in Year Collection Rate -  The collection rate 
was currently 0.93% behind target.  Changes as a result of the 
recent business rates revaluation, and notification by the 
Valuation Office Agency of two large, backdated changes to 
business assessment in the rating list were largely the reason 
for this performance.  Monitoring would be undertaken and it 
was anticipated that the end of year target would be achieved.  

DECISION:

That the report be noted.

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing;

Reasons for decision:
 No recommendations are made.  The report is presented 

for consideration in order that members are aware of how 
the Council is delivering its services and how it is 
progressing against its Corporate Priorities.) 

38. DEBT MANAGEMENT - WRITE OFFS 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation, which 
sought approval for the write off of uncollectable debt, and to 
review and agree the process for delegated approval of debt write 
off.

Although there was some discussion of the report in open 
session, it was agreed that full consideration of the item required 
exclusion of the press and public. 

Page 6



- 23 -

CABINET - 21 November 2017

39. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were no urgent items. 

40. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

DECISION:

That, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 7 of part 
1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

41. INSOURCING OF CLEARANCE AND MAINTENANCE 
SERVICES - TUPE TRANSFER 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Place and the Executive Director Place, which sought approval 
for the insourcing of work areas and transfer of staff to the 
Council’s Environmental Services Team.

Members asked that further information be provided with regard 
to seasonal work. The recommendations would be taken to 
Council for final approval.

DECISION:

a) That Cabinet notes that, at a meeting of South Holland District 
Council on 24 May 2017, agreement was reached for a cross 
department review of ‘Place Services’;

b) That following the Place Services review, the ‘contractual 
arrangements set out in the report be terminated mutually; 

c) That those matters requiring a Council decision be 
recommended to council in accordance with the 
recommendation in the report.

(Other options considered:
 To continue with the range of council services described 

within the report being outsourced to a private contractor;
Reasons for decision:

 The strategy for transferring housing void clearances, 
cemetery services and one-off activities as described 
within the report addressed a number of business 
requirements).  

Emily 
Spicer 

Page 7



- 24 -

CABINET - 21 November 2017

42. WRITE OFFS 

Following exclusion of the press and public, full consideration was 
given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance and the 
Executive Director Commercialisation, which sought approval for 
the write off of uncollectable debt, and to review and agree the 
process for delegated approval of debt write off.

Members debated a number of issues in relation to write-offs, and 
the following issues were raised in respect of each of the 
proposed recommendations:

Recommendation 1 – Amounts identified in report to be approved 
for write-off

 The amount of write-offs over a period of years was quoted as 
a single figure.  Without this information being separated out 
into yearly figures, it was difficult to see any trends.  Officers 
confirmed that they would provide analysis in this way in the 
future, in order that members could see historic trends.

 It appeared that some debts, for both Council Tax and 
Business Rates, had accrued over a number of years. Could 
these individuals and businesses be looked at sooner?  
Officers responded that every case was considered on its own 
merits, and there was no one consistent response.  Members 
were invited to discuss individual cases with officers in more 
detail outside of the meeting.

 Members stated that similar questions regarding debt recovery 
had been raised in the past, and that members should meet 
with officers to discuss the various scenarios and processes 
that were involved in the recovery of debt. It was the 
responsibility of members to monitor these issues and to 
ultimately agree to write off debt, but more information on the 
processes employed by officers was required.  Members were 
advised that there was an operational policy relating to the 
write-off of debt which provided this information, and that 
officers followed it.  It was agreed that officers would arrange a 
workshop for members, providing the information required, 
giving more detailed information on 2-3 of the cases 
mentioned within the report, and inviting an individual from the 
enforcement agency used by the Council to attend and explain 
the processes they undertook. 

Recommendation 2 – To consider options set out in section 3.7 of 
the report with regards to authorisation limits for the write-off of 
debt.

 Members were not happy to agree to passing authority for 
writing off of debt to a third party (Compass Point Business 

Sharon 
Hammond, 
Christine 
Marshall, 
Mark 
Woolerton 

Sharon 
Hammond, 
Christine 

Page 8



- 25 -

CABINET - 21 November 2017

Services) on behalf of the Authority. They wished that 
responsibility for agreeing to the write-off of debt remain with 
the Cabinet, with a steer from the Section 151 Officer, who 
was also asked to look at the level of delegation she had.

DECISION:

a) It was agreed that officers would arrange a workshop for 
members, providing the information required;

b) That Option 3, detailed within section 3.7 of the report be 
agreed as the Cabinet’s preferred option and that the S151 
officer be asked to review the level of the financial limit:

 Existing arrangements – Debt up to £1.050, Section 151 
Officer; Debt above £1,050, Cabinet.

 (Other options considered:
 Do nothing; or
 Approve the recommendations with amendments

Reasons for decision:
 All recovery methods available had been considered and 

where appropriate pursued before making the decision to 
write off.

 Officer time could be maximised on greatest returns, at the 
same time as ensuring robust procedures for debt 
management were in place across all revenue streams) 

Marshall, 
Mark 
Woolerton 

Sharon 
Hammond, 
Christine 
Marshall, 
Mark 
Woolerton 

(The meeting ended at 11.23 am)

(End of minutes)

These minutes are published on Friday 24 November 2017.  In accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated, 
come into force and may then be implemented on Monday 4 December 2017 (i.e. 
after the expiry of 5 working days from the date of publication of these minutes), 
unless during that period a notice which is signed by either a Ward Representative (in 
relation to a matter in their ward) or two members of the Performance Monitoring 
Panel or any three members, and complies with the requirements of the Council’s 
Constitution is served on the Executive Manager Governance requesting that the 
decision be called-in and the Executive Manager Governance approves the request 
for call-in.  Where a decision is called-in it will firstly be considered by the 
Performance Monitoring Panel on a date to be fixed.

Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately.

Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on Wednesday 17 January 2018.

Page 9



- 26 -

CABINET - 21 November 2017

Page 10



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance and the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S.151)

To: Cabinet – 13 February 2018

Author: Jane Crosby – Head of Finance (Compass Point Business 
Services)

Subject: Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 

Purpose: To consider the Draft General Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account 2018-19 revenue and capital estimates and the Draft 
Financial Medium Term Plan (for Recommendation to Council)

Recommendations:

1. To recommend to Full Council:

a. That the revenue estimates for the General Fund, Housing 
Revenue Account and Spalding Special Expenses for 2018-19 
(as set out in Appendices A, B and C) be approved.

b. That the use of reserves as set out in Appendix D be approved.
c. That Housing Revenue Account weekly dwelling rents reduce by 

1% over the 2017-18 rent with effect from Monday 2nd April 2018. 
This is in line with current government guidelines and legislation.

d. That the fees and charges shown in Appendix H be approved for 
adoption from 1 April 2018.

e. That the Council Tax for a Band A property in 2018-19 be set at 
£113.22, a £3.33 per annum increase on 2017-18 levels (band D 
£169.83, a £4.99 per annum increase on 2017-18 levels).

f. That the Spalding special expense for a Band A property be set at 
£15.99, £15.38 in 2017-18 (Band D £23.99, £23.07 in 2017-18).

g. That the Medium Term Financial Plan (Appendices A and B) be 
approved.

h. That the capital strategy and capital programme (Appendices E 
and F) be approved.

i. That the Treasury Management Strategy, including the Minimum 
Revenue Provision policy and annual investment strategy 
(appendix G) be approved 

2. That delegated authority be given to the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (s151), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, to make any necessary amendments to the budget prior to 
council due to late notifications. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7.



1.0 GENERAL FUND

Purpose of Report

1.1 This report and the associated Appendices set out the 2018-19 Budget and 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for the South Holland District Council 
General Fund and Housing Revenue Account (HRA). Also included is the 
Capital Strategy and The Treasury Management Strategy. The Budget and 
MTFP are based on the latest information currently available. The budget has 
been through a budget consultation process with the public and members. 
Feedback from that Consultation is available for members to consider as part 
of their review of the proposed budget and their recommendations to Full 
Council. The Full Council meeting will also approve the associated Council 
Tax level and HRA Rents for 2018-19. 

Summary of the 2018-19 Budget and MTFS 

1.2 For 2018-19 the Council is able to present a balanced budget postion taking 
into account the following main budget issues and changes from 2017-18:

 The Business Rates Pilot has provided a significant increase in the 
level of retained business rates for 2018-19 only. The resulting surplus 
on the General Fund has enabled the Council to contribute £684k to the 
Council Tax Reserve,

 An increase in Council Tax for a Band D property of £4.99 (3.03%),
 A forecast increase in IDB levies of 2%.
 The revenue budget has no ongoing support from New Homes Bonus, 

and all NHB is now being placed into  Reserves and will be utilised to 
support investment and growth opportunities.

 An increase in Pay budgets to reflect the 2% pay award, annual 
increments and pension cost pressures.

 Budget reductions and growth in income across a number of budgets 
identified through budget challenge sessions with managers.

 Income and savings arising from a number of major projects including 
co-location with DWP at Priory Road, investment in market housing 
through Welland Homes Ltd, the review of place based services, 
Grants for Growth and the extended Green Waste Service, 

 The full year effect of new, extended or changed services, notably to 
improve the infrastructure to support services more effectively and 
deliver future projects through the Delivery Unit, the Contracts and 
Procurement Unit and insourcing of legal services, 

 Funding through reserves in 2018-19 for Pride in South Holland,
 Increased levels of investment income from changes in interest rates 

and investment balances, and
 Assumed savings in 2018-19 in line with original Moving Forward 

Programme Targets. The programme is forecast to deliver total savings 
of £1.105m by 2019-20. As part of this programme it will be necessary 
to identify savings in 2018-19 of £313k to address slippage in the 
overall programme and activity is underway on this. 

Page 12



1.3 MTFS position - 2019-20 to 2021-22 . The MTFS currently shows projected 
annual budget gaps as follows:

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22
£000 £000 £000

Budget Gap 475 624 564

1.4 The on-going budget position has arisen largely as a direct result of the 
reduction and then loss of RSG funding from the Government. Members 
should also note that the MTFS does not assume the continuation of the 
business rates pilot into 2019-20. There are also some significant 
uncertainties around the level of future retained business rates. The baseline 
reset for 2020-21 presents a significant potential risk, but it is not possible to 
quantify what that impact will be at this stage. It should also be noted that the 
Council now has no reliance on New Homes Bonus.

1.5 The Council has a number of future projects which are being developed which 
will provide opportunities to address future funding pressures. These include 
further reviews of the Council’s services and assets including further co-
location opportunities, potential joint venture opportunities, income from 
commercial investments, a review of fees and charges etc. 

Background

1.6 2018-19 is the third year of Government’s four year Local Government 
Finance Settlement, for which the Council successfully applied in 2016-17, 
using the Moving Forward programme as the basis of the required efficiency 
plan.

1.7 The Moving Forward Programme builds on prudent financial management of 
the council and innovative income generation with savings targets in phase 1 
of the programme totalling £1.105m by 2020-21 through the transformation of 
Council Services to: 

- generate additional revenue streams via commercial activities 
(Welland Homes, Garden Waste), investment assets (Investment and 
Growth reserve, Holbeach Food Enterprise Zone), and economic and 
housing growth (Investment & Growth reserve) and 

- invest in service improvements to improve value for money through 
Digitalisation (online payments, improvements in ICT), partnership 
and collaboration (Co-location, Breckland District Council, Directorate 
of Works and Pensions and Priory Road project) and organisational 
design (10% reduction in costs over 4 years)

 

1.8 A number of major Phase 1 Projects are now substantially complete including 
the Priory Road Review, the Place Review and the initial investment in 
Welland Homes. Of the £1.1m target it is now forecast that action taken to 

Page 13



date will deliver in excess of £1m with further proposals still to be implemented 
which should ensure that targets are achieved. 

1.9 In addition, the next phase of the programme will extend the savings agenda 
to address a number of additional significant projects to deliver further ongoing 
savings within the MTFP. These savings are not built into current forecasts at 
this stage.

1.10 In 2015-16 £1.1m of funding was agreed and set aside to provide up-front 
investment for the Moving Forward programme, which is now in progress.  No 
further funding requirements have been identified at this stage. The current 
forecast assumes all the available funding held in reserves will be used by the 
end of 2019-20.

1.11 This draft budget continues the principle of providing funding for an 
“Investment & Growth” fund to deliver on-going revenue income streams over 
the medium term.  Reducing the reliance on uncertain sources of funding will 
make the Council a more stable organisation, able to deliver services to 
residents with more certainty in the longer term.

2018-19 Draft Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP)

1.12 The key elements of the draft 2018-19 Budget and MTFP are summarised in 
the following paragraphs and set out in detail in the attached appendices 
which show: 

 The 2018-19 revenue and capital estimates for the General Fund and 
Housing Revenue Account (Appendices A & B);

 Draft budgets in relation to Spalding Special Expenses (Appendix C);
 A schedule of movements in Council Reserves (Appendix D),
 General Fund Capital Programme (Appendix E);
 The Council’s Capital Strategy (Appendix F) and Tresury Management 

Strategy (Appendix G); and
 The proposals for the setting of discretionary fees and charges for 2018-

19 (Appendix H).

2018-19 Draft Local Government Finance Settlement

1.13 The provisional Settlement consultation paper for 2018-19 was released on 19 
December 2017.  There were a number of areas of change affecting 2018-19 
and more particularly future years including:

 It was announced that the Business Rates Pilot bid for the Greater 
Lincolnshire Area, of which the District is part, has been successful. 
The bid will trial 100% business rates retention for one year only with 
any additional rates generated being used across Lincolnshire for 
projects aimed at economic and housing growth.

 No Revenue Support Grant or Rural Services Delivery Grant will be 
received in 2018-19 but will become part of the retained business rates 

Page 14



assumed in the estimates. The potential growth arising from the Pilot 
status has yet to be confirmed or decisions made about its allocation 
across Lincolnshire,

 Business Rates Retention (BRR) will be set at 75% from 2020-21 
onwards and Revenue Support Grant incorporated into the baseline. 
The impact of this is not yet known,

 The introduction of BRR will sit alongside a new needs funding formula. 
Again the impact of this is not known,

 The Business Rates baseline will be re-set in 2020-21. This presents a 
potential significant risk to future levels of funding.

 For 2018-19 the Council has been re-admitted to the Lincolnshire 
Business Rates Pooling arrangement. This has been possible following 
the reduction in risk attached to major appeals on the level of business 
rates from Power Stations in the district. This arrangement together with 
its incorporation into the new Pilot will benefit the level of business rates 
returned to the District in 2018-19,

 The Settlement did not make any changes to the New Homes Bonus 
scheme.

1.14 The draft budget set out within the attached Appendices includes the best 
assumptions for each of the areas based on current available information and 
as set out in more detail in Appendix A, paragraphs 3.1 – 3.9 (Funding and 
Budget Summary) and Appendix D (Reserves).

 
2018-19 Council Tax Base

1.15 The Council Tax base for 2018-19 is 27,302 properties, an increase of 410 
properties over the 2017-18 tax base giving additional income of 
approximately £204k.  An ongoing increase at 1.5% per annum is assumed 
over the MTFP period.  

1.16 For District Councils the 2018-19 Settlement lifted the referendum limit on 
Council Tax increases from 2% to 3%, or up to £5 on a Band D Bill if this is 
higher (this value is unchanged).  The MTFS assumes an increase of up to £5 
per annum which represents a 3.03% uplift in 2018-19. In future years the 
Council does have the option of applying a 3.0% increase where this is higher 
than £5.

2018-19 Collection Fund Surplus

1.17 Each year the Council is required to calculate the balance on its Collection 
Fund.  Current estimates indicate a £79k surplus in 2018-19 for council tax 
with a zero balance assumed in future years.

1.18 In addition there is an estimated Business Rates surplus of £402k in the 2018-
19 budget, with a zero balance assumed in future years.  The surplus on the 
Collection Fund in 2018-19 arises largely as a result of the withdrawal of 
appeals on power stations in 2017-18.  This change has provided a benefit in 
2018-19 from the Collection Fund surplus but will result in an increased Levy 
payment to the government in 2017-18 (approx. £365k).  Depending upon the 

Page 15



ultimate 2017-18 outturn position this increased Levy payment may need to be 
funded from reserves.  Despite the challenges of reduced funding and 
economic uncertainty, the Council remains in a relatively secure financial 
position across the medium term with no dependency on reserves.  

SHDC Detailed Budget Changes

1.19 Key assumptions made within the current 4 year MTFP include:

 An annual increase in Council Tax of up to £5, 
 Maximising income generation through Investment & Growth, funded 

through New Homes Bonus,
 Allowance for unavoidable growth on services (i.e. new statutory 

obligations and pay & contractual inflation) but no allowance for any 
increase for general inflation,

 Ongoing Budget challenge to ensure that budgets are aligned with 
corporate priorities, and

 Annual savings of over £1.1m by 2020-21 as a result of targetted action 
and investment through the Council’s Moving Forward Programme,

1.20 All budgets have been subject to “budget challenge” by the Section 151 officer 
which has allowed significant operational budget reductions to be made in 
order to deliver a balanced budget in 2018-19.

1.21 The 2018-19 proposed budget is a balanced position and the main 
assumptions and budget changes that members should note are:

 The impact of an assumed 2% pay award and incremental pay 
progression on employee budgets,

 An increased pension fund deficit,
 Ongoing delivery of Moving Forward Savings, 
 Additional income through grants, rents, fees and charges (e.g. 

DWP contributions to Priory Road, garden waste income, planning 
and building control),

 Removal of the reliance of £286k of New Homes Bonus (NHB) to 
support the General Fund Budget (this increases the NHB 
contribution to the Investment and Growth Reserve),

  2% increase in Drainage Board levies,
 Revised recharges from the HRA into the General Fund to more 

accurately reflect inflationary costs and time allocation changes.  
 Increased levels of investment income,
 The surpluses on the collection fund noted at para 1.16 and 1.17; 

and
 £204k of additional Council Tax income due to the increase in the 

Band D charge and the tax base. 

1.22 The Council has made no use of funding from reserves to support the base 
budget position. In 2018-19 the Council is able to make a one off contribution 
of £684k to the Council Tax Reserve. This has been possible due to the 

Page 16



changes in retained Business Rates that have come from the Pilot Status 
approved as part of the 2018-19 Settlement. Some growth in business rates 
would have been expected from natural growth, the move on the collection 
fund from a deficit in 2017-18 to a surplus in 2018-19 and from the benefit of 
moving into the Lincolnshire Business Rates Pool. However the Pilot status 
has provided a further increase in business rates. The £684k being 
contributed to the Council Tax Reserve will provide future support to the 
budget in the event of future Business Rates volatility.

1.23 Budget forecasts include provision for a number of new/extended services to 
be funded from a combination of savings, one-off approved reserve use and 
additional income including:

 the Delivery Unit,
 the Procurement and Contracts Unit, and
 provision in 2018-19 for “Pride in South Holland”.

1.24 The current forecast for 2019-20 to 2021-22 shows a deficit in each year of 
approximately £500k to £600k. The loss of government grant funding 
(Revenue Support Grant) contributes significantly to this. However, future 
business rates income presents one of the largest areas of risk and 
uncertainty around to the Council’s future finances. The second phase of the 
Council’s Moving Forward  programme is designed to help address these 
future budget pressures with an increased focus on the generation of 
additional business rates and Council Tax income, the generation of more 
commercial based income from council assets and changes to more efficient 
methods of delivering services to the public. This will aim to ensure that the 
Council can continue to deliver its priority services to the public without 
significant cuts in resourcing.

2.0 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

2.1 The draft Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget shows a forecast suplus of 
£3.2m.  This reflects:

 A rent reduction of 1% from 17-18 to 19-20 and nil inflation imposed by 
the Government,

 An assumed rent loss of 1% for void properties and 1.5% for bad debts, 
 Estimated net rent arising from additional units included within the HRA 

capital programme from 2019/10 onwards,
 A review of charges where appropriate, and
 Savings in operating costs to be delivered from the Place Review.

Page 17



3.0 RESERVES

3.1 General Fund Specific Reserves are budgeted to increase by £639k in 2018-
19 after making the recommended transfer of £684k to the Council Tax 
Reserve. The net change between years may change depending on the 
forecast out-turn for 2017-18.  If a deficit is likely to occur in 2017-18, this will 
need to be covered from Reserves.

3.2 HRA Reserves are due to reduce by £2m (net) during 2018-19, principally due 
to previous years’ slippage in the delivery of new affordable housing and the 
use of balances accrued in the Major Repairs Reserve to finance capital 
investment within the HRA.

3.3 A detailed breakdown of Reserve movements for both the General Fund and 
Housing Revenue Account is included in Appendix D to this report.

4.0 CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The Council’s Capital Strategy is shown in Appendix F and focuses on the 
core principles of capital investment.

4.2 The draft four-year capital programme (Appendix E) has been amended to 
reflect a revised 2017-18 forecast outturn, known slippage requests, Capital 
Working Group input and scheme estimates.

4.3 The programme includes provision for Investment and Growth linked to the 
Council’s Strategic objectives. Final decisions on individual projects will be 
subject to Council approval and detailed business cases. 

4.4 The HRA summary programme is included in Appendix E.  A re-phased 
Affordable Housing Programme has been established to replace units sold 
through increased right to buy (RTB) sales and to maximise the use of 
resources available through retained RTB receipts and opportunities to access 
additional grant funding through the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA).  
The programme will be delivered through new build and the purchase of 
affordable housing units.  The programme also includes specific provision for:

 Major area works - environmental improvements on estates,
 Essential improvements to Sewage Plant works, and
 The replacement of key housing IT Systems.

Page 18



5.0. TREASURY MANAGEMENT

5.1 The Treasury Management Policy Statement” and the “Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and 
Annual Investment Plan 2018-19” were submitted to Governance and Audit on 
16 January 2018 for pre-decision scrutiny prior to submission to Cabinet and 
Council. The documents are attached at Appendix G1 and G2 of this report.

5.2 As part of this scrutiny members considered that a greater level of investment 
should be made in Welland Homes as this would provide a higher and less 
risky return  than is currently available in the market.

5.3 Members of Audit Committee also requested that Full Council should be 
involved in decisions regarding the list of allowable Soverign Countries whose 
banks could be used for investment purposes. 

6.0 CONSULTATION

6.1 Public Feedback

The draft budget was released for public consultation on 11 January 2018.  
Submissions closed on 29 January 2018.  A total of 4 submissions were 
received.  A summary of these is as follows:

 Recognition of the savings made by sharing facilities but expressing 
disappointment at a possible missed opportunity to obtain extra funding, 
due to Lincolnshire not having become a Devolved Area.

 Identification of a possible opportunity for the Council to offer Data 
Protection Officer services to other Councils in the District.

 A request that the Council look closely at its monitoring of Drainage 
Board Levies.

 Concern at a lack of a plan to introduce charging points for electric 
vehicles to take advantage of available government funding.

 A request for clarity as to how the Council Tax increase has been 
calculated and how this relates to the statutory constraints. 

 Concern at a reduction in funding for Ayscoughfee Hall in the Spalding 
Special expenses budget and seeking an undertaking that the buildings 
and grounds will continue to be maintained to the same 
standard.(Appendix C updated since consultation documents released)

 A note that there has been no increase in the budget for the promotion 
of Spalding as a town.

 Concern at the lack of provision in the budget for grass cutting of 
roadside verges in Spalding and a missed opportunity to propose a 
modest increase in the Spalding precept  to meet the additional cost.  
The respondent also requested that the Spalding Special Expenses 
budget be presented in a transparent way (Appendix C updated since 
consultation documents released).

 Concern about the absence of financial contributions for Christmas 
decorations in Spalding (Appendix C updated since Consultation 
documents released).

Page 19



 A desire for a Christmas market to be held in Spalding reflecting the 
cultures represented there.

 Concern at the lack of a budget for maintenance of streets and street 
furniture.

 Concern that the ICT budget does not appear to reflect any implications 
of GDPR and the training needs associated with this.

 Concern that no provision has been made for the commitment to take 
over the maintenance of roadside verge and roundabout maintenance 
from Lincolnshire County Council.

 A request for the Council to resolve issues around the Bull & Monkey 
and Post Office sites.

 A note that 2018-19 is the last year of funding for the “Pride in South 
Holland Scheme” asking whether  the District Council could investigate 
the establishment of specific funds for both Spalding and the wider 
District on an ongoing basis.

6.2      Member Scrutiny Feedback.

A joint meeting of the PMP and PDP panels considered the budget on 25 
January 2018. The main comments from this meeting are summarised below:

 Support for the principle that future budget development must be 
targeted at increased levels of income generation rather than cuts to 
budgets

 A request for an increased level of information to Members on the 
Delivery Plan for Commercialisation and more Member involvement in 
the development of this plan in order to understand and be able to 
contribute towards proposals and options for investment in assets.

 Concern that in order to deliver an effective and proactive programme 
of change and transformation staffing resources need to be planned 
and budgeted for at adequate levels 

 A request for involvement in the development of options for the 
investment in the Leisure Centre in Spalding; and

 During 2018-19 information on the usage of various council services 
and a detailed review of the fees and charges that are being levied for 
various services be undertaken.

7.0 OPTIONS

7.1 That the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the medium term 
financial plan and the capital strategy be approved and recommended to 
Council.

7.2 There are no alternative options presented, however amendments may be 
made by Cabinet before release to Council.

8.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

8.1 To comply with the budgetary and policy framework.

Page 20



9.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

9.1     To set an affordable and balanced budget for 2018-19 that ensures delivery of 
the priorities of the Council

10.0 IMPLICATIONS

10.1 Carbon Footprint & Environmental Issues

10.1.1 None

10.2 Constitution & Legal

10.2.1 None

10.3 Contracts

10.3.1 None

10.4 Crime and Disorder 

10.4.1 None

10.5 Equality and Diversity & Human Rights

10.5.1 None

10.6 Financial 

10.6.1 The report is of a financial nature and further financial details are included 
within the appendices.

10.6.2 The Section 151 officer has held Budget Challenge sessions with each budget 
manager to identify budget pressures, savings and further sources of income, 
which are reflected in the 2018-19 budget.

10.6.3 The HRA general balance is projected at £15.6m at 31st March 2019 
(Appendix D of the report) with £2.0m considered to be a reasonable level 
consistent with the risks on the service.  The MTFP therefore includes a 
balanced budget for the period.

10.6.4 The HRA Capital Programme includes an Affordable Housing Programme 
totalling £14m over the next 4 years to replace lost rent from Right to buy 
sales and changes planned in the National Rent policy. 

10.6.5 The use of reserves in the HRA is to be considered in 2018-19 as details of 
the potential for dwelling purchase and New Build properties emerge. The 
HRA also has the capacity to borrow up to a limit of £74.701m which was 
introduced as part of the self-financing regime set up in March 2012.

Page 21



11.0 Risk Management 

11.1 Risks are highlighted within the appendix.

12.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

12.1 Budget implications affect all wards.

13. ACRONYMS 

13.1 AGS Annual Governance Statement
CPBS Compass Point Business Services
CSU Construction Services Unit
DCLG Department for Communities & Local Government
DFG Disabled Facilities Grant
ESIF European Structural Investment Funding
HRA Housing Revenue Account
ICT Information & Communications Technology
IDB Internal Drainage Boards
LCC Lincolnshire County Council
LCTRS Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme
MTFP Medium Term Financial Plan 
NHB New Homes Bonus
NHS National Health Service
NI National Insurance
NNDR National Non Domestic Rates (Business Rates)
RSDG Rural Services Delivery Grant
RSG Revenue Support Grant
RTB Right to Buy

___________________________________________________________________

Background papers:- None
___________________________________________________________________

Lead Contact Officer:
Name/Post: Jane Crosby, Head of Finance (CPBS)
Telephone Number: 01507 613255
 Email: Jane.Crosby@cpbs.com

Key Decision:
No

Exempt Decision:
No

Page 22

mailto:Jane.Crosby@cpbs.com


Appendices attached to this report:                               

Appendix A Draft Budget 2018-19 and Medium Term Financial Plan 2018-19 
to 2021-22.

Appendix B Draft General Fund Summary
Appendix C Spalding Special Expenses 2018-19
Appendix D General Fund Reserves
Appendix E Capital Programme 2017/18 to 2021/22
Appendix F Capital Strategy Draft 2018/19
Appendix G Treasury Management Policy Statement 2018/19; and Treasury 

Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Porvision 
Policy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2018/19

Appendix H Fees and Charges 2017-18 estimates

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Appendix A

Draft Budget 2018-19 and Medium Term Financial Plan 2018-19 to 2021-22.

1. Introduction

1.1 This appendix sets out the combined 2018-19 budget estimates and Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) for the period 2018-19 to 2021-22 for the Council’s General Fund 
and Housing Revenue Account.  The Medium Term Plan sets out the current and 
forecast future costs of the Council and is linked to the Corporate Plan, which sets out 
the aims and ambitions of the Council as agreed with our partners:

 To be a financially independent Council and free of reliance on Government 
Funding by 2019-20,

 To transform Council Services through the Moving Forward Programme to:
- generate additional revenue streams via commercial activities (Welland 

Homes, Garden Waste), investment assets (Investment and Growth 
reserve, Holbeach Food Enterprise Zone), and economic and housing 
growth (Investment & Growth reserve) and 

- invest in service improvements to improve value for money through 
Digitalisation (online payments, improvements in ICT), partnership and 
collaboration (Co-location, Breckland District Council, Directorate of 
Works and Pensions and Priory Road project) and organisational 
design (10% reduction in costs over 4 years)

1.2 The MTFP establishes a set of financial policies and principles which provide a sound 
basis for maintaining the financial integrity of the Council over the medium term and 
includes both the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account Budget.

1.3 This Appendix sets out:

 The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy for the period 2018-19 to 2021-
22,

 The 2018-19 General Fund Revenue Budget & Financing,
 The General Fund Reserves Position,
 The General Fund Capital Programme and Financing,
 The 2018-19 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Budget,
 The HRA Reserves Position,
 The HRA Capital Programme and Financing,
 Risks, key issues, sensitivity and monitoring,
 Consultation proposals, timetable and links to other strategies, and
 Treasury management policy and investment strategy.

Page 25



- 2 -

2. Medium Term Financial Strategy

2.1 Strategy, Aspirations and Forward Projections

2.1.1 The objectives of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy are to:

 manage a budget process that will make progress in re-directing and focusing 
resources in line with corporate priorities and, in so doing, recognise the intrinsic 
link between this strategy, the Capital Strategy, and the Treasury Management 
Strategy,

 adopt a corporate approach to budget preparation and continue to provide strong 
timely budget control,

 use sound modern financial systems procedures and principles and promote 
electronic record keeping and approval processes,  

 ensure financial performance reporting remains integrated with financial reporting 
and business planning,

 ensure there is rigorous scrutiny of the financial planning process and work 
towards a more effective consultation process to engage the public and 
stakeholders,

 maintain balances and reserves that will provide for known risks and liabilities 
and provide capacity for managing peaks in expenditure,

 operate strategies on capital and external funding that supports the Council’s 
corporate objectives,

 undertake a risk assessment of material items of income and expenditure and 
report the risks to Members as part of the budget setting process,

 manage and use our resources to deliver value for money and better sustainable 
outcomes and efficiencies for local people,

 set realistic targets for trading accounts and if services fail to achieve these they 
will be subject to a more fundamental review,

 aim for a minimum balance on the Collection Fund,
 prepare robust and realistic income and resource requirement plans for the next 

five years,
 promote take-up of benefits and reliefs,
 maximise income collection, and
 recognise the Council’s role in the community throughout and beyond the period 

of economic hardship by providing assistance to individuals, groups and 
businesses.

2.1.2 In 2010 the Council created Compass Point Business Services (East Coast) Ltd, (CPBS) 
in partnership with East Lindsey District Council in order to deliver greater efficiency in 
the provision of back office services.  The company is projected to make savings totalling 
over £30m over a 10 year period, with South Holland’s share being in excess of £10m. 
The two partner councils have now agreed to extend this contractual arrangement 
beyond March 2020 and the Council will be considering a report in the near future to look 
at options to deliver further financial savings for the benefit of both Councils for which 
business cases will be forthcoming.

2.1.3 These strategies will be achieved through the working practices set by the relevant 
departments.  The effectiveness of these strategies and the underlying principles can be 
monitored by key outputs such as:

 Annual audit letter,
 Financial plan,
 Governance and Audit Committee reports,
 Annual Governance Statement (AGS),
 Grants returns submitted to deadlines, and
 Governance and performance reports.

Page 26



- 3 -

2.2 Budget principles:

2.2.1 The following principles have been used in the budget preparation process in order to:

 Provide a consistent and authorised approach to the preparation of revenue 
and capital estimates,

 Ensure estimates are prepared in line with available resources, and
 Ensure that estimates are prepared to reflect corporate priorities.

Key budget principles:

 Detailed working sheets are maintained for all budget headings and these are 
prepared by the budget manager, with the exception of central items.

 Central items are calculated by the CPBS accountancy team.  The central items 
include items such as: salaries, insurance, support service recharges, capital 
accounting entries, interest paid and received, pensions, National Insurance (NI), 
special expenses, mobiles phones and postage.

 The full effect of known pay awards is incorporated into the estimates and a 
provision made for future years, based on national guidance (taking into account 
any Central Government policies).

 Staffing estimates are prepared on the basis of approved staffing levels as 
provided by Human Resources and have been signed off by budget managers.  
These estimates include an allowance for employers NI, superannuation 
contributions and lump sum amounts. 

 Controllable expenditure is defined as expenditure on employees, premises 
(excluding business rates), transport and supplies and services - but excluding 
internal recharges.

 There will be no allowance for inflation, unless contractual or related to salaries.
 We seek additional scrutiny and challenge for accessing capital resources to 

ensure that the programme only reflects schemes that are sufficiently scoped to 
allow delivery.

 A review of fees and charges to ensure optimisation of income where consistent 
with policy.

 Some service areas of high or unpredictable spend in previous years have been 
considered in detail; other less volatile have not been zero-based.

 Working papers have been prepared by budget managers for each controllable 
budget. This will assist future challenge. 

 To set a balanced budget with no long term dependency on General Balances.
 To work towards a zero balance on the Collection Fund.
 Only the 2018-19 budget will be formally approved.  Future years are indicative 

only for both revenue and capital but form an important picture of our financial 
sustainability.

2.3 Budget Requirement and Forward Estimates

2.3.1 Outline estimates through to 2021-22 are shown in Appendix B.  In compiling these 
figures we have followed the assumptions included in this report and made specific 
adjustments to service budgets as and where budget holders have advised of a change 
over the medium term.  In addition significant reductions in expenditure or increases in 
income will be required from 2019-20 onwards, to take account of the ongoing reductions 
in Government funding. 

Page 27



- 4 -

2.3.2 Work has been carried out to challenge budget costs in order to reduce both in-year and 
on-going base budgets without impacting on core service levels.  However the Council 
will experience increasing inflationary pressures on core budgets and continuing 
reductions in government grant funding, as well as further uncertainty on business rates 
retention. The Council’s transformational Moving Forward Programme, an efficiency and 
income generation programme, is currently in progress. The Estimates comprising the 
2018-19 revenue budget include benefits from these activities, which will in turn underpin 
a sustainable financial position in the longer term. 

2.3.3 As part of the Moving Forward Programme, a number of potential schemes have been 
explored at officer level to generate savings and increase income.  Areas being 
considered which currently have a high level of spend or which require a greater review 
to reduce costs and provide services differently include:

 Consideration of fees and income policies (including Internal review and 
benchmarking exercise),

 Review of publicly owned assets including a strategic asset plan review and 
consideration of alternative management models,

 Grants Review, 
 Further shared service opportunities,
 Growth opportunities including generating income streams from asset ownership,
 Green Waste and further waste opportunities, and
 Welland Homes, South Holland Homes and any joint venture opportunities
 Investment in commercialisation including commercial assets 

3. General Fund Budget & Financing 2018-19

3.1 External Financing – 2018-19 Provisional Settlement

3.1.1 Background

The provisional Settlement consultation paper for 2018-19 was released on 19 
December 2017.  There were a number of areas of change affecting 2018-19 and more 
particularly future years and these are covered below and as part of the relevant sections 
of the budget report.

As part of the Settlement, it was announced that the Business Rates Pilot bid for the 
Greater Lincolnshire Area, of which the District is part, has been successful. The bid will 
trial 100% business rates retention for one year only with any additional rates generated 
being used across Lincolnshire for projects aimed at economic and housing growth.  
Business rates retention will be set at 75% from 2020-21 onwards and Revenue Support 
Grant will be incorporated into the baseline.

Only a small amount of the Local Government Settlement is now received in the form of 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) (£271k in 2019/20 only).  Instead of receiving a fixed 
funding amount from government, since 1 April 2013 we have been increasingly reliant 
on a new model which is geared towards the local raising of funds.  Changes to schemes 
in respect of non-domestic rates (NDR) and localised council tax reduction scheme 
(LCTRS) have brought a greater degree of risk and variability to the Council’s funding.

Under this government policy a proportion of NDR income is retained by district and 
county councils through a system of top-ups and tariffs.  The remaining NDR income is 
centralised by government and distributed back to local authorities through the formula 
grant process.

Page 28



- 5 -

As well as the potential for the authority to attract additional income through retained 
business rates there is also the risk of uncertainty through a reduction in the amount of 
business rates that it collects. One of the key areas of uncertainty relates to appeals 
against rateable values for business premises, with the potential for successful appeals 
being backdated for a number of years. The Settlement also confirmed that there would 
be a re-set of the Business Rates Baseline in 2020-21. This presents a potentially 
significant risk to future levels of funding. 

In addition, the Council has been re-admitted to the Lincolnshire Business Rates Pooling 
arrangement for 2018-19.  This has been made possible following the reduction in risk 
attached to major appeals on the level of business rates from Power Stations in the 
district. This arrangement will benefit the level of business rates returned to the District 
in 2018-19 (estimated at approximately £350k).  

3.1.2 Revenue Support Grant (RSG)

Due to the success of the Business Rates Pilot the Council will not receive RSG in 2018-
19. This value (£693k) will now be incorporated into the level of retained Business Rates. 
As the Business Rates Pilot is currently announced for one year only, the final assumed 
year of RSG will be 2019-20 and the value below is that agreed as part of the 4-year 
Settlement agreement in 2016.  As part of the Settlement it was announced that from 
2020-21 the introduction of business rates retention (BRR) will incorporate a new needs 
formula with RSG incorporated into this. As such RSG will cease from 2020-21. This has 
already been factored into the Council’s MTFS. 

Financial Year RSG
Receivable

£000

2017-18 (for information) (1,072)
2018-19 Nil
2019-20 (271)
2020-21 Nil
2021-22 Nil

3.1.3 New Homes Bonus (NHB)

The Settlement did not include any changes to the existing New Homes Bonus scheme. 
The current scheme, agreed as part of the 2017-18 consultation, includes:

 A reduction in the number of years payments are made from 5 years in 2017-18 
to 4 years from 2018-19 (for existing and future years allocations),

 No payment to be made on housing growth up to 0.4% of the council tax base in 
each year, which for South Holland District Council in 2018-19 equates to 
approximately £208k per annum,

 No proposals to withhold payments of NHB in 2018-19 for homes built following 
an appeal, and

 No proposal to withhold payments for areas without a local plan.

The Council has annualy utilised £286k of New Homes Bonus to support the General 
Fund Budget each year. From 2018-19 this element of NHB will no longer be contributed 
to the revenue budget and all NHB will be invested through the Investment and Growth 
Reserve.  

Page 29



- 6 -

The Council has been awarded £1.007m for 2018/19. This is made up of the following 4 
year amounts:

2015-16 (yr5)  £288,148
2016-17 (yr6)   £364,838
2017-18 (yr7)   £225,172
2018-19 (yr8)  £128,345

As can be seen above, the reward payments have been declining in recent years due to 
changes in the methodology for calculating the NHB and due to a reduction in the number 
of units completed. The MTFS assumes that payments will continue at the same level 
as that received in 2018/19. However, work will be undertaken to asses whether the 
Council could receive higher amounts in future years.  The total estimated values of NHB 
over the MTFS are given below. The removal of the use of NHB to support the budget 
means that the Council will contribute an additional £176k to the Investment and Growth 
Reserve compared to that assumed in last years MTFS despite the projected overall 
reduction in the values received.

Total
NHB

Receivable
£000

To
 General

Fund
Budget

£000

To
Investment 
& Growth
Reserve

£000

Contribution 
to I&G in 
2017-18
MTFP
£000

Change
£000

2017-18 (1,385) (286) (1,099) (1,099) 0
2018-19 (1,007) (0) (1,007) (817) (190)
2019-20 (847) (0) (847) (754) (93)
2020-21 (610) (0) (610) (615) 5
2021-22 (513) (0) (513) (615) 102

(176)

3.1.4 Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG)

This grant is paid to the upper quartile of local authorities based on the super-sparsity 
indicator.  Similar to the position with Revenue Support Grant the Council will not receive 
RSDG in 2018-19 by virtue of its Pilot status  It is not known if the grant will continue 
beyond 2019-20 so the MTFS does not include any values for those future years.  The 
amounts included within the draft budget are:

Financial Year RSDG
Receivable

£000

2017-18 (for information) (128)
2018-19 0
2019-20 (128)
2020-21 0
2021-22 0

3.1.5 Business Rates (NDR)

A revaluation exercise for business rates took effect from 1 April 2017. This was a 
revenue neutral exercise nationally, however at a local level bills and income may rise 
or fall, dependent on the mix of businesses in an area.  The 2017-18 Settlement included 
a formula which aimed to adjust local authorities’ income to ensure (as far as is 
practicable) that the retained income was the same after revaluation as immediately 
before.  At the time of the revaluation of business rates future increases were linked to 

Page 30



- 7 -

the level of RPI.  The recent Autumn Budget has changed the basis for such increases 
linking them to the lower rate of CPI from 1 April 2018 (3.0% compared to 3.9%). The 
Government has said that it will compensate Local Authorities for this reduction in the 
amount of rates that will be collected. 

The Settlement confirmed the success of the Lincolnshire Business Rates Pilot Bid as 
mentioned in paragraph 3.1.1 above.  The arrangements for the distribution of any 
additional growth amounts through the Pilot are not yet known.  Further information on 
this will be provided to members as it becomes established. If there is additional business 
rates growth then this will not be received until 2019-20. 

The success of the Pilot means that no RSG or RSDG will be paid in 2018-19. However, 
this will be incorporated into the value of business rates retained by the Council. The 
estimates show that projected retained Business Rates for 2018-19 is significantly higher 
than in 2017-18. This growth has contributed to a net surplus position for the 2018-19 
budget. The estimates as presented has moved this growth into the Council Tax 
Reserve. This will provide a buffer for the Council against future buisness rates volatility.   

The Settlement also made a number of further announcements regarding the future of 
business rates and local government funding beyond 2018/19. These were notably:
 

 100% business rates retention (BRR) will be reduced to 75% and start in 2020-
21. Consultation will be held on this. The impact of this is not known or reflected 
in the MTFS at this stage,

 BRR will be introduced alongside a new needs formula to provide a new funding 
baseline. Again the impact of this is not yet known, and

 Business rates baseline reset will occur in 2020-21. This does present a 
potentially significant risk to future levels of funding. Growth in the business rates 
tax base prior to the reset will benefit the Council less than that achieved after 
the reset. 

Members should note that the above proposed changes in the retention of Business 
Rates from 2020-21 present a significant uncertainty around future funding levels. 

The values for retained business rates in the estimates are detailed below:

2017-18
£000

2018-19*2

£000
2019-20

£000
2020-21

£000
2021-22

£000

Retained Business Rates (9,137) (14,202) (9,762) (9,951) (10,145)
S31 Grants (549) (1,207) (1,235) (1,260) (1,285)
Tariff 5,173 9,611 5,790 5,906 6,024
Pre - levy Income (4,513) (5,798) (5,207) (5,305) (5,406)
Levy to Lincs CC*1 539 0 235 228 222
Estimated Deficit/(Surplus) 
on Collection Fund

573 (402) 0 0 0

Net Retained Business 
rates Income

(3,401) (6,200) (4,972) (5,077) (5,184)

Net gain from the Pool NA NA (351) (342) (332)

Notes to Table:

*1 Paid to Government in 2017-18 as outside the Lincolnshire Pool. No Levy in 
2018-19 as part of the Pilot.

*2 Based on the NNDR1 return

Page 31



- 8 -

3.2 Collection Fund

3.2.1 Each year the Council is required to calculate the balance on its Collection Fund.

3.2.2 Current estimates indicate a £79k surplus in 2018-19 for council tax with a zero balance 
assumed in future years. 

3.2.3 In addition there is an estimated Business Rates surplus of £402k in the 2018-19 budget 
with a zero balance assumed in future years.  The surplus on the Collection Fund in 
2018-19 arises largely as a result of the withdrawal of appeals on power stations in 2017-
18. This change has provided a benefit in 2018-19 from the Collection Fund surplus but 
will result in an increased Levy payment to the government in 2017-18 (approx. £365k). 
Depending upon the ultimate 2017-18 Outturn position this increased Levy payment may 
need to be funded from reserves.  

3.3 Council Tax Base

3.3.1 Delegated authority was given to the S151 Officer to approve the tax base, as, by law, 
this must be set in the period 1 December to 31 January each financial year.  The local 
Tax Base has now been revised to reflect:

- Changes to the baseline number of properties during 2017,
- The impact of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme (no change for 2018-19), 

and
- Assumed growth.

3.3.2 The Council Tax base for 2018-19 is 27,302 properties, an increase of 410 properties 
(1.52%) over the final 2017-18 tax base giving additional income of approximately £204k. 
An ongoing increase of 1.5% per annum is assumed over the MTFS period.

3.4 Council Tax

3.4.1 For District Councils the 2018-19 Settlement lifted the referendum limit on Council Tax 
increases  from 2% to 3%, or up to £5 on a Band D Bill if this is higher (this value is 
unchanged).  The MTFS assumes an increase of up to £5 per annum, which represents 
a 3.03% uplift in 2018/19. In future years the Council has the option of applying a 3.0% 
increase where this is higher than £5,

Page 32



- 9 -

3.4.2 The following table shows the estimated level of Council Tax for the MTFS period. 

2017-18
£000

2018-19
£000

2019-20
£000

2020-21
£000

2021-22
£000

A Council Tax base (band D 
equivalents) *

26,892 27,302 27,575 27,851 28,129

B Council Tax band D (£.p.) 164.84 169.83 174.78 179.73 184.68
Annual increase (£.p.) 5.00 4.99 4.95 4.95 4.95
Annual increase % 3.13% 3.03% 2.91% 2.83% 2.75%

C Annual Council tax 
collected (a x b)

(4,433) (4,637) (4,820) (5,006) (5,195)

D Surplus on Collection 
Fund

(65) (79) 0 0 0

Gross Council Tax  (c + d) (4,498) (4,716) (4,820) (5,006) (5,195)

* the tax base for 2018-19 has increased by 1.52% and is assumed to increase by 1.5% 
for each year thereafter.

3.4.3 The following table sets out the estimated 2018-19 Council Tax for each Property Band 
and the changes over 2017-18 values:

Band Ratio 2017-18 2018-19 2017-18 to 2018-19 change

£ £
Annual

£
Weekly

£

A 6/9 109.89 113.22 3.33 0.06
B 7/9 128.21 132.09 3.88 0.07
C 8/9 146,52 150.96 4.44 0.09
D 9/9 164.84 169.83 4.99 0.10
E 11/9 201.47 207.57 6.10 0.12
F 13/9 238.10 245.31 7.21 0.14
G 15/9 274.73 283.05 8.32 0.16
H 18/9 329.68 339.66 9.98 0.19

3.4.4 The table below details the proposed council Tax band D information for the precepting 
authorities in South Holland DC (Subject to Confirmation).

Authority Proposed 
band D
2018-19

(£.p)

Increase 
over 

2017-18
£

Increase 
over 

2017-18
%

Lincolnshire County Council
Police and Crime Commissioner
South Holland DC 169.83 4.99 3.03%
Parishes (average) 36.99 2.87 8.41%

Page 33



- 10 -

3.4.5 The following chart shows the Band D Council Tax levels (excluding parish precepts) for 
Lincolnshire Councils for 2017-18 

City of 
Lincoln

West 
Lindsey

Boston South 
Holland

North 
Kesteven

South 
kesteven

East 
Lindsey

£0.00

£50.00

£100.00

£150.00

£200.00

£250.00

£300.00

Band D Council Tax by Lincolnshire Authority 
(2017-18), excluding parish precepts

 

Page 34



- 11 -

3.5 Budget Summary 2018-19

3.5.1 Total Financing – 2017-18 to 2021-22

The table below shows the impact of the 2018-19 settlement within the overall financing 
of the authority:

Source of Financing 2017-18
£’000

2018-19
£’000

2019-20
£’000

2020-21
£’000

2021-22
£’000

      
Council Tax (4,433) (4,637) (4,820) (5,006) (5,195)
Non Domestic Rates (3,974) (5,798) (4,972) (5,077) (5,184)
Revenue Support Grant 
(RSG) (1,072) 0 (271) 0 0

Rural Service Delivery 
Grant (128) 0 (128) 0 0

New Homes Bonus Grant (1,385) (1,007) (847) (610) (513)
Spalding Special 
Expenses (204) (216) (221) (225) (230)

Town & Parish Councils (713) (794) (810) (826) (843)
Collection Fund 
Deficit/(Surplus) - Non 
Domestic Rates

573 (402) 0 0 0

Collection Fund 
Deficit/(Surplus) - Council 
Tax

(65) (79) 0 0 0

      
Total Financing (11,401) (12,933) (12,070) (11,744) (11,964)

Band D Charge £164.84 £169.83 £174.78 £179.73 £184.68
Tax Base 26,892 27,302 27,575 27,851 28,129
Band D cost per week £3.17 £3.27 £3.36 £3.46 £3.55

3.6 Draft 2018-19 General Fund Estimates

The table below shows the draft budget estimates for 2018-19 analysed by type of 
expenditure/income as shown in Appendix B.  

3.6.1 The estimates show a net balanced position for 2018-19, after transfers to reserves. This 
position has arisen mainly due to the increased level of retained business rates from the 
Pilot. In addition the following main variances from 2017/18 should be noted:

 A surplus on the NDR Collection Fund of £402k as a result of the withdrawal 
of the power station appeals (in 2017/18 the collection fund had a £573k 
deficit – a net £975k beneficial movement)

 The impact of an assumed 2% pay award and incremental pay progression 
on employee budgets,

 An increasing pension fund deficit,
 Ongoing delivery of Moving Forward Savings, and
 Additional income through grants, rents, fees and charges.

3.6.2 All budgets have been subject to “budget challenge” by the Section 151 officer which has 
allowed significant operational budget reductions to be made in order to deliver a 
balanced budget in 2018-19. 

Page 35



- 12 -

3.6.3 Budget forecasts include provision for a number of new/extended services to be funded 
from a combination of reserves, savings and additional income including:

 The Delivery Unit,
 The Procurement and Contracts Unit, and
 Provision in 2018-19 for “Pride in South Holland”.

3.6.4 Notes providing further explanations of major variances between the two years are given 
in section 3.7. Please note that variances against both 2017-18 Original Estimates  and 
Revised Estimates are shown as the 2017-18 budgets have moved significantly as a 
result of the Place Review and other service developments.

Description
2017-18
Original 
Estimate

2017-18
Revised 
Estimate

2018-19 
Estimate

Variance 
from OE

Variance 
from RE

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Employees 6,677 6,799 7,582 905 783
Premises 926 926 947 21 21
Transport 783 749 772 (11) 23
Supplies & Services 2,660 3,068 3,393 733 325
Transformation 273 273 343 70 70
Drainage Board Levies 2,350 2,350 2,384 34 34
Parish Precepts 713 713 794 81 81
Third Party Payments 2,608 3,200 3,259 651 59
Transfer Payments (including 
Housing Benefits)

19,341 19,599 20,430 1,090 832

Depreciation & Impairment 
Charges

986 986 1,030 44 44

Direct Revenue Financing 3,750 3,750 100 (3,650) (3,650)
Capital – Contra Entries (1,061) (1,322) (1,105) (44) 217
Transfers to/(from) 
Earmarked Reserves

(3,335) (4,046) 639 3,974 4,685

Transfers to/from General 
Reserve

(301) 0 0 301 0

Total Expenditure 36,371 37,045 40,569 4,198 3,524

Rents & Service Charges (760) (760) (1,021) (261) (261)
Fees & Charges (3,637) (3,656) (3,733) (96) (77)
Grants, Reimbursements & 
Contributions

(19,552) (19,552) (20,863) (1,311) (1,311)

Investment Income (88) (88) (196) (108) (108)
Recharges (934) (1,588) (1,823) (890) (235)
Total Income (24,970) (25,644) (27,636) (2,666) (1,992)

Net Expenditure 11,401 11,401 12,933 1,532 1,532

Page 36



- 13 -

3.6.5 As shown at Appendix B the MTFS current forecast for 2019-20 to 2021-22 shows a 
deficit in each year as follow:

£000 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Net Expenditure 12,933 12,545 12,368 12,529
Financing (12,933) (12,170) (11,744) (11,964)
Budget gap 0 475 624 564

 

3.7 Explanation of 2018/19 Budgets:

3.7.1 Moving Forward Savings 

Efficiency savings from the Moving Forward Programme are included in the budget as 
follows:

Year Built into 
Service 
Budgets 

£’000

Savings 
Still to be 
Identified 

£’000

Total MF 
Savings 
Target 
£’000

2018-19 672 313 985
2019-20 759 346 1,105
2020-21 956 149 1,105
2021-22 1,027 78 1,105

A number of major Phase 1 Projects are now substantially complete including the Priory 
Road Review, the Place Review and the initial investment in Welland Homes.  Savings 
of £672k have now been built into individual service budgets. Of the overall £1.1m target, 
it is now forecast that action taken to date will deliver in excess of £1m with further 
proposals still to be implemented which should ensure that targets are achieved. 

In addition the next phase of the Moving Forward programme will extend the savings 
agenda to address a number of additional significant projects to deliver further ongoing 
savings within the MTFP. These savings are not built into current forecasts at this stage.

In 2015/16 £1.1m of funding was agreed and set aside to provide up-front investment for 
the Moving Forward programme, which is now in progress.  No further funding 
requirements have been identified at this stage. The current forecast assumes all the 
available funding held in reserves will be used by the end of 2019/20.

3.7.2 Employee Related Expenses

The overall increase in employee costs is as a result of changes across a number of 
areas, notably:

 incremental pay progression and the national pay award (2% and other pay grade 
uplifts),  The full year effect of the Place Review staff savings has been reflected 
in the Estimates

 approved new posts within new activities (e.g. Delivery Unit, Contracts and 
Procurement Unit, Grants for Growth).  Some of these costs have off-setting 
savings,grant income or reserve contributions

 the extension to the garden waste scheme (with offsetting fee income), 
 Staffing budget for the delivery of the Pride project approved by members in 

September 2017, funded from reserves in 2017-18 and 2018-19 only,

Page 37



- 14 -

 the apprentice levy and new apprenticeship programme 
 an increase in the pension deficit costs; and
 The removal of a savings line in the 17-18 salary estimates which related to 

savings from service re-designs. The elements of this which are yet to be 
achieved have been moved to supplies and services budgets in 2018/19,  (hence 
the 17-18 salary estimates were comparatively low). 

Staffing budgets include a £136k salary vacancy factor which equates to 2.1% of the 
total salary budget. The vacancy factor has been applied at the rate of 3.5% to those 
service areas where there is scope to hold vacancies but it has not been applied in those 
areas where vacancies have to be backfilled with agency in order to ensure appropriate 
levels of service delivery. The vacancy factor is £16k less than in previous years, which 
reflects the reducing work force and a more appropriate target. 

In line with the pension triennial valuation through to 2019-20 the employer’s contribution 
rate is 16.7% for 2018-19. The secondary rate (deficit payment) increases by £64k from 
£507k (17/18) to £571k in 18/19 of which £407k relates to General Fund and £164k to 
the HRA. The amount for 2019-20 will be £638k.  Figures beyond that are not currently 
known but an increase of £50k per annum has been built into the MTFS in future years. 

3.7.3 Premises Related Expenses 

The main variances relate to savings made against utility budgets, offset by cost 
pressures for business rates, industrial unit rents and responsive repairs. 

3.7.4 Transport

Savings have been made where possible on mileage and lump sum budgets. Savings 
identified in relation to reduced vehicle fuel and maintenance costs on existing vehicles 
have been largely offset by the additional costs of the new garden waste vehicle being 
introduced from 2018-19 (this cost will be offset by income from new subscribers to the 
service).

3.7.5 Supplies & Services

Savings have been made across a number of service budget areas although these are 
offset by budget pressures in respect of:

 unavoidable costs relating to ICT (new ITrent system, additional licenses and 
server costs); 

 costs relating to the extended garden waste sevice (to be offset against income), 
 increased banking charges; 
 increased bed and breakfast costs; and
 Increased investment expenditure in the planning service to offset 20% increased 

planning fee income

Delegated members’ ward budgets have been maintained at £3k per member in the 
base budget.
 
The impairment allowance for bad debts will be assessed before the final budget 
alongside work on Revenues and Benefits estimates.

3.7.6 Third Party Payments

This budget includes contractual commitments to both Compass Point Business 
Services (CPBS) and Lincolnshire Legal Services.
CPBS budgets have increased by £76k as a result of the agreed re-investment in the 
Revenues and Benefits service. The Lincs Legal Budget has been reduced by £86k from 

Page 38



- 15 -

the 2017-18 original budget as a result of the Legal Services review implemented in 
2017-18.

3.7.7 Transfer Payments

This budget consists of  Housing Benefits, grant payments and other allowances.  The 
large increase in budgets reflects the introduction of the expenditure on the Grants for 
Growth scheme (£896k), which has an offsetting grant income budget.

In addition reductions have been made in relation to grants to outside bodies in respect 
of Community Development (£15k) and Housing works in default (£50k). This latter 
reduction provides a budget that reflects historical spend, however any unexpected large 
future spend requirements will need additional funding from reserves.   

Further work is being carried out on Rent Allowances and Rent Rebates payments 
alongside a forecast position for 2017-18. 

3.7.8 Depreciation and Impairment Charge

The increased depreciation and impairment charges are due to the revaluation of various 
Council Properties, the transfer of garages to the General Fund and investment in new 
IT system licences.

3.7.9 Transformation 

This budget relates to expenditure required to support the delivery of projects within the 
Moving Forward programme and as part of the Delivery Units Project Development work 
which has has required an increase in this budget (offset by an increased contribution 
from reserves). 

3.7.10 Drainage Board Levies

The Council’s 2018-19 budget and forward estimates include amounts for Internal Drainage 
Boards (IDB). These are levies charged to the authority over which the Council has little 
control and form part of the revenue budget. The draft budget assumes a 2% increase in 
levies in 2018-19 with no assumed increase in future years – subject to confirmation.

3.7.11 Direct Revenue Financing 

This budget relates to the direct revenue funding of potential capital expenditure on 
grounds maintenance vehicles from the Investment and growth reserves (see capital 
programme at Appendix E).

Page 39



- 16 -

3.7.12 Transfer to and from earmarked reserves

The following table sets out the net contributions to and from earmarked reserves in 
2018-19 with further information on reserves and balances provided in paragraph 4:

2018-19
£000

Contribution to Repairs & Renewals Reserve 136
Planned use of Repairs & Renewals Reserve (77)
Transfer of New Homes Bonus to Investment & Growth Reserve 1,006
Capital Expenditure funded from Investment & Growth Reserve
Revenue Funding from Investment and Growth Reserve (garden 
waste, Delivery unit set up costs, North Spalding SUE and 
commercial feasibility studies)

(100)

(475)

Contribution from Council Tax Reserve towards Pride budget
Contribution from Council Tax Reserve towards a shared officer to 
deliver General Data Protection Regulation work 

(100)

(28)
Moving Forward Expenditure funded from Transformation Reserve (43)
Delivery Unit projects funded from Transformation Reserve ( South 
Holland Centre and Ayscoughfee Hall) (300)
Use of Earmarked Grants Reserve for Spalding SUE (64)
Contributions From Reserves (45)

Transfer of Estimated Budget Surplus to Council Tax Reserve 684
Net Contribution To Reserves 639

3.7.13 Rents and Service Charges

The increase in income reflects the new Income from the DWP for Priory Road, 
additional income from homelessness properties and a revised estimate of the housing 
rental income from Broadgate Managed Properties. 

3.7.14 Fees & Charges

Income from fees and charges is an important source of revenue income for the Council.  
Charges have a central role to play in service delivery, raising income, controlling access, 
responding to competition, funding investment and affecting public behaviour.

As part of our overall income strategy we will seek to:

 Maximise the return from the Council’s asset holdings and continue to attract 
rental income by optimising the usage of office space at Priory Road;

 Ensure that the yield from fees and charges matches the increase in base budget 
for services that levy fees and charges, otherwise the shortfall will fall upon the 
Council Tax payer;

 Annually review fees and charges for discretionary services;
 Ensure that statutory charges are implemented;
 Monitor compliance with the corporate charging policy and corporate debt policy;
 Set targets for income collection and level of arrears and monitor performance 

against these targets;
 Treat windfall income as a corporate resource;
 Use enforcement remedies effectively; and
 Seek to minimise benefit subsidy losses.

Page 40



- 17 -

Fees and charges increases are to be reviewed during 2018-19. 

Planning application fee income has increased  steadily over the last three years. The 
original 2017-18 budget was set at £700k and for 2018-19 this has been increased to 
£775k (an increase of 11%).  The 2018-19 Draft Settlement includes provision for a 20% 
increase in planning fees from January 2018. Any increase in fee income which relates 
to the 20% additional charge must be re-invested in the Planning service. An additional 
£125k of income and expenditure has been included in the estimates.  A report will be 
brought to Council later this year outlining how these monies will be invested in the 
Planning Service.

The budget in respect of Building Control Fee income has increased by £24k. Service 
charge fees to the DWP at £24k have been included and car parking charges increased 
by £10k. 

The extended garden waste service is forecast to deliver additional fee income of £124k 
in 2018-19.

A review of income previously transferred from the HRA to the GF has identified that 
Sheltered Alarm Monitoring income of approximately £174k had been moved from the 
HRA to General Fund. This income is not general fund related and needs to be retained, 
alongside appropriate costs, in the HRA. 

3.7.15 Grants, Contributions & Reimbursements

This budget includes the following adjustments:

 additional government funding for Community Cohesion from the Controlling 
Migration Fund (£60k), offset by staff and other service delivery costs,2nd phase 
Grant for Growth income of £916k offset by grant payments and staff 
expenditure,

 additional income of £20k from Breckland DC and East Lindsey LDC in respect 
of shared IT Systems,

 additional Disabled Facility Grant income from LCC of £260k,
 Increased income from Breckland DC in respect of shared services (£52k), and.
 Reduced Housing Benefit Administration Grant income of £25k.

3.7.16 Investment Income

Forecast interest rates have now risen in the longer term following the November 2017 
rise in the Bank of England base rate, compared to the estimates used in the 2017-18 
budget.  In addition, the Council is now earning a commercial rate of interest on it’s 
investment in Welland Homes Limited. As a result, this income budget has increased by 
£108k compared to the previous year. Outturn on this budget will be subject to future 
changes in interest rates and decisions made on the use of investments to fund future 
capital. 

It is anticipated that the Council’s Investment Income will continue to grow in future years 
as a result of:

 The full impact of investments decisions already taken (e.g. Welland Homes 
Limited),

 The implementation of phase 2 of the Moving Forward Programme, and  
 The evaluation and implementation of other potential commercial investment 

opportunities.

Page 41



- 18 -

3.7.17 Recharges

Recharges have been reviewed and adjusted as required to reflect inflationary and 
activity increases. These include an increased recharge to the Housing Revenue 
Account, to reflect its share of the Corporate and Democratic Core and its share of 
support services. 

3.8 Other Budget Assumptions

3.8.1 The budget estimates and Medium Term Plan cover the period 2018-19 to 2021-22.  
Over this timescale it is important that we make realistic assumptions as to how costs 
will rise or fall. This section details the key assumptions made.

3.8.2 The key assumptions used are:

 That services will deliver all savings identified through the Moving Forward 
Programme,

 Revenue budgets will be used to deliver services during the year for which they 
are approved,

 There will be an allowance for unavoidable growth on services (i.e. new statutory 
obligations and contractual inflation) but no allowance for any increase for general 
inflation,

 Estimates are prepared on the understanding that appropriate service budgets 
were produced for the previous year (2017-18) which will then be adjusted to 
reflect the changing financial circumstances that the public sector is required to 
prepare for,

 Where service delivery is dependent on a specific grant we will only assume 
continuation of the grant and expenditure where such notification has been 
received, and

 In 2016-17 Council Tax levels were approved to increase by up to £5 per annum 
over the life of the MTFP which equates to an approximate 3% increase in each 
year.

3.8.3 The key assumptions made for the setting of these budget estimates, which influence 
the four year financial plan are as follows:

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

RPI 3.0% 3.2% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

National pay increase* 1.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Staffing Salary Level 96.5% 96.5% 96.5% 96.5% 96.5%

Pension contribution rate
(excluding lump sum)

16.7% 16.7% 16.7% 16.7% 16.7%

Pension Deficit Payment £507k £571k £638k £688k £738k

* These values represent the approximate increase as the actual increase will reflect the 
differential rates that have been applied to different spinal column points and re grouping 
of pay bands.  

Page 42



- 19 -

3.8.4 Universal Credit

Universal Credit has been operating in South Holland since November 2015 for single 
unemployed claimants, however from 1 January 2018 new claims for this group will 
return to legacy benefits, including Housing Benefit.  The DWP’s latest planning 
assumptions for  Universal Credit are that the transition to full service will be complete 
by the end of 2018.  For South Holland, transition is now scheduled for July 2018.  
Following the transition phase, migration of existing cases is intended to be complete by 
2022.  Local authorities will however continue to administer Housing Benefit for 
pensioners beyond this date until the incorporation of Housing Benefit into Pension 
Credit.  Whilst there is expectation that Housing Benefit Administration Subsidy will 
reduce with the move to full Universal Credit service, the financial consequences remain 
uncertain.

3.9 Spalding Special Expenses

3.9.1 Spalding Special Expenses are a separate charge to the residents of Spalding for 
services provided in their town and are charged as a supplement to the main council tax. 
The Spalding Special Expenses budget for 2018-19 is estimated at £216,000 (2017-18, 
£204,353). Detailed estimates are shown at Appendix C including the calculation of the 
Council Tax charge of £23.99 (2017-18 £23.07).

4 General Fund Reserves and Balances

4.1 In order to comply with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the Council 
undertakes a review of the level of reserves as part of the annual budget preparation.  
The forecast balances on the reserves are considered to be appropriate for the Council’s 
future requirements. 

4.2 As part of this review it is noted that the Insurance Reserve has not been used to fund 
any general fund excessive claims (most claims have been absorbed within service 
base budgets). As such it is recommended that the balance on the Insurance Reserve 
(£220k) be transferred to the Council Tax reserve. Any future insurance claims that 
require funding from reserves will have funding taken from this reserve. 

4.3 Appendix D outlines the current position with regard to reserve balances.  The proposed 
budget does not require any long term support from reserve balances, however the 
challenging economic environment has required us to undertake a robust sensitivity 
analysis should these events require us to draw on balances.  Whilst it is apparent that 
these risks could be financially significant, Council reserves are currently at a 
reasonable level.  

4.4 Moving forward, the General Fund has a forecast working balance of £2.064m at 1st 
April 2018. The Council has an assessed minimum prudent working balance of 
£2.000m. 

Page 43



- 20 -

4.5 The table below gives a summary of General Fund Specific Reserve movements 
(excluding the General Reserve):

General Fund Specific 
Reserves (inc Spalding 
Special Estimates)

2017-18
£’000

2018-19
£’000

2019-20
£’000

2020-21
£’000

2021-22
£’000

Brought Forward 8,342 7,379 8,017 7,278 6,711

Transfer In 1,455 1,826 1,035 798 701
Transfers Out (2,418) (1,187) (1,774) (1,365) (65)

Carried Forward 7,379 8,017 7,278 6,711 7,347

Notes to Reserves table:

 In addition to specific reserves the general fund balance at 1 April 2017 was  
£2.064m.  This is currently forecast to remain unchanged,

 This table reflects the current estimated effect of the 2017/18 out-turn (Q3 
Forecasts).  If there is a net overspend at the end of the current year, this will 
need to be covered from Reserves.  

 Transfers to Reserves include an annual contribution of £136k to the 
Replacement and Refurbishment Reserve to assist the Council in maintaining its 
asset base,

 All New Homes Bonus Scheme grant received has been taken to the Investment 
& Growth Reserve,

 Moving Forward expenditure of £343k will be financed from the Transformation 
reserve during 2018-19, with a further £169k estimated requirement in 2019-20,

 The Investment and Growth Reserve will be used to fund feasibility work relating 
to the development of commercial opportunities, funding towards the 
establishment of the extended Garden Waste service and the set up of the 
Delivery Unit.  In future years this reserve will fund potential capital schemes such 
as vehicle replacements, Crease Drove and the Food Enterprise Zone. 

 The estimated budget surplus for 2018-19 (£771k) will be transferred into the 
Council Tax reserve to provide a financing resource in the event of future 
business rates variability.

4.6 In setting the level of General Balances, consideration has been given to the adequacy 
of financial control, the overall financial position, medium-term financial plans and the 
strategic, operational and financial risks facing the Council. 

5 General Fund Capital Strategy and General Fund Capital Estimates

5.1 The Council’s Capital Strategy is shown in Appendix F and focuses on the core 
principles of capital investment. The Council has an amibitious transformation 
programme and is scheduled to carry out a review of Council-owned assets. This will 
result in the asset strategy being revised and has been scheduled to take place during 
September 2018.

5.2 Appendix E details the updated capital programme of schemes currently in progress or 
approved to be delivered for 2018/19 and future years, taking into account the 
anticipated outturn for 2017/18. All such schemes are actively monitored through the 
Capital Programme Working Group. The values for 2018/19 may change depending 
upon the ultimate level of spend and delivery in 2017/18. 

Page 44



- 21 -

5.3 The main schemes included in the approved 2018/19 programme relate to ICT 
investment, re-roofing of industrial units, grants for growth, Disabled Facility Grants –
funded work and housing investments via Welland Homes.

5.4 Under the Moving Forward programme, it is a priority of the Council that future capital 
investment must be directed at generating future growth in housing and economic 
development.  Additionally the Council needs to make more effective use of its assets 
to secure future income streams and make revenue savings.  Investment in Priory Road 
is a key example where this has been made possible through working with partners such 
as the Department for Work and Pensions. 

5.5 Appendix E also sets out a number of potential schemes where further detailed work is 
required before formal approval to proceed will be requested. 

5.6 The Council’s new Delivery Unit has been set up to progress investment opportunities 
which contribute to the above objectives.  The Team is working on a number of key 
future schemes which will require funding from the Council’s Investment and Growth 
Reserve. Such schemes include the South Holland Centre, Environmental Services 
Replacement Programme, Moulton Park, Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens and 
Extra Care Housing.  Some of these projects will need detailed feasibility studies to be 
carried out before they are approved.  The Council has set aside £100k from revenue 
reserves in 2018-19 to progress this work with a view to realising the benefits in future 
years.

Page 45



- 22 -

6 Housing Revenue Account

6.1 The Budget for 2018-19 and the medium term financial plan are shown in Appendix B. 
The budget now reflects the full-year effect of the Place Review, implemented during 
2017-18, which impacts on both General Fund and Housing Revenue Account budgets.

6.2 A comprehensive review of the Housing Revenue Account and associated landlord 
functions has been carried out during 2017-18 following the implementation of the Place 
Review. 

6.3 The following table shows the summary HRA for 2018-19 compared to the 2017-18 
position:

HRA Estimates by Income & Expenditure 2017-18 to 2018-19

Description
2017-18
Estimate

2018-19
Estimate Variance

£000 £000 £000

Rent Income – Dwellings (15,024) (14,713) 311
Charges for Services & facilities (958) (1,179) (221)
Total Income (15,982) (15,892) 90

Repairs & Maintenance 3,486 3,327 (159)
Supervision & Management 2,413 2,728 315
Service Charge Costs 1,129 1,238 109
Depreciation 2,300 2,923 623
Provision for Doubtful Debts 119 169 50
Total Expenditure 9,447 10,385 938

Contribution from Operations (6,535) (5,507) 1,028

Financing charges 2,360 2,368 8
Capital Expenditure charged to 
Revenue

3,977 - (3,977)

Net operating (surplus)/Deficit (198) (3,139) (2,941)

Page 46



- 23 -

6.4 Explanation of Budget Variations

6.4.1 Rent Income  - Dwelling Rents 

In determining future rental income the following factors have been taken into account:

 A rent reduction of 1% from 17-18 to 19-20 and nil inflation imposed by the 
Government. The Council had 3,804 HRA dwellings at 1st April 2017 with an 
average weekly rent of £76.32 (on a 52 week basis). The average rent in 2017-18 
will be £75.57 per week

 An assumed rent loss of 1% for void properties and 1.5% for bad debts, and
 Estimated net rent arising from additional units included within the HRA capital 

programme from 2019/10 onwards.

6.4.2 Charges for Services and Facilities

Sewage Charges

Historically charges for sewage have been increased in line with the annual increase 
applied by Anglian Water.  Charges were increased by 2.5% in 2017-18 to catch up for 
several years’ increases which had not been actioned.  For 2018-19 it is proposed that 
charges be increased in line with the annual increase applied by Anglian Water.  This 
figure is not yet known.  When we receive the information from Anglian Water, the 
Estimates will be updated to reflect the increased level of charge.

Hire of Guest Rooms

Charges for the hire of Guest Rooms for tenant guests were subject to a detailed review 
in 2017-18. For 2018-19 and future years the charges will be increased on an annual 
basis in line with the December CPI. 

Other Service Charges

The key change to this budget line reflects the re-instatement of alarm monitoring 
charges, for which the cost and income were deleted in error in the previous year’s 
budget. The impact of this is neutral across the HRA.

Prior to 2017-18 other Service Charges had not been increased for several years as the 
HRA has been able to defer any increase. In 2017-18 it was considered prudent that the 
charges be increased on an annual basis in line with the December CPI. A detailed 
review of service charges will now be carried out to reflect the updated budget and 
service changes implemented as part of the Place Review. For 2018-19 service charges 
will be maintained at 2017-18 levels while the detailed review is completed. 

6.4.3 Repairs & Maintenance

The implementation of the Place Review will deliver significant savings across Repairs 
and Maintenance Budgets, particularly in relation to Void Properties and Responsive 
Repairs. As part of the implementation of the review current systems and processes are 
being re-designed to ensure that the Operation Repairs Team operates efficiently and 
delivers value for money.  As part of this on-going work external contracts will also be 
reviewed to ensure that demand is met in the most effective way.

Therefore a prudent approach has been taken with regard to the 2018-19 budget, with a 
contingency provision allowed against anticipated savings in order to address any peaks 
in demand.  This contingency will be removed from 2019-20 to reflect the full impact of 
the on-going savings arising from the Place Review.

Page 47



- 24 -

6.4.4 Supervision & Management

A detailed review of all HRA Budgets has been carried out alongside the implementation 
of the Place Review. As a result a number of changes have been made to supervision 
and management budgets to reflect:

 Operational budgets to support the revised structure,
 Increases in costs such as external Court Costs,
 Resources required to review  HRA Assets, and 
 Strengthened programme support to ensure the delivery of the HRA Affordable 

Housing Programme.

6.4.5 Service Charge Costs

This budget line relates to additional “special services” provided to certain groups of 
tenants and funded through service charges, usually collected alongside tenant rents.
This service includes sheltered housing, alarm monitoring, community facilities, estate 
management and sewerage works.

All budgets have been reviewed in detail following the Place Review. The major variation 
in 2018-19 relates to the re-instatement of the Alarm Monitoring Budget, which is offset 
by additional service charge income.

6.4.6 Depreciation

The net depreciation charge to the HRA has increased from £2.3m to £2.923. This 
amount, is currently charged to the HRA and credited to Major Repairs Reserve, and 
used to fund capital expenditure.  In 2017-18 the basis of calculation has changed 
nationally to reflect an increase in the social housing factor (the proportion of open 
market value used for calculation) from 34% to 42%.  This has increased the value of 
depreciation charged.

6.4.7 Provision for Doubtful Debts

The phased roll out of Universal Credit is likely to have significant impact on the Housing 
Revenue Account.  Further modelling is required to quantify the impact, however, at this 
stage the provision for doubtful debts has been increased within the MTFS by £50k per 
annum.

6.4.8 Capital Expenditure charged to Revenue

As part of the Council’s year end accounts for 2015-16 and 2016-17 the annual revenue 
contribution to the capital programme has been credited to the Major Repairs Reserve 
and has been unspent due to delays in the delivery of the HRA Affordable Housing 
Programme.  The Major Repairs Reserve now stands at over £6m and this will be used 
to fund capital expenditure in 2018-19 without the need for a revenue contribution. A 
revenue contribution will be required in 2019-20 to support the delivery of the re-phased 
capital programme.

Page 48



- 25 -

7 HRA Reserves

7.1 The table below shows the unallocated reserve balances as at 31st March 2017 and the 
estimated movements to 31st March 2019. The balances within the table are funds that 
can be used to finance both revenue and capital expenditure, for example, one- off invest 
to save projects and to meet expenditure arising from unexpected events.

HRA 
Working 
Balance

£’000

Insurance
Reserve

£’000

Major 
Repairs 
Reserve

£’000

Balance at 1st April 2017 8,968 200 6,697

Transfers in 3,539 - 2,865
Transfers Out - - (3,001)

Balance at 31st March 2018 12,507 200 6,561

Transfers in 3,139 - 2,923
Transfers Out - (8,100)

Balance at 31st March 2019 15,646 200 1,384

7.2 The Major Repairs Reserve will be used to finance capital investment within the HRA. 
(see Appendix E).

8 HRA Capital

8.1 The HRA summary programme is shown in Appendix E.

8.2 Detailed planned maintenance programmes have been compiled from asset 
management data to address key decent homes criteria. 

8.3 The Council has accrued over £6.5m in its Major Repairs Reserve over the last 2-3 years 
due to slippage in the planned Affordable Housing Programme. A re-phased Affordable 
Housing Programme has now been established to replace units sold through increased 
right to buy (RTB) sales in order to:

 ensure that reserves are spent effectively, 
 maximise the use of resources available through retained RTB receipts, and
 access opportunities for additional grant funding through the Homes & 

Communities Agency (HCA).

8.4 The programme will be delivered through a combination of new build and the purchase 
of affordable housing units.  A total of £14m has been allocated during the period of the 
MTFP from 2018-19 to 2021-22.  This will allow the Council to deliver:

 A development of 34 units for rent/shared ownership at Small Drove, Weston,
 A development of 24 units for rent/shared ownership at Severn Road, Spalding,
 Acquisition of approximately 30 units of affordable housing directly from 

developers to provide properties to address key areas of housing need; and
 Support to a £2.5m annual programme which will deliver approximately 18-20 

units per year.

Page 49



- 26 -

8.5 The programme also includes specific provision for:

 Major area works - environmental improvements on estates,
 Essential improvements to Sewage Plant works, and
 The replacement of key housing IT Systems.

9 Risk, Key Issues, Sensitivity and Monitoring

9.1 The Council must set a budget which is a realistic statement of its estimated income and 
expenditure for the coming year, based upon information currently available.  The 
Council has a duty to take into account the demand for its services and the effect on 
council tax payers of meeting those demands at varying levels of services. Given the 
good management practices and sound financial and performance monitoring delivered 
in the past, the Council has the platform and expertise to deliver a balanced budget.   

9.2 The following table details the key risks and issues identified and how we intend to treat 
them.

Risk Likelihood Impact Mitigating Action

Reduced public sector 
funding from Central 
Government (e.g.New 
Homes Bonus)

High High Keep up to date with 
developments and make 
prudent budget 
assumptions. 

Low income levels from 
fees and charges

Medium Medium Revise spending plans

Continuation of low 
interest rates

High High Market advice and forecasting.  
Mitigation by diversification

Business rates retention 
proposals leave Council 
exposed to economic 
fluctuations and rating 
appeals

Medium High Monitor developments & set 
aside appropriate reserves and 
provisions to help with 
potential initial pressures and 
fluctuations

Pension fund deficit Medium Medium Close  links with LCC pension 
fund
Increased contributions 
following triennial review

Additional bad debts as a 
result of economic 
circumstances

Medium Medium Pro-active debt management 
and pre-pay fee policies in line 
with Cabinet Decision 
(21/11/17)

Increased maintenance 
costs of ageing physical 
assets

Medium Medium Asset management plan.  Pro-
active rather than reactive 
maintenance programme

Inflation rises by more 
than budgeted 
projections

Medium Medium Budget assumptions kept up to 
date with most recent 
projections.

Growth plans may 
require borrowing at 
some point in the future

High High Continue to closely monitor 
and prioritise the Council's 
Capital Financing 
Requirement. 

Compass Point Business 
Services may be unable 
to deliver an effective 
service within the agreed 
reduced contract price.

Low Medium Reviewing Service Level 
Agreements, activity levels and 
service priorities, develop a 
suitable Transformation 
Programme

Page 50



- 27 -

Risk Likelihood Impact Mitigating Action

Garden Waste take-
up of scheme.

High High A pilot scheme introduced over 
2016-172016-17 and 17/18 has 
now been extended with another 
round for 2018-19. 

Court Income High Low Court income projections are in 
line with budget. The budget has 
not been increased due to 
concerns over collectability of 
this income. A year-end review 
will be undertaken to inform 
future year’s budgets.

Housing Benefit 
Overpayments

High High The level of Housing Benefit 
Overpayments and their 
recoverability needs to be 
monitored closely through the 
year in order to ensure budget 
levels are appropriate. 

Additional duties 
arising from the 
Homeless Reduction 
Act

High High Embed structure changes as 
part of Place Review, maximise 
use of DCLG funding and 
closely monitor impact.

Universal Credit  High Medium The implementation of the 
Universal credit may impact on 
the General Fund in terms of 
running costs for the Benefits 
service and additional demand 
on other council services and on 
the HRA in terms of increased 
arrears. This will be closely 
monitored.

Increased risk that 
liability insurance 
premiums will 
increase

Medium Low Prepare to go to the market 
again if premiums exceed 
market trends.

10 Consultation, Timetable and Links to Other Strategies

10.1 The draft budget was available for consultation on the website during January with 
commentary invited from council tax payers, business rate payers and key stakeholders.

10.2 The Council has adopted a corporate risk management strategy and financial risk 
management is integrated into the Council’s overall management and decision making 
processes. This ensures a robust and well integrated risk management programme, 
which will help the Council to identify and manage key strategic risks facing it, in pursuit 
of its corporate objectives.

10.3 A Performance Framework has been developed to manage delivery of the new priorities 
described in the Council’s Corporate Plan. The annual business planning process will 
run alongside the budget setting process to ensure an integrated approach of 
performance and finance.

Page 51



- 28 -

11 Treasury Management Policy and Investment Strategy

11.1 The Treasury Management Policy and Investment Strategy (Appendix G1 and G2) pulls 
together the decisions of capital investment, use of reserves, our cash flow and revenue 
budgets. 

11.2 The Treasury Management Strategy covers two main areas:

 Capital plans and associated capital prudential indicators

 Treasury management issues including borrowing and investment strategies, 
minimum revenue provision policy and associated treasury prudential indicators.

11.3 The are no changes proposed to the Treasury Management Policy. 

11.4 The DCLG Prudential Framework of Capital Finance, Guidance on Local Government 
Investments and Statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision has recently been 
out to consultation as has the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice and the 
Prudential Code.  As some of the revised documents have yet to be published following 
consultation the proposed strategy has been produced on the same basis as previous 
years. If any changes are needed to these documents, these will be reported back to a 
future meeting to ensure the 2018/19 Policy and Strategy documents remain compliant.

11.5 Cash balances will continue to be invested to generate income. These investments will 
be made in accordance with the strategy approved by Council.  Additional income is 
also being raised through the Council’s commercial loans to Welland Homes. 

11.6 A new directive which regulates both retail and wholesale investment business called 
the “Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II” became effective from 3rd January 
2018. To ensure the Council could continue to invest its surplus funds in the markets 
the Council has had to opt up to professional client status with brokers and financial 
institutions.

11.7 During 2014/15 the Council paid £50,000 to the Local Capital Finance Company Limited 
(part of the Municipal Bonds Agency) for the purchase of an equity stake in their newly 
created company.  The intention is that they will be offering loans to local authorities in 
the future and that borrowing rates will be lower than those offered by the Public Works 
Loan Board.  This Authority intends to make use of this new source of borrowing in the 
future if it is the cheapest form of borrowing. 

Page 52



Draft General Fund Summary APPENDIX B

Area

2017-18
ORIGINAL
ESTIMATE

2017-18
REVISED

ESTIMATE 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Related Expenditure 6,677 6,799 7,582 7,699 7,825 8,006
Premises Related Expenditure 926 926 947 951 955 960
Transport Related Expenditure 783 749 772 772 772 772
Supplies & Services 2,660 3,068 3,393 3,164 3,149 3,223
Transformation 273 273 343 169 0 0
Drainage Board Levies 2,350 2,350 2,384 2,384 2,384 2,384
Parish Precepts 713 713 794 810 826 843
Third party Payments 2,608 3,200 3,259 3,259 3,259 3,259
Transfer Payments 19,341 19,599 20,431 19,663 19,673 19,671
Support Services 0 0 0 0 0 0
Depreciation and Impairment Losses 986 986 1,030 1,030 1,030 1,030
Grant payment to parishes 0 0 0 0 0 0
Income from trading activities 0 0 0 0 0 0
Income  (24,970)  (25,644)  (27,636)  (26,903)  (27,133)  (27,150) 
COUNCIL SUB-TOTAL 12,347 13,019 13,299 12,998 12,740 12,998

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital Expenditure 3,750 3,750 100 1,391 1,300 0
Capital Charges Contra Entry  (1,061)  (1,322)  (1,105)  (1,105)  (1,105)  (1,105) 
Minimum Revenue Provision 0 0 0 0 0 0
Interest on borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0
Contributions to Reserves 1,235 1,235 1,826 1,035 798 701
Contributions From Reserves  (4,569)  (5,281)  (1,187)  (1,774)  (1,365)  (65) 
Contribution from General Fund Reserves  (301) 0 0 0 0 0
NET COST OF SERVICES 11,401 11,401 12,933 12,545 12,368 12,529
Funding (Shortfall) 0 0 0  (475)  (624)  (564) 
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 11,401 11,401 12,933 12,070 11,744 11,964

Financing
Local Government Settlement RSG  (1,072)  (1,072) 0  (271) 0 0
Rural Services Grant  (128)  (128) 0  (128) 0 0
Retained Buisness rates  (8,598)  (8,598)  (14,202)  (9,527)  (9,723)  (9,923) 
Section 31 Grants for Business Rates  (549)  (549)  (1,207)  (1,235)  (1,260)  (1,285) 
Community Right to bid and challenge 0 0 0 0 0 0
Business rates tariff 5,173 5,173 9,611 5,790 5,906 6,024
New Homes Bonus Grant  (1,385)  (1,385)  (1,007)  (847)  (610)  (513) 
Council Tax Freeze Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spalding Special Expenses (204)  (204)  (216)  (221)  (225)  (230) 
Town & Parish Councils  (713)  (713)  (794)  (810)  (823)  (843) 
Share of Collection Fund Deficit/(Surplus)-NNDR 573 573  (402) 0 0 0
Share of Collection Fund Deficit/(Surplus)-C Tax  (65)  (65)  (79) 0 0 0

SOUTH HOLLAND PRECEPT REQUIREMENT 4,433 4,433 4,637 4,820 5,006 5,195

TAX BASE 26,892 26,892 27,302 27,575 27,851 28,129

SOUTH HOLLAND BAND D COUNCIL TAX £ 164.84 £ 164.84 £ 169.83 £ 174.78 £ 179.73 £ 184.68

PERCENTAGE Increase 3.13 3.13% 3.03% 2.91% 2.83% 2.75%

Page 53



Draft Housing Revenue Account Summary APPENDIX B

Area

2017-18
ORIGINAL
ESTIMATE

2017-18
REVISED

ESTIMATE 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Income
Dwelling Rents  (15,024)  (15,047)  (14,713)  (14,942)  (15,171)  (15,727) 
Charges for services and facilities  (958)  (1,171)  (1,179)  (1,157)  (1,137)  (1,117) 

 (15,982)  (16,218)  (15,892)  (16,099)  (16,308)  (16,844) 

Expenditure
Repairs and maintenance 3,486 3,234 3,327 2,979 3,049 3,120
Supervision and management 2,343 2,758 2,656 2,725 2,791 2,859
Rents, rates, taxes and other charges 70 70 72 73 75 77
Special services 1,129 1,286 1,238 1,269 1,299 1,330
Depreciation and impairment of fixed assets 2,300 2,866 2,923 2,982 3,041 3,102
(Increase)/decrease in bad debt provision 119 119 169 219 269 319

9,446 10,333 10,385 10,247 10,524 10,807

Contribution from Operations  (6,536)  (5,884)  (5,507)  (5,852)  (5,784)  (6,037) 

Interest payable 2,348 2,348 2,348 2,348 2,348 2,348
Debt management costs 75 80 82 82 82 82
HRA investment income  (62)  (82)  (62)  (62)  (62)  (62) 
Capital Expenditure funded by the HRA 3,977 0 0 4,217 1,279 3,365
Transfer to Major Repairs Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net Operating (surplus)/deficit  (198)  (3,539)  (3,139) 732  (2,137)  (305) 

Housing Revenue Account Balance
Brought Forward  (8,968)  (8,968)  (12,507)  (15,647)  (14,914)  (17,051) 
In Year (Surplus)/Deficit  (198)  (3,539)  (3,139) 732  (2,137)  (305) 
Carried Forward  (9,166)  (12,507)  (15,647)  (14,914)  (17,051)  (17,356) 

Page 54



Spalding Special Expenses 2018-19 APPENDIX C

2017-18
Estimates 2018-19

2017-18 to
2018-19
Variance

£ £ £
Spalding Cemetery 56,600 57,200 600
Spalding Allotments 3,700 3,600  (100) 
Playing Fields at:-
     Ayscoughfee (excluding gardens) 26,190 26,700 510
     Halley Stewart 27,100 30,900 3,800
     Thames Road 13,580 14,750 1,170
     Fulney Road 10,380 10,380 0
     Monkshouse Lane 30,300 29,500  (800) 
Contribution to Voluntary Car Scheme 8,500 8,500 0
Christmas Decorations 7,800 9,900 2,100
Contribution to management of churchyard of St Mary &
St Nicolas Parish Church 750 750 0
Administrative Support 4,500 4,500 0
Bus Shelter Maintenance 370 370 0
Contribution to play areas 1,000 1,000 0
Spalding Town Centre Promotion 1,500 1,500 0
Crime prevention 7,700 7,700 0
Chairman's contingency 750 750 0
Grass Cutting 0 8,000 8,000
Contribution to Spalding Special Reserve 3,633 0  (3,633) 
Total Expenditure 204,353 216,000 11,647

Funding

Total Expenditure 204,353 216,000 11,647

Capital Reserve 0 0 0
Charged 204,353 216,000 11,647
Tax Base 8,857 9,002 145
Band D equivalent 23.07 23.99 0.92

Actual Balances

Balance Brought Forward  (157,349)  (147,349) 

Funded From Reserves

Contribution from SSE reserves (forecast) 10,000 0
Forecast reserve carried forward  (147,349)  (147,349) 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

GENERAL FUND RESERVES

Reserve Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance
01/04/2017 IN OUT 31/03/2018 IN OUT 31/03/2019 IN OUT 31/03/2020 IN OUT 31/03/2021 IN OUT 31/03/2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund Working Balance 2,064 0 0 2,064 0 0 2,064 0 0 2,064 0 0 2,064 0 0 2,064

Specific Reserves

Council Tax Reserve 2,082 220 (1,164) 1,138 683 (128) 1,693 0 (135) 1,559 0 0 1,559 0 0 1,559

Insurance Reserve 220 0 (220) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Transformation Reserve 809 0 (240) 570 0 (343) 226 0 (169) 57 0 0 57 0 0 57

Replacement and Refurbishment 
Reserve 225 136 (166) 194 136 (77) 253 136 (80) 309 136 (65) 380 136 (65) 451

Investment and Growth 4,753 1,099 (468) 5,383 1,007 (575) 5,815 899 (1,391) 5,323 662 (1,300) 4,685 565 0 5,250

Grants Unapplied 254 0 (160) 94 0 (64) 30 0 0 30 0 0 30 0 0 30

Total Specific Reserves 8,342 1,455 (2,418) 7,379 1,826 (1,187) 8,017 1,035 (1,774) 7,278 798 (1,365) 6,711 701 (65) 7,347

Total General Fund Reserves 10,406 1,455 (2,418) 9,443 1,826 (1,187) 10,081 1,035 (1,774) 9,342 798 (1,365) 8,775 701 (65) 9,411

P
age 57



Appendix D

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT RESERVES

P
age 58



Appendix E

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2017/18 TO 2021/22
2017/18
Revised
Budget

2017/18
Forecast

2018/19
Budget

2019/20
Budget

2020/21
Budget

2021/22
Budget

Scheme Description £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

GENERAL FUND

ICT
Digital Vision 182 6 - - - -
ICT Infrastructure 336 131 205 - - -
Self Service SHDC Reception 51 51

Assets and Property
Council Chamber Conference Mic System 28 28 - - - -
Wardentree Lane Industrial Estate - Re-Roofing 47 - 47 - - -
Fleet Road, Holbeach Industrial Estate - Re-Roofing 55 - 55 - - -
Railway Lane, Sutton Bridge Industrial Units 65 - 65 - - -
Assets and Property (Priory Road) 350 350 - - - -

Economic Development
Grants for Growth 371 371 896 86 - -

Environmental Services
Garden Waste 240 240 165

Housing 
Travellers Sites - Capital - GF Capital 201 - - - - -
Disabled Facilities Grants - Private Sector Housing 585 325 585 585 585 585
Decent Homes Unfit And Disrepair - Housing 75 40 75 75 75 75
Land Appropriation (London Road and Parside Crescent) 94 94
Welland Homes 1,006 1,117 1,708 3,060 1,458 1,473

Approved schemes 3,686 2,753 3,636 3,806 2,283 2,133

FINANCING OF APPROVED SCHEMES
Borrowing (1,006) (1,117) (1,708) (3,060) (1,458) (1,473)
Capital Receipts (807) (458) (372) - - -
Grants & Contributions (1,232) (737) (1,556) (746) (660) (660)
Direct Revenue Financing (641) (441) - - (165) -

(3,686) (2,753) (3,636) (3,806) (2,283) (2,133)

Schemes subject to detailed approval
ICT - Digital Vision 329 - 329 - - -
Priory Road - Place Review 50
Economic Development - Food Enterprise Zone - - - 1,091 - -
Growth Fund * Crease Drove 1,000 - - 300 900 -
Environmental Services
(Grounds Maintenance and Vehicle Replacement) 50 - 50 300 300 -

1,379 - 429 1,691 1,200 -

FINANCING OF SCHEMES SUBJECT TO APPROVAL
Capital Receipts (329) (329) (300) (65) -
Direct Revenue Financing (1,050) (100) (1,391) (1,135) -

(1,379) (429) (1,691) (1,200) 0

Total - GENERAL FUND PROGRAMME 5,065 2,753 4,065 5,497 3,483 2,133

Page 59



Appendix E
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2017/18 TO 2021/22

2017/18
Revised
Budget

2017/18
Forecast

2018/19
Budget

2019/20
Budget

2020/21
Budget

2021/22
Budget

Scheme Description £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
Central Heating 1,317 1,200 1,481 1,511 1,541 1,572
Kitchen / Bathroom 1,454 1,200 1,169 1,192 1,216 1,240
Electrical Upgrade - Capital - HRA Capital 107 100 122 125 127 130
Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency - Capital - HRA 125 100 133 135 138 141
Decent Homes Component Replacements - Capital - HRA 211 - - - -
Gutters 263 268 274 279
Roofs and Gutters 701 235 425 434 443 451
Doors and Windows 3 3 3 3
Chimneys 252 257 262 267
Paths and Drives 36 36 37 38
Boundary Walls 90 92 93 95
Smoke Alarms 34 34 35 36
Fees 219 - 202 206 210 214
Decent Homes 4,134 2,835 4,209 4,294 4,380 4,467

Sewage Treatment plant 65 65 100 102 104 106
The Square 63 63 187 - - -
Car Parks 65 66 68 69
Trinity Court 50 - - -
Major Area schemes 128 128 402 168 172 175

ICT Strategy 184 184 51 52 53 54
Housing IT Systems 150 200 - -
IT / System 184 184 201 252 53 54

Major Adaptations 400 300 408 383 390 398
Aids & Adaptations 400 300 408 383 390 398

Weston Redevelopment Scheme 1,145 50 1,000 2,647 450 -
Severn Road Development Scheme - 50 1,000 1,450 450 -
Purchase of units - 2,000 - - -
Buy Back - Shared Ownership 165 70 - - - -
Schemes Subject to detailed approval 3,851 - - 2,500 2,500
Affordable Housing 5,161 170 4,000 4,097 3,400 2,500

Approved schemes 10,007 3,617 9,220 9,193 8,394 7,594

Borrowing - Welland Homes - - - - -
Capital Receipts (1,162) (558) (1,120) (610) (3,235) (1,127)
Grants & Contributions - - (839) -
Major Repairs Reserve (4,868) (3,059) (8,100) (4,366) (3,041) (3,102)
Direct Revenue Financing (3,977) - - (4,217) (1,279) (3,365)
FINANCING (10,007) (3,617) (9,220) (9,193) (8,394) (7,594)

Page 60



1

Capital Strategy Draft 2018/19  Appendix F

Introduction
The Capital Programme is estimated on a 5-year rolling basis.   The Council reviews its Capital 
Strategy annually to maintain a strong and current link to the Corporate Plan.  

This document focuses on the core principles that underpin the capital programme as presented 
in Appendix E to the Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy report to Council.

Core Strategy

From 2018-19 to 2021-22 the Council will invest in the district in order to advance the priorities 
stated within the Corporate Plan.  Revenue budget efficiencies have been identified to enable the 
programme and additional funding will be sought at every opportunity.  The management process 
has four core principles. 

 Promote Invest-to-Save projects in all areas & manage the impact of 
investment decisions on revenue budgets. 

 Performance management to be applied to all projects to ensure targets are 
met and projected benefits are realised.

 Continually review processes and ensure effective pre- and post-project 
appraisal is in place.

 Optimise external capital funding to support and enhance the investment 
programme and assist in meeting the priorities of the Council.

Schemes will be considered for inclusion in the Capital Programme based on affordability, value 
for money and deliverable outputs that meet the Corporate Plan and Council objectives.  

The Council is required to have regard to the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities, to demonstrate that proposals are affordable, sustainable and prudent.

Capital financing from various sources as identified below are also examined annually to ensure 
that performance is in line with the prudential code indicators.

Page 61



2

Capital financing sources 

Capital Resource Implications with regards to future funding
Capital Receipt These are generated from disposal of assets

Section 106 – 
Planning 
Obligations

The Council has powers under section 106 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 to provide for infrastructure and facilities to support 
the local community. 

External grants and 
contributions

The Council receives Better Care funding to deliver the mandatory 
Disabled Facility Grant programme as an example.

Revenue 
Contributions

Revenue contributions to Capital outlay (RCCO) are an integral part of 
the Capital programme.  Efficiency savings built into the Revenue 
Budget are used, together with government funding and council tax 
increases to promote growth in the district. 

Balances and 
Reserves

The Council holds both general and specific reserves, earmarked to 
support service areas. All reserves have been re-examined and, where 
earmarked reserves are no longer required, balances have been 
transferred to an appropriate reserve including a new Investment & 
Growth reserve, which is primarily available for Capital expenditure 
financing.

The HRA business plan shows that, after funding the capital 
programme, general balances will be maintained.  These will generate 
investment income for the HRA.  Future investment plans may utilise 
these balances, including the Major Repairs Reserve.

Borrowing The Council currently holds £67.456m of Long Term HRA debt 
following the introduction of the HRA Self-Financing scheme in 2012. 

The projected capital programme does not require any additional 
borrowing at this time.

Disposals Policy

The Council’s Asset Management Plan details the approach to asset disposal.  As a principle, the 
Council releases funding from under-utilised assets.  Asset Management is a key component in 
the Council’s efficiency strategy.

Generally the Council seeks to achieve ‘best consideration’ in disposing of assets, via a sale 
subject to competition.  In certain circumstances disposal may be for less than the highest price, 
normally where the disposal will contribute to the improvement of the economic, social or 
environmental well-being of the whole or part of the area.

Framework for managing and monitoring performance

The governance framework in place currently includes:

 The Capital Strategy is presented annually, as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan, to 
Council;

 The overall Capital Programme and financing is subject to approval by the Cabinet and 
Council;

 Progress on the Capital Programme and its financing will be reported to Cabinet on a 
quarterly basis;

Page 62



3

An option appraisal methodology for proposed new schemes is used, ensuring accordance with 
corporate objectives.

All policies and procedures are subject to review and in 2018/19 additional capital expenditure 
controls are to be introduced to strengthen the quarterly monitoring regime.

Risks in the area are reviewed periodically and every time a new major project is added to the 
programme. These are aligned to the corporate risk register as appropriate.

Risk assessment

Area Issue
Asset Management 
Strategy

The Council’s Asset Management Strategy supports this Capital 
Strategy. Annual reviews of assets may identify surplus assets 
available to generate capital receipts for future capital investment. 

The HRA Asset Management Strategy has been developed to 
complement the HRA Business Plan by formalising the Council’s 
approach to asset management in respect of its housing stock.

Risk Management Each capital project will have a risk profile, including political, 
economic, legal, organisational and financial risk assessments.
Monitoring and control of exempt input tax is essential for the council. 
Where exempt input tax exceeds the current 5% de- minimus limit it 
is irrecoverable and is charged to the programme. Each capital 
project will be assessed for VAT implications.

Sustainability and 
Carbon & Waste 
Reduction

A Sustainability Appraisal has been developed from the Local 
Development Framework. Key capital programmes will be evaluated 
against sustainability objectives.

Procurement The purchase of capital assets should be conducted in accordance 
with the Procurement Strategy, ensuring value for money, legality 
and sustainability at all times.

Housing There is increasing pressure with regards to the Council’s statutory 
obligation concerning Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG). 

The sustainability of this needs review in light of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan, the change in funding source to the Better Care Fund 
and potential reductions in grant from Lincolnshire County Council.

HRA income from rent is reducing due to additional sales of 
properties under right-to-buy regulations.  Replacement of this 
income is essential to protect the long term financial viability of the 
service.

Invest to save 
schemes and VFM

Whilst there are revenue implications for investing in capital 
schemes, the Council is keen to invest in areas that result in long-
term revenue savings and increased income. Principles of value for 
money (VFM) will be present in all projects as defined in the 
programme bid process.

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX G1

The Treasury Management Policy Statement 2018/19

South Holland District Council defines its treasury management activities as:

1. The management of the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent 
with those risks.

2. This Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to be 
the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will 
be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management 
activities will focus on their risk implications for the organisation, and any financial 
instruments entered into to manage these risks.

3. This Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support 
towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is therefore 
committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury management, and 
to employing suitable comprehensive performance measurement techniques, within 
the context of effective risk management.

Page 65



APPENDIX G2

Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2018/19

1 Introduction 

1.1 Background

The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised 
during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management operation is to 
ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is 
needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments 
commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially 
before considering investment return.

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the Council’s 
capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, 
essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure that the Council can meet its capital 
spending obligations. This management of longer-term cash may involve arranging long or 
short-term loans, or using longer-term cash flow surpluses. On occasion, when it is prudent 
and economic, any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost 
objectives.

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) defines treasury 
management as “the management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks.”

The Council’s treasury function is undertaken by Compass Point Business Services (East 
Coast) Ltd (CPBS) on behalf of the Council.

1.2 Reporting requirements

The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports each 
year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals.

Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) - The first, and 
most important report covers:

• the capital plans (including prudential indicators);
• a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital expenditure is 

charged to revenue over time);
• the treasury management strategy (how the investments and borrowings are to be 

organised) including treasury indicators; and 
• an investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be managed).

A mid-year treasury management report – This will update members with the progress of 
the capital position, amending prudential indicators as necessary, and whether any policies 
require revision.

An annual treasury report – This provides details of a selection of actual prudential and 
treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates within the 
strategy.

Page 66



APPENDIX G2

Scrutiny - The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 
recommended to the Council and this role is undertaken by the Governance and Audit 
Committee.

1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19

The strategy for 2018/19 covers two main areas:

Capital issues
• the capital plans and the prudential indicators;
• the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy.

Treasury management issues
• the current treasury position;
• treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council;
• prospects for interest rates;
• the borrowing strategy;
• policy on borrowing in advance of need;
• debt rescheduling;
• the investment strategy;
• creditworthiness policy; and
• the policy on use of external service providers.

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the CIPFA 
Prudential Code, Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and DCLG 
Investment Guidance.

1.4 Training

The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with responsibility 
for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury management.  This 
especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny.  The Council is currently in the 
process of arranging treasury management training for members to take place in the first 
quarter of 2018.  

The training needs of CPBS treasury management officers are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis.

1.5 Training management consultants

CPBS uses Link Asset Services (previously known as Capita Asset Services) as external 
treasury management advisors for the Council.

The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with 
the Council at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon external 
service providers. 

It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The 
Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value 
will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review.

Page 67



APPENDIX G2

2 The Capital Prudential Indicators 2018/19 to 2021/22

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management activity. 
The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential indicators, which are 
designed to assist Members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans.

2.1 Capital Expenditure

This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans, both those 
agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle. Members approve capital 
expenditure forecasts as part of the annual Budget report.

The capital expenditure plans mirror those within the budget report and will be amended 
throughout the year as spending plans alter.

The table below summarises the capital expenditure plans and how these plans are being 
financed by capital or revenue resources.  Any shortfall of resources results in a funding 
borrowing need.

Table 1

Capital Expenditure 
£’000’s

2016/17
Actual

2017/18
Latest

Estimate

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

General Fund 1,924 5,065 4,065 5,497 3,483 2,133
Housing Revenue Account 3,052 10,007 9,220 9,193 8,394 7,594
Total Expenditure 4,976 15,072 13,285 14,690 11,877 9,727
Financed by:
Capital Receipts 10 2,298 1,821 910 3,300 1,127
Capital Grants & 
Contributions

607 1,232 1,556 746 1,499 660

Major Repairs Reserve 3,036 4,868 8,100 4,366 3,041 3,102
Direct Revenue Financing 36 5,668 100 5,608 2,579 3,365
Total Funding 3,689 14,066 11,577 11,630 10,419 8,254
Net financing need for 
the year 1,287 1,006 1,708 3,060 1,458 1,473

The financing need reflects actual and planned expenditure to Welland Homes Limited from 
2016/17 through to 2021/22.

2.2 The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement)

The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The 
CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been paid 
for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a measure of the Council’s 
underlying borrowing need. Any capital expenditure above, which has not immediately been 
paid for, will increase the CFR.

The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) is a 
statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the borrowing need in line with each 
assets life.

The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. Public Finance Initiative (PFI) 
schemes, finance leases). Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s 
borrowing requirement, these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and so the 

Page 68



APPENDIX G2

Council is not required to separately borrow for these schemes. The Council currently has no 
such schemes within the CFR.

As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the CFR projections as 
follows:

Table 2

£000’s 2016/17
Actual

2017/18
Latest

Estimate

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

Capital Financing Requirement
CFR – Non HRA 2,556 3,562 5,270 8,330 9,788 11,261
CFR - HRA 68,610 68,610 68,610 68,610 68,610 68,610
Total CFR 71,166 72,172 73,880 76,940 78,398 79,871
Movement in CFR 1,274 1,006 1,708 3,060 1,458 1,473

Movement in CFR represented by:
Net financing need for the 
year (above)

1,287 1,006 1,708 3,060 1,458 1,473

Less MRP/VRP and other 
financing movements

(13) 0 0 0 0 0

Movement in CFR 1,274 1,006 1,708 3,060 1,458 1,473

Of the total CFR, £67.456m relates to the borrowing taken out with the Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB) as part of the Housing Self Financing changes.  The projected increases in 
the CFR through to 2021/22 are the additional loans and equity stakes in Welland Homes 
which are classed as capital expenditure and financed from internal cash balances.

2.3 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement

The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund capital 
spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the minimum revenue provision - 
MRP), although it is also allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments if required 
(voluntary revenue provision - VRP).  

DCLG Regulations have been issued which require the full Council to approve an MRP 
Statement in advance of each year.  A variety of options are provided to councils, so long as 
there is a prudent provision. The Council is recommended to approve the following MRP 
Statement:

For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or which in the future will be Supported 
Capital Expenditure, the MRP policy will be:

• Existing practice - MRP will follow the existing practice outlined in former DCLG 
regulations (option 1) 

These options provide for an approximate 4% reduction in the borrowing need (CFR) each 
year.

From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (including PFI and finance leases) the MRP 
policy will be:

Page 69



APPENDIX G2

• Asset Life Method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in 
accordance with the regulations (this option must be applied for any expenditure 
capitalised under a Capitalisation Direction) (option 3)

These options provide for a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the asset’s 
life. 

There is no requirement on the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) to make a minimum 
revenue provision but there is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made 
(although there are transitional arrangements in place).

Repayments included in finance leases are applied as MRP.

Any loans issued or equity investment made in Welland Homes and South Holland Local 
Housing Company which are classed as capital expenditure will increase the Council’s CFR.  
The Council will earmark the proceeds from the repayment of the loans or sale of equity 
interest to reduce the CFR and therefore will not apply MRP on such loans or equity 
investments. This policy will be reviewed annually.

Appropriation of Assets – Where assets do not change ownership and borrowing is not 
required; the Council will not apply MRP on the asset value transferred.

2.4 Core funds and expected investment balances

The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital 
expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing 
impact on investments unless resources are supplemented each year from new sources 
(asset sales etc.).  Detailed below are estimates of the year end balances for each resource 
and anticipated day to day cash flow balances.  

Table 3

Working capital balances shown are estimated year end; these may be higher mid-year.

Year End Resources
£’000’s

2016/17
Actual

2017/18
Latest

Estimate

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

General Fund Balance 2,064 2,064 2,064 2,064 2,064 2,064
HRA Working Balance 8,968 12,507 15,646 14,914 17,051 17,356
HRA Insurance Reserve 200 200 200 200 200 200
Major Repairs Reserve 6,697 6,561 1,384 0 0 0
Earmarked Reserves 8,342 7,379 7,426 6,701 6,134 6,771
Capital Grants Unapplied 1,969 2,154 2,079 2,004 2,004 2,004
Capital Receipts 3,571 3,518 2,588 2,602 2,287 2,151
Total core funds 31,811 34,383 31,387 28,485 29,740 30,546
Working Capital* 5,592 5,592 5,592 5,592 5,592 5,592
Under Borrowing (3,710) (4,716) (6,424) (9,484) (10,942) (12,415)
Expected investments 33,693 35,259 30,555 24,593 24,390 23,723

Page 70



APPENDIX G2

2.5 Affordability prudential indicators
The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential indicators, 
but within this framework, prudential indicators are required to assess the affordability of the 
capital investment plans. These provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment 
plans on the Council’s overall finances.  As part of the formal governance process, the 
Council approves the following indicators:

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream

This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long-term 
obligation costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream. Where financing 
costs to net revenue stream are negative, this is because the Council is earning interest on 
its balances as opposed to paying interest on its borrowing.

Table 4

% 2016/17
Actual

2017/18
Latest

Estimate

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

Non-HRA (1.28%) (1.34%) (1.85%) (2.93%) (4.12%) (4.39%)
HRA 29.60% 34.59% 35.40% 35.25% 35.11% 34.26%

Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on council tax levels

This indicator identifies the revenue costs associated with proposed changes to the three 
year capital programme recommended in this budget report compared to the Council’s 
existing approved commitments and current plans.  The assumptions are based on the 
budget, but will invariably include some estimates, such as the level of Government support, 
which are not published over a three year period.

Table 5

£ 2016/17
Actual

2017/18
Latest

Estimate

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

Council tax - band D 0.04 0.22 0.21 0.14 0.00 0.00

Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on housing rent levels

Similar to the council tax calculation, this indicator identifies the trend in the cost of proposed 
changes in the housing capital programme recommended in this budget report compared to 
the Council’s existing commitments and current plans, expressed as a discrete impact on 
weekly rent levels.

Table 6

£ 2016/17
Actual

2017/18
Latest

Estimate

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

Weekly Housing Rent 
Levels 

0.09 0.18 0.39 0.34 0.61 0.48

Page 71



APPENDIX G2

HRA Ratios

Table 7

2016/17
Actual

2017/18
Latest

Estimate

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

HRA debt £’000’s 67,456 67,456 67,456 67,456 67,456 67,456
HRA revenues £’000,s 15,307 14,897 14,713 14,942 15,171 15,727
Ratio of debt to revenues (%) 441 453 458 451 445 429

Table 8

2016/17
Actual

2017/18
Latest

Estimate

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

HRA debt £’000’s 67,456 67,456 67,456 67,456 67,456 67,456
Number of HRA dwellings 3,829 3,800 3,800 3,800 3,804 3,818
Debt per dwelling  (£) 17,617 17,751 17,751 17,751 17,733 17,668

3 Borrowing

The capital expenditure plans set out in the Prudential Indicators (above) provide details of 
the service activity of the Council.  The treasury management function ensures that the 
Council’s cash is organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that 
sufficient cash is available to meet this service activity and the Council’s capital strategy.  
This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where capital plans require, the 
organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities.  The strategy covers the relevant treasury / 
prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions and the annual investment 
strategy.

3.1 Current portfolio position

The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31 March 2017, with forward projections are 
summarised below. The table shows the actual external debt (the treasury management 
operations) against the underlying capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing 
Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing.

Table 9

£’000’s 2016/17
Actual

2017/18
Latest

Estimate

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

Debt at 1 April 67,456 67,456 67,456 67,456 67,456 67,456

Expected change in Debt 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other long-term liabilities 
(OLTL)

0 0 0 0 0 0

Expected change in 
OLTL

0 0 0 0 0 0

Actual gross debt at 31 
March 

67,456 67,456 67,456 67,456 67,456 67,456

The Capital Financing 
Requirement

71,166 72,172 73,880 76,940 78,398 79,871

Under / (over) 
borrowing

3,710 4,716 6,424 9,484 10,942 12,415

Page 72



APPENDIX G2

Within the prudential indicators, there are a number of key indicators to ensure that the 
Council operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One of these is that the Council 
needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the 
CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2018/19 and the 
following two financial years. This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years, but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes.

The Section 151 Officer reports that the Council complied with this prudential indicator in the 
current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future.  This view takes into account 
current commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in this budget report.

3.2 Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity    

The operational boundary - This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally 
expected to exceed.  In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be 
lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt.

Table 10

Operational boundary 
£’000’s

2017/18
Estimate

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

Debt 79,360 86,000 86,000 86,000 86,000
Other long term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
Total 80,360 87,000 87,000 87,000 87,000

The authorised limit for external debt - A further key prudential indicator represents a 
control on the maximum level of borrowing.  This represents a limit beyond which external 
debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by the full Council.  It reflects the 
level of external debt, which while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not 
sustainable in the longer term.  

1. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 
2003. The Government retains an option to control either the total of all councils’ 
plans, or those of a specific council, although this power has never been exercised.

2. As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the following 
indicators, as shown below:

Table 11

Authorised limit 
£’000’s

2017/18
Estimate

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

Debt 89,456 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000
Other long term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
Total 90,456 91,000 91,000 91,000 91,000

Separately, the Council is also limited to a maximum HRA CFR through the HRA self-
financing regime.  This limit is currently:

Table 12

HRA Debt Limit
 £’000

2017/18
Estimate

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

Total 74,701 74,701 74,701 74,701 74,701

Page 73



APPENDIX G2

3.3 Prospect for interest rates (as at 27/11/17)

Link Asset Services has been appointed as the Council’s treasury advisor and part of their 
service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.

A more detailed interest rate forecast and economic commentary are shown at Appendix 
G2a.

The following table gives the Link Asset Services’ central view:

Table 13

Bank Rate
%

PWLB Borrowing Rates%
(including certainty rate adjustment)

5 year 10 year 25 year 50 year
Mar 2018 0.50 1.60 2.20 2.90 2.60
Jun 2018 0.50 1.60 2.30 3.00 2.70
Sep 2018 0.50 1.70 2.40 3.00 2.80
Dec 2018 0.75 1.80 2.40 3.10 2.90
Mar 2019 0.75 1.80 2.50 3.10 2.90
Jun 2019 0.75 1.90 2.60 3.20 3.00
Sep 2019 0.75 1.90 2.60 3.20 3.00
Dec 2019 1.00 2.00 2.70 3.30 3.10
Mar 2020 1.00 2.10 2.70 3.40 3.20
Jun 2020 1.00 2.10 2.80 3.50 3.30
Sep 2020 1.25 2.20 2.90 3.50 3.30
Dec 2020 1.25 2.30 2.90 3.60 3.40
Mar 2021 1.25 2.30 3.00 3.60 3.40

Commentary from Link Asset Services

As expected, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) delivered a 0.25% increase in Bank 
Rate at its meeting on 2 November. This removed the emergency cut in August 2016 after 
the European Union (EU) referendum.  The MPC also gave forward guidance that they 
expected to increase Bank rate only twice more by 0.25% by 2020 to end at 1.00%.  The 
Link Asset Services forecast as above includes increases in Bank Rate of 0.25% in 
November 2018, November 2019 and August 2020.

The overall longer run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise, albeit gently.  It has long 
been expected, that at some point, there would be a more protracted move from bonds to 
equities after a historic long-term trend, over about the last 25 years, of falling bond yields. 
The action of central banks since the financial crash of 2008, in implementing substantial 
Quantitative Easing, added further impetus to this downward trend in bond yields and rising 
bond prices.  Quantitative Easing has also directly led to a rise in equity values as investors 
searched for higher returns and took on riskier assets.  The sharp rise in bond yields since 
the US Presidential election in November 2016 has called into question whether the previous 
trend may go into reverse, especially now the Fed. has taken the lead in reversing monetary 
policy by starting, in October 2017, a policy of not fully reinvesting proceeds from bonds that 
it holds when they mature.

Until 2015, monetary policy was focused on providing stimulus to economic growth but has 
since started to refocus on countering the threat of rising inflationary pressures as stronger 
economic growth becomes more firmly established. The Fed. has started raising interest 
rates and this trend is expected to continue during 2018 and 2019.  These increases will 

Page 74



APPENDIX G2

make holding US bonds much less attractive and cause their prices to fall, and therefore 
bond yields to rise. Rising bond yields in the US are likely to exert some upward pressure on 
bond yields in the UK and other developed economies.  However, the degree of that upward 
pressure is likely to be dampened by how strong or weak the prospects for economic growth 
and rising inflation are in each country, and on the degree of progress towards the reversal 
of monetary policy away from quantitative easing and other credit stimulus measures.

From time to time, gilt yields – and therefore PWLB rates - can be subject to exceptional 
levels of volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis and emerging market 
developments. Such volatility could occur at any time during the forecast period.
Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences 
weighing on the UK. The above forecasts (and MPC decisions) will be liable to further 
amendment depending on how economic data and developments in financial markets 
transpire over the next year. Geopolitical developments, especially in the EU, could also 
have a major impact. Forecasts for average investment earnings beyond the three-year time 
horizon will be heavily dependent on economic and political developments.

The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is probably to the downside, 
particularly with the current level of uncertainty over the final terms of Brexit.
 
Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include: 

• Bank of England monetary policy takes action too quickly over the next three years to 
raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be 
weaker than we currently anticipate. 

• Geopolitical risks, especially North Korea, but also in Europe and the Middle East, 
which could lead to increasing safe haven flows. 

• A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, possibly Italy, due to its high level 
of government debt, low rate of economic growth and vulnerable banking system.

• Weak capitalisation of some European banks.
• The result of the October 2017 Austrian general election is likely to result in a strongly 

anti-immigrant coalition government.  In addition, the new Czech prime minister is 
expected to be Andrej Babis who is strongly against EU migrant quotas and refugee 
policies. Both developments could provide major impetus to other, particularly former 
Communist bloc countries, to coalesce to create a major block to progress on EU 
integration and centralisation of EU policy.  This, in turn, could spill over into impacting 
the Euro, EU financial policy and financial markets.

• Rising protectionism under President Trump
• A sharp Chinese downturn and its impact on emerging market countries

The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates, 
especially for longer term PWLB rates include: -

• The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate 
and, therefore, allows inflation pressures to build up too strongly within the UK 
economy, which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster 
than we currently expect. 

• UK inflation returning to sustained significantly higher levels causing an increase in the 
inflation premium inherent to gilt yields. 

• The Fed causing a sudden shock in financial markets through misjudging the pace and 
strength of increases in its Fed. Funds Rate and in the pace and strength of reversal of 
Quantitative Easing, which then leads to a fundamental reassessment by investors of 
the relative risks of holding bonds, as opposed to equities.  This could lead to a major 
flight from bonds to equities and a sharp increase in bond yields in the US, which could 
then spill over into impacting bond yields around the world.

Page 75



APPENDIX G2

Investment and borrowing rates

• Investment returns are likely to remain low during 2018/19 but to be on a gently rising 
trend over the next few years.

• Borrowing interest rates increased sharply after the result of the general election in 
June and then also after the September MPC meeting when financial markets reacted 
by accelerating their expectations for the timing of Bank Rate increases.  Since then, 
borrowing rates have eased back again somewhat.  Apart from that, there has been 
little general trend in rates during the current financial year. The policy of avoiding new 
borrowing by running down spare cash balances has served well over the last few 
years.  However, this needs to be carefully reviewed to avoid incurring higher 
borrowing costs in the future when authorities may not be able to avoid new borrowing 
to finance capital expenditure and/or the refinancing of maturing debt;

• There will remain a cost of carry to any new long-term borrowing that causes a 
temporary increase in cash balances as this position will, most likely, incur a revenue 
cost – the difference between borrowing costs and investment returns.

(End of Link Asset Services commentary)

3.4 Borrowing Strategy 

The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means that the 
capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully funded with 
loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used 
as a temporary measure.  This strategy is prudent as investment returns are low and 
counterparty risk is still an issue that needs to be considered.

Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be adopted 
with the 2018/19 treasury operations.  The Section 151 Officer will monitor interest rates in 
financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances:

• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and short term 
rates, e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into recession or of risks 
of deflation, then long term borrowings will be postponed, and potential rescheduling 
from fixed rate funding into short term borrowing will be considered.

• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in long and short 
term rates than that currently forecast perhaps arising from an acceleration in the start 
date and in the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an increase in 
world economic activity or a sudden increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio 
position will be re-appraised with the likely action that fixed rate funding will be drawn 
whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be in the next few years.

Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision making body at the next available 
opportunity.

3.5 Treasury management limits on activity

There are three debt related treasury activity limits.  The purpose of these are to restrain the 
activity of the treasury function within certain limits, thereby managing risk and reducing the 
impact of any adverse movement in interest rates.  However, if these are set to be too 
restrictive they will impair the opportunities to reduce costs / improve performance.  The 
indicators are:

Page 76



APPENDIX G2

• Upper limits on variable interest rate exposure. This identifies a maximum limit for 
variable interest rates based upon the debt position net of investments;

• Upper limits on fixed interest rate exposure.  This is similar to the previous indicator 
and covers a maximum limit on fixed interest rates;

• Maturity structure of borrowing. These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s 
exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing, and are required for upper 
and lower limits.

As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the treasury indicators, as 
follows: 

Table 14

£,000’s 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Interest rate exposures

Upper Upper Upper Upper
Limits on fixed interest rates 
based on net debt 87,000 87,000 87,000 87,000

Limits on variable interest rates 
based on net debt 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000

Limits on fixed interest rates:
 Debt only

 Investments only

 87,000
(35,000)

 87,000
(35,000)

 87,000
(35,000)

 87,000
(35,000)

Limits on variable interest rates:
 Debt only

 Investments only
  8,000

(15,000)
  8,000

(15,000)
  8,000

(15,000)
  8,000

(15,000)

Maturity structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2018/19
Lower Upper

Under 12 months 0% 100%
12 months to 2 years 0% 100%
2 years to 5 years 0% 100%
5 years to 10 years 0% 100%
10 years to 20 years 0% 100%
20 years to 30 years 0% 100%
30 years to 40 years 0% 100%
40 years to 50 years 0% 100%
Maturity structure of variable interest rate borrowing 2018/19

Lower Upper
Under 12 months 0% 10%
12 months to 2 years 0% 10%
2 years to 5 years 0% 10%
5 years to 10 years 0% 10%
10 years to 20 years 0% 10%
20 years to 30 years 0% 10%
30 years to 40 years 0% 10%
40 years to 50 years 0% 10%

Page 77



APPENDIX G2

3.6 Policy on borrowing in advance of need

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs, purely in order to profit 
from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be 
within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates, and will be considered 
carefully to ensure that value for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can 
ensure the security of such funds. 

Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior appraisal and 
subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting mechanism.

3.7 Debt rescheduling

As short term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term fixed interest 
rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings by switching from long term 
debt to short term debt.  However, these savings will need to be considered in the light of the 
current treasury position and the size of the cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred). 

The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include: 

• the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings;
• helping to fulfil the treasury strategy;
• enhance the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the balance of 

volatility).

Consideration will also be given to identify if there is any residual potential for making 
savings by running down investment balances to repay debt prematurely as short term rates 
on investments are likely to be lower than rates paid on current debt.  

All rescheduling will be reported to Cabinet at the earliest meeting following its action.

3.8 Municipal Bonds Agency

It is possible that the Municipal Bond Agency will be offering loans to local authorities in the 
future.  It is also hoped that the borrowing rates will be lower than those offered by the 
PWLB.  This Authority intends to make use of this new source of borrowing as and when 
appropriate.

Page 78



APPENDIX G2

4 Annual Investment Strategy 2018/19

4.1 Investment policy

The Council’s investment policy has regard to the DCLG’s Guidance on Local Government 
Investments (“the Guidance”) and the revised CIPFA Treasury Management in Public 
Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes (“the CIPFA TM Code”).  The 
Council’s investment priorities will be security first, liquidity second, then return.

In accordance with the above guidance from the DCLG and CIPFA, and in order to minimise 
the risk to investments, the Council applies minimum acceptable credit criteria in order to 
generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties which also enables diversification and 
thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the 
Short Term and Long Term ratings.

The Council’s funds are managed by CPBS with reference to a detailed cash flow forecast 
on a daily basis for the current year. Protocols are in place to govern the movement of funds 
within specific limits. 

Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it is important to 
continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and macro basis and in 
relation to the economic and political environments in which institutions operate. The 
assessment will also take account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To 
this end the Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing 
such as credit default swaps (CDS) and overlay that information on top of the credit ratings. 

Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other such 
information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most robust scrutiny 
process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties.

Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed in Appendix G2b 
under the ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments categories.

The maximum total investments to any individual financial institution or its parent group is 
£5m. The maximum limit for individual money market funds is £10m.

4.2 Creditworthiness policy

This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services.  This 
service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three 
main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of 
counterparties are supplemented with the following overlays: 

• credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;
• CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings;
• sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries.

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks in a 
weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for which 
the end product is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative 
creditworthiness of counterparties.  These colour codes are used by the Council to 

Page 79



APPENDIX G2

determine the suggested duration for investments.   The Council will therefore use 
counterparties within the following durational bands: 

• Yellow 5 years*
• Dark Pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25 
• Light Pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.5
• Purple 2 years
• Blue 1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks)
• Orange 1 year
• Red 6 months
• Green 100 days 
• No colour not to be used 

* Please note: the yellow colour category is for UK Government debt, or its equivalent, 
money market funds and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK Government debt.

The Link Asset Services’ creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just 
primary ratings and by using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give undue 
preponderance to just one agency’s ratings.

Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short Term rating 
(Fitch or equivalents) of F1 and a Long Term rating of A-.  There may be occasions when the 
counterparty ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may 
still be used.  In these instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings 
available, or other topical market information, to support their use.

All credit ratings will be monitored daily. CPBS is alerted to changes to ratings of all three 
agencies through its use of the Link Asset Services creditworthiness service.

• if a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting the 
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately.

• in addition to the use of credit ratings CPBS will be advised of information in 
movements in CDS spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other market data on a 
weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an institution or 
removal from the Council’s lending list.

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition this Council 
will also use market data and market information, information on any external support for 
banks to help support its decision making process.

4.3 Country limits

The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from the United 
Kingdom or countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch. The list of 
countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at the date of this report are shown in 
Appendix G2c.  This list will be added to, or deducted from, by officers should ratings 
change in accordance with this policy.

Page 80



APPENDIX G2

4.4 Investment strategy

Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow requirements and 
the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for investments up to 12 months).

Bank Rate is forecast to stay flat at 0.50% until quarter 4 2018 and not to rise above 1.25% 
by quarter 1 2021.  Bank Rate forecasts for financial year ends (March) are: 

• 2017/18   0.50%  
• 2018/19   0.75%
• 2019/20  1.00%
• 2020/21   1.25%   

The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments placed for 
periods up to about three months during each financial year are as follows: 

• 2017/18   0.40%  
• 2018/19   0.60%
• 2019/20   0.90%
• 2020/21   1.25%
• 2021/22   1.50%  
• 2022/23   1.75%
• 2023/24   2.00%
Later years 2.75% 

The overall balance of risks to these forecasts is currently skewed to the upside and are 
dependent on how strong Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth turns out, how quickly 
inflation pressures rise and how quickly the Brexit negotiations move forward positively.  

Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for greater than 365 
days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce 
the need for early sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after each 
year-end.

As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the treasury indicator and 
limit, as follows:

Table 1

Maximum principal sums invested > 364 days
£’000’s 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Principal sums invested > 364 
days

£m
5,000

£m
5,000

£m
5,000

£m
5,000

Loans to and equity purchases in Welland Homes do not count towards this limit as they are 
classed as non-treasury investments. 

For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its business reserve 
instant access and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits 
(overnight to 100 days) in order to benefit from the compounding of interest.

Page 81



APPENDIX G2

4.5 Investment risk benchmark

The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks in this area, as Officers believe that 
decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are adequate to monitor the 
current and trend position, and amend the operational strategy to manage risk as conditions 
change.  

The Council aims to achieve an internal return above the average 3 month London Interbank 
Bid Rate (LIBID).

4.6 End of year investment report

At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as part of its 
Annual Treasury Report.

Page 82



APPENDIX G2a

Economic Background – Commentary provided by Link Asset Services
GLOBAL OUTLOOK.  World growth looks to be on an encouraging trend of stronger 
performance, rising earnings and falling levels of unemployment.  In October, the IMF 
upgraded its forecast for world growth from 3.2% to 3.6% for 2017 and 3.7% for 2018.  

In addition, inflation prospects are generally muted and it is particularly notable that wage 
inflation has been subdued despite unemployment falling to historically very low levels in 
the UK and US. This has led to many comments by economists that there appears to have 
been a fundamental shift downwards in the Phillips curve (this plots the correlation between 
levels of unemployment and inflation e.g. if the former is low the latter tends to be high).  In 
turn, this raises the question of what has caused this.  The likely answers probably lay in a 
combination of a shift towards flexible working, self-employment, falling union membership 
and a consequent reduction in union power and influence in the economy, and increasing 
globalisation and specialisation of individual countries, which has meant that labour in one 
country is in competition with labour in other countries which may be offering lower wage 
rates, increased productivity or a combination of the two. In addition, technology is probably 
also exerting downward pressure on wage rates and this is likely to grow with an 
accelerating movement towards automation, robots and artificial intelligence, leading to 
many repetitive tasks being taken over by machines or computers. Indeed, this is now being 
labelled as being the start of the fourth industrial revolution.

KEY RISKS - central bank monetary policy measures
Looking back on nearly ten years since the financial crash of 2008 when liquidity suddenly 
dried up in financial markets, it can be assessed that central banks’ monetary policy 
measures to counter the sharp world recession were successful. The key monetary policy 
measures they used were a combination of lowering central interest rates and flooding 
financial markets with liquidity, particularly through unconventional means such as 
Quantitative Easing (QE), where central banks bought large amounts of central government 
debt and smaller sums of other debt.

The key issue now is that that period of stimulating economic recovery and warding off the 
threat of deflation is coming towards its close and a new period has already started in the 
US, and more recently in the UK, on reversing those measures i.e. by raising central rates 
and (for the US) reducing central banks’ holdings of government and other debt. These 
measures are now required in order to stop the trend of an on-going reduction in spare 
capacity in the economy, and of unemployment falling to such low levels that the re-
emergence of inflation is viewed as a major risk. It is, therefore, crucial that central banks get 
their timing right and do not cause shocks to market expectations that could destabilise 
financial markets. In particular, a key risk is that because QE-driven purchases of bonds 
drove up the price of government debt, and therefore caused a sharp drop in income yields, 
this then also encouraged investors into a search for yield and into investing in riskier assets 
such as equities. This resulted in bond markets and equity market prices both rising to 
historically high valuation levels simultaneously. This, therefore, makes both asset 
categories vulnerable to a sharp correction. It is important, therefore, that central banks only 
gradually unwind their holdings of bonds in order to prevent destabilising the financial 
markets. It is also likely that the timeframe for central banks unwinding their holdings of QE 
debt purchases will be over several years. They need to balance their timing to neither 
squash economic recovery by taking too rapid and too strong action, or, alternatively, let 
inflation run away by taking action that was too slow and/or too weak. The potential for 
central banks to get this timing and strength of action wrong are now key risks.  

There is also a potential key question over whether economic growth has become too 
dependent on strong central bank stimulus and whether it will maintain its momentum 
against a backdrop of rising interest rates and the reversal of QE. In the UK, a key 

Page 83



APPENDIX G2a

vulnerability is the low level of productivity growth, which may be the main driver for 
increases in wages; and decreasing consumer disposable income, which is important in 
the context of consumer expenditure primarily underpinning UK GDP growth.  

A further question that has come to the fore is whether an inflation target for central 
banks of 2%, is now realistic given the shift down in inflation pressures from internally 
generated inflation, (i.e. wage inflation feeding through into the national economy), given the 
above mentioned shift down in the Phillips curve. 

 Some economists favour a shift to a lower inflation target of 1% to emphasise the 
need to keep the lid on inflation.  Alternatively, it is possible that a central bank could 
simply ‘look through’ tepid wage inflation, (i.e. ignore the overall 2% inflation target), in 
order to take action in raising rates sooner than might otherwise be expected.  

 However, other economists would argue for a shift UP in the inflation target to 3% in 
order to ensure that central banks place the emphasis on maintaining economic 
growth through adopting a slower pace of withdrawal of stimulus. 

 In addition, there is a strong argument that central banks should target financial 
market stability. As mentioned previously, bond markets and equity markets could be 
vulnerable to a sharp correction. There has been much commentary, that since 2008, 
QE has caused massive distortions, imbalances and bubbles in asset prices, both 
financial and non-financial. Consequently, there are widespread concerns at the 
potential for such bubbles to be burst by exuberant central bank action. On the other 
hand, too slow or weak action would allow these imbalances and distortions to 
continue or to even inflate them further.

 Consumer debt levels are also at historically high levels due to the prolonged period of 
low cost of borrowing since the financial crash. In turn, this cheap borrowing has 
meant that other non-financial asset prices, particularly house prices, have been 
driven up to very high levels, especially compared to income levels. Any sharp 
downturn in the availability of credit, or increase in the cost of credit, could potentially 
destabilise the housing market and generate a sharp downturn in house prices.  This 
could then have a destabilising effect on consumer confidence, consumer expenditure 
and GDP growth. However, no central bank would accept that it ought to have 
responsibility for specifically targeting house prices. 

UK.  After the UK surprised on the upside with strong economic growth in 2016, growth in 
2017 has been disappointingly weak; quarter 1 came in at only +0.3% (+1.8% y/y),  
quarter 2 was +0.3% (+1.5% y/y) and quarter 3 was +0.4% (+1.5% y/y).  The main reason 
for this has been the sharp increase in inflation, caused by the devaluation of sterling after 
the EU referendum, feeding increases in the cost of imports into the economy.  This has 
caused, in turn, a reduction in consumer disposable income and spending power and so the 
services sector of the economy, accounting for around 80% of GDP, has seen weak growth 
as consumers cut back on their expenditure. However, more recently there have been 
encouraging statistics from the manufacturing sector which is seeing strong growth, 
particularly as a result of increased demand for exports. It has helped that growth in the EU, 
our main trading partner, has improved significantly over the last year while robust world 
growth has also been supportive.  However, this sector only accounts for around 10% of 
GDP so expansion in this sector will have a much more muted effect on the overall GDP 
growth figure for the UK economy as a whole.

Page 84



APPENDIX G2a

While the Bank of England is expected to give forward guidance to prepare financial markets 
for gradual changes in policy, the Monetary Policy Committee, (MPC), meeting of 14 
September 2017 managed to shock financial markets and forecasters by suddenly 
switching to a much more aggressive tone in terms of its words around warning that Bank 
Rate will need to rise soon. The Bank of England Inflation Reports during 2017 have clearly 
flagged up that it expected CPI inflation to peak at just under 3% in 2017, before falling back 
to near to its target rate of 2% in two years’ time. The Bank revised its forecast for the peak 
to just over 3% at the 14 September meeting. (Inflation actually came in at 3.0% in both 
September and October so that might prove now to be the peak.)  This marginal revision in 
the Bank’s forecast can hardly justify why the MPC became so aggressive with its wording; 
rather, the focus was on an emerging view that with unemployment having already fallen to 
only 4.3%, the lowest level since 1975, and improvements in productivity being so weak, that 
the amount of spare capacity in the economy was significantly diminishing towards a 
point at which they now needed to take action.  In addition, the MPC took a more tolerant 
view of low wage inflation as this now looks like a common factor in nearly all western 
economies as a result of automation and globalisation. However, the Bank was also 
concerned that the withdrawal of the UK from the EU would effectively lead to a decrease in 
such globalisation pressures in the UK, and so this would cause additional inflationary 
pressure over the next few years.

At Its 2 November meeting, the MPC duly delivered a 0.25% increase in Bank Rate. It also 
gave forward guidance that they expected to increase Bank Rate only twice more in the next 
three years to reach 1.0% by 2020.  This is, therefore, not quite the ‘one and done’ scenario 
but is, nevertheless, a very relaxed rate of increase prediction in Bank Rate in line with 
previous statements that Bank Rate would only go up very gradually and to a limited extent.

However, some forecasters are flagging up that they expect growth to accelerate 
significantly towards the end of 2017 and then into 2018. This view is based primarily on the 
coming fall in inflation, (as the effect of the effective devaluation of sterling after the EU 
referendum drops out of the CPI statistics), which will bring to an end the negative impact on 
consumer spending power.  In addition, a strong export performance will compensate for 
weak services sector growth.  If this scenario was indeed to materialise, then the MPC would 
be likely to accelerate its pace of increases in Bank Rate during 2018 and onwards. 

It is also worth noting the contradiction within the Bank of England between action in 
2016 and in 2017 by two of its committees. After the shock result of the EU referendum, 
the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted in August 2016 for emergency action to cut 
Bank Rate from 0.50% to 0.25%, restarting £70bn of QE purchases, and also providing UK 
banks with £100bn of cheap financing. The aim of this was to lower borrowing costs, 
stimulate demand for borrowing and thereby increase expenditure and demand in the 
economy. The MPC felt this was necessary in order to ward off their expectation that there 
would be a sharp slowdown in economic growth.  Instead, the economy grew robustly, 
although the Governor of the Bank of England strongly maintained that this was because the 
MPC took that action. However, other commentators regard this emergency action by the 
MPC as being proven by events to be a mistake.  Then in 2017, we had the Financial 
Policy Committee (FPC) of the Bank of England taking action in June and September over 
its concerns that cheap borrowing rates, and easy availability of consumer credit, had 
resulted in too rapid a rate of growth in consumer borrowing and in the size of total 
borrowing, especially of unsecured borrowing.  It, therefore, took punitive action to clamp 
down on the ability of the main banks to extend such credit!  Indeed, a PWC report in 
October 2017 warned that credit card, car and personal loans and student debt will hit the 
equivalent of an average of £12,500 per household by 2020.  However, averages belie wide 
variations in levels of debt with much higher exposure being biased towards younger people, 
especially the 25 -34 year old band, reflecting their lower levels of real income and asset 
ownership.

Page 85



APPENDIX G2a

One key area of risk is that consumers may have become used to cheap rates since 2008 
for borrowing, especially for mortgages.  It is a major concern that some consumers may 
have over extended their borrowing and have become complacent about interest rates 
going up after Bank Rate had been unchanged at 0.50% since March 2009 until falling 
further to 0.25% in August 2016. This is why forward guidance from the Bank of England 
continues to emphasise slow and gradual increases in Bank Rate in the coming years.  
However, consumer borrowing is a particularly vulnerable area in terms of the Monetary 
Policy Committee getting the pace and strength of Bank Rate increases right - without 
causing a sudden shock to consumer demand, confidence and thereby to the pace of 
economic growth.

Moreover, while there is so much uncertainty around the Brexit negotiations, consumer 
confidence, and business confidence to spend on investing, it is far too early to be confident 
about how the next two to three years will actually pan out.

EZ.  Economic growth in the eurozone (EZ), (the UK’s biggest trading partner), had been 
lack lustre for several years after the financial crisis despite the ECB eventually cutting its 
main rate to -0.4% and embarking on a massive programme of QE.  However, growth picked 
up in 2016 and has now gathered substantial strength and momentum thanks to this 
stimulus.  GDP growth was 0.6% in quarter 1 (2.0% y/y), 0.7% in quarter 2 (2.3% y/y) and 
+0.6% in quarter 3 (2.5% y/y).  However, despite providing massive monetary stimulus, the 
European Central Bank is still struggling to get inflation up to its 2% target and in October 
inflation was 1.4%. It is therefore unlikely to start on an upswing in rates until possibly 2019. 
It has, however, announced that it will slow down its monthly QE purchases of debt from 
€60bn to €30bn from January 2018 and continue to at least September 2018.  

USA. Growth in the American economy was notably erratic and volatile in 2015 and 2016.  
2017 is following that path again with quarter 1 coming in at only 1.2% but quarter 2 
rebounding to 3.1% and quarter 3 coming in at 3.0%.  Unemployment in the US has also 
fallen to the lowest level for many years, reaching 4.1%, while wage inflation pressures, and 
inflationary pressures in general, have been building. The Fed has started on a gradual 
upswing in rates with four increases in all and three increases since December 2016; and 
there could be one more rate rise in 2017, which would then lift the central rate to 1.25 – 
1.50%. There could then be another four increases in 2018. At its September meeting, the 
Fed said it would start in October to gradually unwind its $4.5 trillion balance sheet holdings 
of bonds and mortgage backed securities by reducing its reinvestment of maturing holdings.

CHINA. Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite repeated 
rounds of central bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. Major progress still 
needs to be made to eliminate excess industrial capacity and the stock of unsold property, 
and to address the level of non-performing loans in the banking and credit systems.

JAPAN. Has been struggling to stimulate consistent significant growth and to get inflation up 
to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making little progress 
on fundamental reform of the economy.

Commentary provided by Link Asset Services ends.

Page 86



APPENDIX G2b

Treasury Management Practice (TMP1) – Credit and Counterparty Risk Management

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, with 
maturities up to maximum of 1 year, meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where 
applicable.

Minimum ‘High’ Credit 
Criteria Use

Debt Management Agency Deposit 
Facility N/A In-house

UK Local Authority Deposits N/A In-house

Term Deposits – banks and building 
societies 

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers credit 
rating matrix

In-house

Treasury Bills UK sovereign rating In-house

Certificates of Deposit or Corporate 
Bonds issued by banks and building 
societies

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers credit 
rating matrix

In-house

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks AAA In-house buy and 

hold

Money Market Funds – CCLA (Church, 
Charities & Local Authority) AAA

In-house (£10m 
limit for cash flow 
purposes)

Money Market Funds  CNAV 
(Constant Net Asset Value) AAA In-house

Money Market Funds  LVAV (Low 
Volatility Asset Value) AAA In-house

Money Market Funds  VNAV 
(Variable Net Asset Value) AAA In-house

Term deposits with nationalised banks and banks and building societies.

If forward deposits are to be made, the forward period plus the deal period should not 
exceed one year in aggregate.  

Minimum Credit 
Criteria Use Max of total 

investments
Max. 
maturity 
period

UK  part 
nationalised banks

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix

In-
house £5m 1 year

Banks part 
nationalised by AAA 
or AA- sovereign 
rating countries – 
non UK

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix

In-
house £5m 1 year

Page 87



APPENDIX G2b

N.B. buy and hold may also include sale at a financial year end and repurchase the following 
day in order to accommodate the requirements of the Accounting Code of Practice.

Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may differ from the 
underlying cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this Council. To 
ensure that the Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which may arise from 
these differences, we will review the accounting implications of new transactions before they 
are undertaken.

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not meet the 
Specified Investment criteria.  A maximum of £5m will be held in aggregate in non-specified 
investments.

Maturities of ANY period

Minimum Credit 
Criteria Use

Max %  of 
non-specified 
investments

Max. 
maturity 
period

Fixed Term Deposits with 
variable rate and variable 
maturities: -Structured 
deposits

Sovereign rating  of 
AAA or  AA- and 
minimum colour of 
green on our 
external treasury 
advisers credit 
rating matrix

In-house 100% 5 year

UK Government Gilts UK sovereign rating
In-house 
buy and 
hold

100% 5 year

Sovereign Bond issues 
(other than the UK govt.) AAA

In-house 
buy and 
hold

100% 5 year

Bond issuance issued by 
a financial institution which 
is explicitly guaranteed by  
the UK Government  (e.g. 
National Rail) 

UK sovereign rating
In-house 
buy and 
hold

100% 5 year

Collective Investment Schemes structured as Open Ended Investment Companies 
(OEICs): -

Minimum Credit 
Criteria Use

Max %  of 
non-specified 
investments

Max. maturity 
period

Ultra-Short Dated Bond 
Funds with a credit score 
of 1.25

Long-term AAA
volatility rating 
MR1+

In-house 100% 1 years

Ultra-Short Dated Bond 
Funds with a credit score 
of 1.5

Long-term AAA
volatility rating 
MR1+

In-house 100% 1 years

Page 88



APPENDIX G2b

Collateralised Deposits 
(see note 1)

UK  Sovereign 
rating In-house 100% 5 year

Bond Funds
Long-term AAA
volatility rating 
MR1+

In-house 100% 5 year

Gilt Funds
Long-term AAA
volatility rating 
MR1+

In-house 100% 5 year

Note 1. as collateralised deposits are backed by collateral of AAA rated local authority Lender 
Option Borrower Option (LOBO)’s, this investment instrument is regarded as being a AAA rated 
investment as it is equivalent to lending to a local authority.

Maturities in excess of 1 year

Minimum Credit 
Criteria Use

Max %  of 
non-
specified 
investments

Max. 
maturity 
period

UK local authority deposits N/A In-
house 100% 5 year

Term Deposits – banks 
and building societies 

Sovereign rating  of 
AAA or  AA- and 
minimum colour of 
orange on our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix

In-
house 100% 5 year

Certificates of Deposit 
issued by banks and 
building societies 

Sovereign rating  of 
AAA or  AA- and 
minimum colour of 
orange on our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix

In-
house 100% 5 year

Corporate bonds issued 
by banks and building 
societies

Sovereign rating  of 
AAA or  AA- and 
minimum colour of 
orange on our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix

In-
house 100% 5 year

Bonds issued by 
multilateral development 
banks

AAA In-
house 100% 5 year

Collective Investment Schemes structured as Open Ended Investment Companies (OEICs)

Property Fund In-
House £5m

Separate 
approval 
required

Corporate Bond Fund In-
House £5m

Separate 
approval 
required

Page 89



APPENDIX G2b

The use of property funds can be deemed capital expenditure, and as such will be an application 
(spending) of capital resources. This Authority will seek guidance on the status of any fund it may 
consider using. Appropriate due diligence will also be undertaken before investment of this type is 
undertaken.

Non treasury loans and investments with Welland Homes and South Holland Local Housing 
Company will not count towards the Non-Specified Investment limit.

The maximum total investment to any individual financial institution or its parent group is £5m and 
the limit with Money Market Funds is £10m.

Whilst these are maximum limits, under normal circumstances the Section 151
Officer will ensure lower limits are maintained. The higher limits are required to allow flexibility in 
the movement of funds if a particular issue or circumstance arises e.g. global banking crisis.

Page 90



     APPENDIX G2c

Approved countries for investments

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher (we show 
the lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P) and also, (except - at the time of writing - for 
Hong Kong, Norway and Luxembourg), have banks operating in sterling markets which have 
credit ratings of green or above in the Link Asset Services credit worthiness service.

AAA                     
 Australia
 Canada
 Denmark
 Germany
 Luxembourg
 Netherlands
 Norway
 Singapore
 Sweden
 Switzerland

AA+
 Finland
 Hong Kong
 U.S.A.

AA
 Abu Dhabi (UAE)
 France
 U.K.

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX H 
FEES AND CHARGES – 2017 18 Estimates

Environmental Health (Public Protection)

Activity Policy Proposal 
Licensing The fee will be set locally 

on cost recovery for the 
service with the exception 
of the statutory set fees 
which are set by central 
government. The authority 
will have a duty to have 
regard to guidance issued 
by the Secretary of State 
which outlines the issues 
that should be considered 
by them when setting the 
fee and what activities the 
fee can and cannot be 
covered within the fee 
setting process.

Fees set to cover costs on fee 
recovery or are set by 
legislation

Food Safety/ Health 
and Safety Training

SHDC has the 
responsibility of educating 
the community on food, 
health & safety matters. 
Fees set to cover costs 
and take into account 
course demand and 
competitors fees

Fees set to cover costs.

Pollution Control Statutory fees are set
not to make a profit, but to 
ensure businesses are 
operating legally

Charges in line with policy

Food Safety Discretionary fees to cover 
costs. Voluntary 
surrender and export fees 
are statutory. Statutory 
fees are set not to make a 
profit, but to ensure 
businesses are operating 
legally

Charges in line with policy

Scrap Metal As per the Scrap Metal 
Dealers Act 2013.The fee 
will be set locally by each 
local authority on a cost 
recovery basis, but local 

Charges in line with policy

Page 93



authorities will have a duty 
to have regard to guidance 
issued by the Secretary of 
State which outlines the 
issues that should be 
considered by them when 
setting the fee and what 
activities the fee can cover

Street Traders Roadside trading consent Fees set to cover costs on fee 
recovery or in line with 
legislation.

Micro Chipping Discretionary fee set to 
cover costs and encourage 
users of the new service 

Charges in line with policy. 

Environmental Services 

Activity Policy Proposal 
Cemetery Fees 
(Spalding Special 
Expenses)

Fees are reviewed 
annually and set by the 
Council, taking into 
account the sensitive 
nature of this service

No change for 2018-19

Allotments (Spalding 
Special Expenses)

Charges to be in line with 
those charged in the 
neighbouring area

No change for 2018-19

Provision of Markets Fees to be in-line with 
those charged in the 
neighbouring area

No change for 2018-19

Car Parking Charges Service to breakeven over 
a 4 year period and make 
a contribution to the 
Replacement and 
Refurbishment Reserve

No change for 2018-19

Bus Departure Charges Charges to bus operators 
only

No change for 2018-19

Excess Charges Fees to be set as a 
deterrent

No change to fees proposed, in 
line with car park charges.

Garden Waste Sacks Maximise income without 
encouraging fly tipping

No change to fees. 

Bulky Waste Maximise income without 
encouraging fly tipping

No change to fees.

Charges for street Charges for fines listed for Set to cover costs. Includes 

Page 94



scene fines each offence  dropping of litter
Garden Waste One year pilot agreed 

during 2015-16 Set to 
cover costs and make a 
small surplus to be 
reinvested in the project. 
Now extended

Fees agreed as per the cabinet 
report. An annual charge of £49 
for 24 collections and a one off 
charge initially offered at £15 
(for delivery, repairs, loan of 
bin, newsletters and offers)

Community Development

Activity Policy Proposal 
Ayscoughfee Gardens
(Tennis, Putting and Bowls) 
(Spalding Special Expenses)

To increase charges in 
line with inflation and 
review annually

No change to fees.

Ayscoughfee Hall Museum To cover costs and 
match competitor 
prices

Existing fees assessed and 
revised where appropriate. 
New public events to be 
booked on ‘price on 
application’ basis.

South Holland Centre To meet income 
targets whilst enabling 
maximum community 
use of the Centre.

Increase in cinema charges 
(2D Family Ticket) by 5%, no 
other changes to fees. 

Halley Stewart Playing Field 
(Spalding Special Expenses)

To increase charges in 
line with inflation and 
review annually

Increased proposed in respect 
of SUFC.

Castle Field To increase charges in 
line with inflation and 
review annually

No change to fees.

Monks House Playing Field 
(Spalding Special Expenses)

To increase charges in 
line with inflation and 
review annually

No change to fees.

Castle Sports Complex and 
Swimming Pool

Review annually with 
contractor 

No change to fees.

Assets and Property

Activity Policy Proposal
Industrial Units A phased  approach to 

increasing fees and 
charges was approved, 
in two lots of 3 years, 
spreading over 6 years 
in total

No change to fees for 2018-
19. In line with market 
competitors 

Page 95



Planning and Building Control

Activity Policy Proposal
Land Charges Charge in line with 

competitors
No change to fees and 
charges

Building Control Charge based on 
hourly rate to 
reflect the actual 
cost of each 
project.

Charges based on hourly 
rate, to cover costs incurred 
by the Council.

High Hedges Charge set by 
ourselves

Proposal to maintain our 
charge to encourage 
submissions.

Building Control 
Consultancy

These are set by 
us, at a cost per 
project as per the 
new fee 
regulations which 
are based on 
hourly rates, as 
per CIPFA 
guidance. Charges 
based on amount 
per m2, in line with 
the market rate 
activity

Fees are set by SHDC. 
Service to maintain charges 
based on a market rate.

Development Management Fees increased 
from 17 January 
2018 pursuant to 
the Government 
announcement 

20% increase in fee rates 
pursuant to the Government 
announcement effective 17 
January 2018 

Garages & Garage Plots

Activity Policy Proposal
Garages Previously increased 

in line with HRA rent 
increase.

Increase in line with CPI 
(1.6%)

Garage Plots Previously 
increased in line 
with rent increase.

Increase in line with CPI 
(1.6%)

Page 96



Housing Revenue Account

Activity Policy Proposal
General Fund Housing 
Rents

Reduction of 1% in rents in line 
with rent setting proposals for 
the Housing Revenue Account.

HRA Service Charges

Activity Charge 
2017/18 
per 
week

Proposed 
Charge 
2018/19 
per weeki

% Increase

Hire of Community Centres (Per Hour)  - VAT exempt -
Hire of Centre for Day Care 10.67 10.67 -
Hire of Centre (community rate) 10.67 10.67 -
Hire of Centre (commercial rate) 16.51 16.51
Charge for Hire of Kitchen at Centre 12.70 12.70
Hire of Guest Room (per night) -  including VAT at Standard 
Rate – Tenant Guests
       -  Non En suite room 27.50 28.40 3.27
       -  En suite room 30.00 30.90 3.00
       -  Homelessness  30.00 30.90 3.00
Water Charges (Per Week)
       Trinity Court – (No’s 1-21) 2.18 2.18 -
       Trinity Court – (No’s 22) 2.93 2.93 -
       Glen Haven – (No’s 1-12) 2.97 2.97 -
       Glen Haven – (6a) 3.46 3.46 -
       Nene Court (No’s 1-12, 17-22,25-30) 1.04 1.04 -
       Nene Court (No’s 23 & 24) 1.08 1.08 -
       Nene Court (No’s 13 - 16 & 31 - 34) 1.22 1.22 -
Heating Charges (Per Week)
      Glen Haven (No’s 1 - 12) 10.49 10.49 -
      Glen Haven (6a) 12.20 12.20 -
       Nene Court (No’s 1-12, 17-22,25-30) 3.86 3.86 -
       Nene Court (No’s 23 & 24) 4.00 4.00 -
       Nene Court (No’s 13 - 16 & 31 - 34) 4.57 4.57 -
Supply and Fit Replacement lock with keys – including VAT at 
Standard Rate

62.99 62.99 -

Supply and Fit Key Safe – including VAT at Standard Rate 50.80 50.80 -
Supply and Fit Door Chain – including VAT at Standard Rate 41.66 41.66 -
     - Urgent Replacement (1 key) 22.35 22.35 -
     - Urgent Replacement (2 keys) 31.50 31.50 -
     - Non-Urgent Replacement (1 key or more each key) 11.18 11.18 -

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance and Executive Director - Commercialisation 
(S151)

To: Cabinet Tuesday, 13 February 2018 

(Author: Jane Crosby, Ray Fleming– Compass Point Business Services)

Subject Q3 Finance Report 2017-18

Purpose: This report provides information on Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2017) and 
forecast full year financial position of the Council

Recommendation(s):

1) That Cabinet notes this report.

Recommendation(s) to Council:

2) That the use of reserves as set out in paragraph 2.4.2 be approved.

3) That the necessary revision to the capital programme as part of the 2018-19 budget report 
be approved.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report provides information on the financial forecast full year financial forecasts at 31st 
December 2017 in respect of the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
revenue, capital and reserves and Treasury Management.

2.0 GENERAL FUND

2.1 General Fund Revenue

2.1.1 This report is the second detailed monitoring report for 2017-18 and shows a forecast out-
turn overspend of £306k compared to the revised budget for 2017-18 of £11.4m. This 
represents a movement of £369k from the position reported for Quarter 1 which showed a 
forecast surplus of £63k. 

2.1.2 This shift has arisen for a number of reasons but primarily due to the identification of 
historic budget issues arising from over-optimistic savings assumptions, accounting 
adjustments and incorrect treatment of income resulting in a projected overspend. There 
are still changes that may take place in the next two months that could move this position 
and this will continue to be closely monitored. 

Page 99

Agenda Item 8.



2.1.3 The current forecast deficit of £306k has arisen primarily due to:

Variance
£000

Budget adjustments:
1. Net savings identified across all services through vacant posts and 

“budget challenge sessions” including Democratic Services, Health & 
Safety and Operational Environmental Services.

(152)

2. Additional forecast building control income above budget (33)
3. Additional forecast planning fee income above budget (60)
4. Budget adjustments due to amendments and additional pressures 

identified and built into the 2017-18 base budget
359

5. Over-optimistic savings assumptions in the 2017-18 base budget 128
242

Other variations:
6. Alarm monitoring income transferred from the HRA - correction 150
7. Increased charges to the HRA for support services provided (75)
8. Increased income on investments arising from increased interest rates 

and higher levels of reserves than budgeted
(71)

9. Slippage in Contracts & Procurement savings 40
10. Potential reduction officer time recoverable through Grants 4 Growth 20

306

2.1.4 In addition to the above there is an increased levy payment due to Government of £366k in 
2017-18 which it has been assumed will be funded from reserves. This has arisen due to 
additional retained business rates in the Collection Fund of £954k, as a result of the 
reduction in provision required for one remaining power station appeal. This additional 
income results in a surplus on the Collection Fund in 2018-19 of £1.004m, of which the 
SHDC share will be £402k. This has now been included in the draft General Fund budget 
for 2018-19.

2.1.5 It has taken some time to work through some of the 2017-18 budget assumptions made. 
However, this detailed work has now been completed in conjunction with budget holders to 
review all current budget assumptions and savings targets to ensure consistency with the 
Moving Forward Savings Programme. In addition all income and recharge budgets have 
been reviewed to ensure that these are robust and achievable.

2.1.6 Detailed “budget challenge sessions” have now been held with all mangers to identify 
immediate surplus budget capacity and to ensure that the revenue budget is sustainable. 

2.1.7 The budget management process for 2018-19 is being refined to ensure that all budgets 
are owned and managed by budget holders with the support of finance staff with updated 
budget manager training planned for March 2018. 

2.1.8 The content and presentation of future budget management reports will be updated to 
improve the information available to Members throughout the year. This will include regular 
briefings for portfolio holders on the budgets for their area.

Page 100



2.1.9 In addition increased investment has been made through reserves to provide capacity to 
ensure delivery of transformational projects and contractual reviews.

2.1.10 The budget will continue to be closely monitored and challenged during the remainder of 
the current financial year and where possible options/action identified to reduce the forecast 
deficit.

2.1.11 As a result of the work carried out and the ongoing savings through the Moving Forward 
Programme, the Council will start 2018-19 with a budget surplus. 

2.1.12 As part of the announcements around the Settlement for 2018-19 the government has 
indicated that there will be one off adjustments required to the 2017-18 business rates tariff 
values to reflect the revaluation of business rates in 2017. The adjustment value for South 
Holland’s tariff in 2017-18 is an increase of £326k. This will be paid to the government in 
2018-19 through an adjustment to the 2018-19 tariff value. This is reflected in the 2018-19 
budget assumptions. However, if this is confirmed then it may be appropriate for any such 
payments to be accounted for in the 2017-18 financial year. This will be dealt with through 
the closure of the 2017-18 accounts and could provide an additional cost pressure to the 
2017-18 outturn position.  

2.2 Moving Forward Programme

2.2.1 The 2017-18 budget included savings targets for the Moving Forward programme of £675k.  
The programme is currently forecast to achieve savings of £598k in the current year– 
including implementation of the Place Review.  Activity is currently underway to assess how 
this programme may be accelerated.

2.2.2 These savings are included in the forecast at 2.1.3 above.  Details of the Moving Forward 
Programme are shown in the table:

Forecast 
Variance

£000

Target within Revised Estimates (646)
Additional savings required re Contracts Team (29)
Total savings required (675)

Current Projected in year savings:
Digitalisation -
Commercialisation (361)
Organisational Design
Aligning Public Services

(237)
-

Forecast savings to be achieved (598)

Projected (Over)/ Under Achievement 77

Page 101



2.3 General Fund Capital Programme

2.3.1 The original 2017-18 Capital Programme has been subject to a number of amendments to 
deliver a revised budget which reflects previous year scheme underspends and changes to 
approved schemes. 

2.3.2 The detailed 2017-18 General Fund capital budget and forecast is shown in Appendix 1 
and summarised in the following table. 

Project

Revised 
2017-18
Estimate 

Forecast 
2017-18
Outturn

Forecast
2017-18
Variance 

£000 £000 £000
 
Housing Related Schemes 1,666 1,482 (184)
Infrastructure & Buildings 1,114 564 (550)
Other Capital Schemes 906 706 (200)

Total Approved Schemes 3,686 2,752 (934)

Schemes Subject to Approval 1,379 - (1,379)
    
Total General Fund Capital Programme 5,065 2,752 (2,313)
    
Financed  By:    
Capital Receipts 1,335 457 (878)
Borrowing 1,006 1,117 111
Grants and Contributions 1,233 737 (496)
Direct Revenue Funding 1,491 441 (1,050)
 5,065 2,752 (2,313)

2.3.3 The above table shows a forecast spend of £2.752m against a revised budget of £3.686m 
for those schemes which have received detailed approval, a forecast underspend of 
£0.934m as a result of:

 Disabled Facilities Grant funding of £260k, which is proposed to be slipped into 
2018-19:

 Accelerated investment of £111k in Welland Homes to reflect the latest programme 
phasing due to the first tranche of investment in the scheme at Parkside Crescent, 
Spalding (subject to Cabinet & Council approval):

 Slippage of the ICT Infrastructure investment (£207k) into 2018-19 due to a delay in 
device refresh and Office 365 work,

 Spend against the programme of re-roofing industrial units (£167k) which will now 
be slipped into 2018-19,

 Spend against the provision for Travellers’ Sites (£200k) due to the service re-
assessing this project. A member decision will be required in due course.

Page 102



2.3.4 In addition, there is an additional £1.379m of capital budget which has not yet been 
released for spend. Of this investment in Grounds Maintenance Equipment (£50k) and 
Digital Vision (£329k) will be brought forward for approval for spend in 2018-19.  The 
unallocated growth fund provision of £1m will be taken out of the capital programme with 
future schemes brought forward on an individual basis.

2.3.5 The capital programme is subject to the development of new and revised projects and will 
be updated as necessary during Q4. 

2.4 General Fund Reserves

2.4.1 The following table sets out the estimated contributions to/from reserves during 2017-18 
and the estimated General Fund Reserves Balance at  31st March 2018:

2.4.2 Approval is now requested for the following:

 That the Council Tax Reserve be used to fund the additional NNDR levy payment 
due to central government in 2017/18;

 That £51k be added to the Capital Programme – funded from the Transformation 
Reserve for customer self-service technology in Priory Road Reception.

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)

3.1 HRA Revenue

3.1.1 The current HRA Budget forecast for 2017-18 is a surplus of £3.539m, against a forecast 
surplus of £198k, due primarily to the budgeted revenue contribution to the capital 
programme no longer being required in the current financial year. The development of the 
affordable housing programme will mean that this balance will be used to fund the Capital 
Programme, in future years. 

Reserve Balance 
1 April 
2017

Contribs
into 

Reserves

Planned
Use of  

Reserves

Balance
 31 March 

2018
£000 £000 £000 £000

Transformation 809 - (239) 570
Investment and Growth 4,752 1,099 (468) 5,383
Earmarked Grants 254 0 (160) 94
Council Tax 2,082 220 (1,164) 1,138
Insurance 220 - (220) 0
Replacement & Refurbishment 225 136 (167) 194

Total Specific GF Reserves 8,342 1,455 (2,418) 7,379

General Reserve 2,064 - - 2,064

Total Reserves 10,406 1,455 (2,418) 9,443

Page 103



3.1.2 The current forecast position includes one-off redundancy and actuarial strain costs 
totalling £387k arising from the implementation of the Place Review. The ongoing impact of 
the review will deliver estimated full-year staffing savings of £510k across HRA Budgets in 
addition to operational efficiency savings against non-staff budgets. Further work is now 
being carried out to implement new operating policies and processes and revised charging 
arrangements, to procure a contractor to provide voids and responsive maintenance 
support around the reduced core multi-skilled workforce. This review will be implemented 
during the current financial year with the full benefit of the service redesign delivered in 
2018-19.

3.1.3 The table below details the forecast outturn against the original budget for 2017-18:

Notes to HRA Table:

1. Rent Income – Dwellings - This budget relates solely to property rents net of 
anticipated void period losses. Additional income of £23k is forecast, assuming the 
same levels of income in quarter 4 as in the first three quarters. 

2. Charges for Services & Facilities - This budget includes income to the HRA in 
respect of Wardens Service Charges, Alarm Monitoring, Sewerage Charges, and 
other HRA Fees and Charges. The variation from budget relates to Alarm 
Monitoring service charges which have been moved back to the HRA from the 
General Fund, the expenditure for which is shown within Special Services, and also 
Wardens service charge income for which the budget is understated. 

Area Budget
2017-18

Forecast
2017-18

Variance
2017-18 Note

Income:
£000 £000 £000

Rent Income – Dwellings (15,024) (15,047) (23) 1
Charges for Services and Facilities (958) (1,171) (213) 2

(15,982) (16,218) (236)
Expenditure:
Repairs & Maintenance 3,486 3,234 (252) 3
Supervision & Management 2,343 2,758 415 4
Special Services 1,128 1,286 158 5
Rents, Rates, Taxes and Other Charges 70 70 - 6
Increase in Provision for Bad Debts 119 119 - 7
Depreciation and Impairment of Assets 2,300 2,866 566 8
Debt Management Costs 75 80 5 9

9,521 10,413 892

Net Cost of Services (6,461) (5,805) 656

Interest Payable 2,348 2,348 - 10
HRA Investment Income (62) (82) (20) 11
Capital Expenditure funded by the HRA 3,977 - (3,977) 12
(Surplus)/Deficit in year (198) (3,539) (3,341)

HRA Balances b/f (8,968) (8,968) -
(Surplus)/Deficit in year (198) (3,539) (3,341)
HRA Balance c/f (9,166) (12,507) (3,341)

Page 104



3. Repairs & Maintenance - This budget reflects the cost of revenue repairs and 
maintenance on the Councils properties and includes:

- responsive repairs reported by tenants,
- work to re-let void properties, 
- planned maintenance including asbestos management, planned painting and 

essential maintenance of footpaths & roadways, and 
- cyclical maintenance such as gas and electrical servicing.

The current forecast includes one-off redundancy and pension fund strain costs, but 
this is offset by reduced forecasts for gross pay and the in-year maintenance 
programme.

4. Supervision & Management - This budget reflects the core supervision and 
management costs in relation to the Councils properties and includes:

- tenancy allocations,
- the cost of rent collection,
- housing advice and enabling,
- tenant participation,
- estate management,
- administration of the right to buy scheme, and
- general management including support service costs and the HRA share of 

the Council’s “Corporate and Democratic Core”.

The overall supervision and management variance in 2017-18 is £415k due to 
changes in staffing allocations to reflect new roles and responsibilities following the 
Place Review, one-off redundancy and pension fund strain costs and the use of 
agency staff to cover key posts. There are also increased recharges from the 
General Fund to cover additional services (Facilities Management and Legal 
Services), along with inflationary increases on recharges which have historically 
remained static. 

5. Special Services - This budget includes alarm monitoring, sheltered housing, 
community facilities and housing sewerage works.

6. Rents, rates, taxes and other charges - This budget relates to rent and business 
rates for operational assets.

7. Increase in Provision for Bad Debts - The Council reviews its bad debt provision 
on a regular basis to ensure that there is sufficient provision to cover the non-
recovery of current and former tenant rent arrears. The current budget provision is 
sufficient in respect of current arrears but this will need to be reviewed as part of the 
5 year MTFP forecasts to reflect the proposed roll-out of Universal Credit.

8. Depreciation and Impairment of Assets - The Council is required to calculate 
annual depreciation on its dwellings and operational assets. This sum is transferred 
to the major repairs reserve to finance capital investment to maintain properties to 
decent homes standards.

9. Debt Management Costs - This budget reflects the cost of managing the HRA long 
term debt. 

10. Interest Payable - This budget relates to the annual interest payable by the Council 
on the debt taken on as part of the national changes in 2012/13 to make Council 

Page 105



Housing self-financing. The debt is at a fixed rate of interest so there is no variance 
from budget.

11. HRA Investment Income - This relates to interest earned through investment of 
HRA cash balances.

12. Capital Expenditure funded by the HRA - The Housing Revenue Account makes 
an annual revenue contribution to support the HRA Capital Programme. The need to 
develop the affordable housing programme currently means that the contribution is 
not required in this financial year. The balance will be carried forward to fund capital 
expenditure in future years. 

3.2 HRA Capital Programme

3.2.1 The HRA capital programme is currently showing forecast spend of £3.617m against a 
budget of £6.156m for approved schemes. In addition there is a budget of £3.851m which 
has not yet been released for spend. 

3.2.2 The following table summarises current HRA capital programme and funding:

Project

Revised 
17-18

Estimate
Forecast 
Outturn

Forecast
Variance

 £000 £000 £000

Decent Homes 4,134 2,835 (1,299)
Major Area schemes 128 128 0
IT / System 184 184 0
Aids & Adaptations 400 300 (100)
Affordable Housing 1,310 170 (1,140)
Total Approved Schemes 6,156 3,617 (2,539)

Schemes Subject to Approval
Affordable Housing 3,851 0 (3,851)
 
Total - HRA 10,007 3,617 (6,390)
 
 
Financed  By:
Capital Receipts 1,161 558 (603)
Direct Revenue Funding 3,977 0 (3,977)
Major Repairs Reserve 4,869 3,059 (1,810)
 10,007 3,617 (6,390)

3.2.3 The forecast underspend of £6.390m has arisen due to:

Page 106



 Decent Homes works are currently £1.3m underspent due to the re-roofing contract 
not yet being let and unspent contingency funding.  Heating upgrade planned works 
are progressing.

 The affordable housing relates to schemes at Small Drove, Weston Road and 
Severn Road, Spalding. These schemes have now slipped into 2018-19 and will 
progress to detailed planning stage in spring 2018. The wider affordable housing 
programme has been reviewed as part of the 2018-19 budget and MTFS and 
additional resources are now being sought to accelerate delivery.

3.3 Housing Revenue Account Reserves

3.3.1 The following table sets out the estimated contributions to/from reserves during 2017-18 
and the estimated Housing Revenue Account Reserves Balance at  31st March 2018:

4. TREASURY MANAGEMENT

4.1 Current Revenue Forecasts

4.1.1 The cash investments held in money market funds (MMFs) and fixed investments was 
£44.2m at the end of Q3. Total interest earned on investments was £177k against a total 
profiled budget of £113k. 

4.1.2 The bank rate was increased from 0.25% to 0.50% at the Monetary Policy Committee 
meeting in November 2017 giving a welcome pick up in rates received by the Council on its 
instant access cash and new investments. Market expectation is that base rates will remain 
at 0.50% until the end of 2018.

Reserve Balance 
1 April 
2017

Contribs
into 

Reserves

Planned
Use of  

Reserves

Balance
 31 March 

2018
£000 £000 £000 £000

HRA Working Balance 8,968 3,539 - 12,507
Insurance Reserve 200 - - 200
Major Repairs Reserve 6,697 2,866 (3,059) 6,504

15,865 6,405 (3,059) 19,211

Page 107



4.1.3 The current projected outturn is for total interest income of £240k compared to a budget of 
£150k. The increased outturn position can be attributed to increased market rates and 
higher levels of investment balances. 

4.2 Security

4.2.1 The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as 
Officers believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are 
adequate to monitor the current and trend positions and amend the operational strategy to 
manage risk as conditions change. The Council uses the creditworthiness service provided 
by Link Asset Services which provides a maximum duration for investments depending on 
the colour rating calculated for each financial institution.

4.2.2 All investments held by the Council were within the recommended maximum duration at the 
time the investment was made.  Qatar National Bank has had the maximum investment 
duration reduced to 100 days from 12 months so any future investments with Qatar will not 
exceed 100 days unless the maximum duration changes.

4.2.3 The chart below shows how the Council’s funds are spread between differing 
counterparties.  

CCLA, £5,300,000

Coventry Building 
Society, 

£4,000,000

Goldman Sach IB, 
£5,000,000

Lloyds Bank, 
£2,630,685

Municipal Bonds 
Agency, £50,000

National Bank of 
Abu Dhabi, 
£5,000,000

Nationwide BS, 
£5,000,000

Qatar National 
Bank, £5,000,000

Royal Bank of 
Scotland, 

£5,000,000

Svenska 
Handelsbanken, 

£11,503

Thurrock Borough 
Council, 

£5,000,000

Welland Homes 
Equity, £876,966

Welland Homes 
Long Term Debtor, 

£1,341,643

Counterparty Exposure

Page 108



4.3 Liquidity

4.3.1 The Council’s average level of cash deposits for Quarters 1 to 3 was £41m. As at 30 
December 2017 the Council had £5.4m instant access cash available to meet cash flow 
requirements.  The table below shows the amounts held in relation to the remaining period 
to maturity. 

4.4 Yield

Budgeted Interest 2017-18               £149,900 (£87.9k General Fund and £62k HRA.)   

Actual Interest achieved to 31/12/17          £177,181 

Forecast Outturn for 2017-18          £240,000

Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID)        0.23%

Actual Yield achieved to 31/12/17          0.570%

Actual Yield outturn for 2016/17          0.554%

Actual Yield as at Q3 2016/17           0.606%

4.5 External Borrowing

4.5.1 The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its obligations 
under the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a period of 50 years 
on a maturity basis at a rate of 3.48%. No new borrowing has been undertaken during the 
financial year.

4.6 Interest Rates

4.6.1 The bank rate was increased from 0.25% to 0.50% at the Monetary Policy Committee 
meeting in November 2017 giving a welcome pick up in rates received by the Council on its 
instant access cash and new investments. Market expectation is that base rates will remain 
at 0.50% until the end of 2018.

Page 109



4.7 Counterparty Risk

4.7.1 The Council has £5m invested in Qatar National Bank who had their credit rating reduced in 
May and June 2017 by the three main credit rating agencies.  The maximum duration for 
new investments has now been reduced from 12 months to 100 days for new investments 
by our external treasury advisors.  This situation is being monitored on an ongoing basis.

4.7.2 In November 2017 Lloyds Bank had their credit outlook increased by Standard and Poors 
Global Ratings.  Following this, Link Asset Services have lengthened the maximum 
duration for investment with Lloyds Bank from six months to a year. 

5. OPTIONS

5.1 To note the report.

6. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

6.1 To provide information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council.

7. EXPECTED BENEFITS

7.1 Given the current economic climate and the potential levels of financial risk and uncertainty 
that exists within the Council’s capital and revenue budgets, it is important that financial 
performance is closely scrutinised by Members and officers.  Regular reporting will ensure 
that members are updated regularly on the overall Council financial position, in order to 
better inform future decision making.

8. IMPLICATIONS

8.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
N/A

8.2 Constitutional & Legal
The Constitution requires the Council to receive regular financial reports to keep Members 
informed and aid future decision making. Financial reporting is also required as any 
recommended changes to the Council’s budgets will require varying levels of Member or 
full Council approval. 

8.3 Contracts
N/A

8.4 Corporate Priorities
The Council’s budgets and associated spend support the Council’s Priorities.

8.5 Crime and Disorder
N/A

8.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
N/A

Page 110



8.7 Financial
This report is financial in nature and relevant financial information is contained within it.

8.8 Health & Wellbeing
N/A

8.9 Reputation
N/A

8.10 Risk Management
The regular and timely reporting of financial performance enables the Council to address 
any financial risks as and when they are identified

8.11 Safeguarding
N/A

8.12 Staffing
N/A

8.13 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales
Budget holders have been consulted with as part of the preparation of the forecast financial 
position.

8.14 Moving Forward Programme
The Council’s Moving Forward Programme includes projects to deliver financial savings in 
the current and future years. These projects are being monitored and the report references 
the financial details of the Moving Forward Programme where relevant. 

9. WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
All

10. ACRONYMS
N/A.

Background papers:- The approved 2017-18 budget presented to Council in February 
2017

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Jane Crosby, Ray Fleming Strategic Business Partner, Interim 

Strategic Business Partner
Telephone Number 01507 613255
Email: jane.crosby@cpbs.com, ray.fleming@cpbs.com

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory and Discretionary Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix 1 General Fund Capital Programme 2017-18

Page 111



Appendix 1

General Fund Capital Programme 2017-18

Project

Revised 
17-18

Estimate 
£’000

Forecast 
Outturn 

£‘000

Forecast
Variance 

£‘000
 
Housing Related Schemes:    
Disabled Facilities Grants 585 325 (260)
Decent Homes Unfit And Disrepair 75 40 (35)
Welland Homes Developments 1,006 1,117 111

1,666 1,482 (184)

Infrastructure & Buildings
Priory Road DWP Works 350 350 0
SHDC Self Service Reception 51 51 0
Council Chamber Conference Mic System 28 28 0
ICT Infrastructure 336 129 (207)
Digital Vision 182 6 (176)
Warden Tree Industrial Estate 47 0 (47)
Fleet Road Industrial Estate 55 0 (55)
Railway lane Industrial Estate 65 0 (65)

1,114 564 (550)

Other Capital Schemes:
Travellers Sites 201 1 (200)
Grants For Growth 371 371 0
Garden Waste 240 240 0
Appropriation of Land 94 94 0

906 706 (200)

Total Approved Schemes 3,686 2,752 (934) 

Schemes Subject to Approval:    
Grounds Maintenance Equipment 50 0 (50)
Digital Vision 329 0 (329)
Growth Fund 1,000 0 (1,000)
Total General Fund Capital Programme 5,065 2,752 (2,313)
    
Financed  By:    
Capital Receipts 1,335 457 (878)
Borrowing 1,006 1,117 111
Grants and Contributions 1,233 737 (496)
Direct Revenue Funding 1,491 441 (1,050)
 5,065 2,752 (2,313)

Page 112



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: The Portfolio Holder Housing and Health and the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151)

To: Cabinet – 13 February 2018

Author: Matthew Hogan, Strategic Housing Manager 

Subject Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21

Purpose: To consider the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy for adoption

Recommendation: 

1) That the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 is adopted by South Holland District 
Council

2) In order to ensure that the strategy and the associated delivery plan remain relevant, that a 
full review of the data under-pinning the strategy is commenced within six months of 
adoption of the strategy.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Homelessness Act 2002 places a statutory duty upon local housing authorities to adopt 
a strategy setting out the approach that they will adopt in order to prevent and mitigate 
homelessness in their areas. 

1.2 For many years, the seven district councils of Lincolnshire have worked collaboratively in 
order to fulfil this statutory duty. This collaboration has predominantly been achieved 
through the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy Group (LHSG). The group, which has 
existed for around fifteen years and consists of the lead housing officers for the seven 
districts, has a long standing history of collaborative working around homelessness. This 
includes joint working on funding bids to support the delivery of countywide projects, joint 
engagement with other key partners on shared issues relating to homelessness, and the 
production and delivery of a shared homelessness strategy. 

1.3 The previous Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy ran from 2012 until 2016. During that 
period, the joint working through the LHSG achieved a number of notable outcomes, 
including; 

 Securing over £1m in government grant for countywide initiatives with links to 
homelessness, significantly supported by the seven districts being able to 
demonstrate to central government a shared agenda around homelessness 
prevention. 

 Utilising this funding, the LHSG took the lead on the commissioning of the first 
Lincolnshire-wide ‘rough sleeper outreach service’; a service that has provided 
support to 1,395 individual rough sleepers across Lincolnshire since 2012. 

Page 113

Agenda Item 9.



 Working collaboratively, securing £430k in funding to support the provision of 
supported accommodation for victims of domestic abuse in Lincolnshire

 Working with Lincolnshire County Council to design a new model for housing-
related support services across Lincolnshire; a model which went live in June 2016 
and now provides supported accommodation for homeless households in every 
district of Lincolnshire (included 27 places in South Holland), alongside a 
countywide support service for those who require help to maintain their tenancy. 

 Establishing a new protocol between Lincolnshire County Council Children Services 
teams and the seven districts in relating to youth homelessness, which has seen 
notable improvements in the support provided to young people who lose their 
accommodation. 

1.4 Furthermore, during this period authorities in Lincolnshire has worked both individually and 
collaboratively to prevent the homelessness of in excess of 9,700 households. During 
2016/17 South Holland District Council prevented the homelessness of 352 households, 
supported by the countywide initiatives put in place by the LHSG. 

1.5 This report relates to the new Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21, which has 
been produced by the seven districts to cover the forthcoming four year period. The 
principle purpose of the Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 is to define the key matters of 
shared significance across the seven districts of Lincolnshire in relation to homelessness 
prevention over the coming four years, and to provide a basis from which new countywide 
initiatives can be pursued. The strategy is currently passing through all seven district 
councils and Lincolnshire County Council on route to adoption. 

1.6 In summary, the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 is structured around the 
following priority areas;

 Partnerships - A need to developing and maintaining strong partnerships between 
the different agencies with links to homelessness, both at a strategic and an 
operational level. This is because effective homelessness prevention requires 
partners to work in collaboration, communicate effectively and share intelligence. 
The proposed approach to the delivery of the strategy (as set out in 1.8) sets out 
one of the many measures that the group overseeing the delivery of the strategy will 
pursue in order to strengthen partnerships in Lincolnshire. 

 Prevention – The strategy reiterates the existing and long-held policy position of 
district councils in Lincolnshire that services and initiatives should focus on the 
prevention of homelessness, as opposed to focusing on dealing with homelessness 
once it has occurred. 

 Protecting vulnerable individuals, including rough sleepers – The strategy has 
a focus upon the need to ensure that the most vulnerable individuals are protected 
from experiencing homelessness. This includes a focus on preventing people from 
falling into rough sleeping, and for ensuring support is in place for those already on 
the streets. The ‘ACTion Lincs’ project, highlighted in 1.9, will play a key role in 
delivering this priority. 

 Ensuring access to the right housing, including supported housing – The 
strategy identifies a need to ensure that residents access the right type of housing 
that is suitable to meet their needs and their affordability. This is especially in 
relation to supported housing and ‘move on’ accommodation, which plays a critically 
important role in preventing and alleviating homelessness in Lincolnshire. A key 

Page 114



project for the early years of the strategy will focus around working with Lincolnshire 
County Council around their forthcoming review of supported housing services. 

1.7 These priorities have been defined following analysis of the key national, countywide and 
local factors that are likely to have an impact upon homelessness in Lincolnshire over the 
coming four year period. These factors include the following; 

 The increases in recorded homelessness and rough sleeping in Lincolnshire 
between 2012 and 2017, and the key drivers that sit behind this increase in 
homelessness. These drivers include a high number of households being evicted 
from the private rented sector, homelessness as a result of domestic abuse, and 
homelessness as a result of parental eviction. 

 The forthcoming introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act, which represents 
a significant expansion in the duties placed upon local authorities in relation to the 
levels of support that they will be expected to provide to individual homeless 
households, and will reiterate the need to focus on homelessness prevention. 

 The challenges posed by a continued under-supply of new affordable and 
supported housing in Lincolnshire, and the national policy picture that influences the 
supply of such housing.

 The continued government focus on welfare reform, and the challenges and 
opportunities that these reforms create for those at risk of homelessness

 Changes to national policy that may impact upon the continued supply of private 
rented accommodation in Lincolnshire; accommodation which plays an important 
role in meeting housing need and demand. 

 The forthcoming plans of Lincolnshire County Council to review the housing-related 
support services that they currently fund; a review that the seven districts, working 
through the LHSG, will seek to play a key role in influencing and shaping. 

1.8 The delivery of the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy will be facilitated through a revised 
governance and programme management structure for the LHSG. The details of this new 
approach to delivery of the strategy are set out below:

 Delivery Plan. The Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy will be supported by a ‘live’ 
delivery plan. The delivery plan will be focused around a small number of distinct 
countywide projects that will deliver the aims of the wider strategy. The delivery plan 
will continue to be reviewed throughout the lifespan of the strategy. 

 Homelessness Prevention Programme Manager. Utilising government grant 
secured by the seven districts in 2017, a new programme manager has been 
appointed to oversee the delivery of the strategy. The programme manager will take 
ownership of developing and delivering the projects contained within the wider 
‘delivery plan’. They will also take ownership over seeking out new funding 
opportunities to deliver countywide programmes which will support the delivery of 
the strategy. The Homelessness Programme Manager will report to the LHSG. 
Amanda Pauling, who commenced in the role in November 2017, is employed by 
West Lindsey District Council to work on behalf of the entire LHSG in overseeing 
the delivery of the strategy. 

 Homelessness Prevention Strategy Network. As a means of building the inter-
partnership relationships required to deliver the strategy and better prevent 
homelessness across Lincolnshire, a Homelessness Strategy Network will be 
created. The group will consist of a wide network of voluntary and statutory sector 

Page 115



stakeholders, and will exist in order to increase collaboration, facilitate the sharing 
of intelligence, and build joint working around the delivery of the countywide 
strategy and associated delivery plan. The group will be chaired by the 
Homelessness Prevention Programme Manager. The group will meet on a quarterly 
basis. 

1.9 Work is already underway to explore and/or deliver a number of key projects which will 
support the delivery of the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21. These projects 
include the ‘ACTion Lincs’ project. This is a Lincolnshire-wide project aimed at supporting a 
defined cohort of the 150 of the most vulnerable rough sleepers in Lincolnshire over a four 
year period. The project is the result of a £1.3m funding application made by the seven 
districts through the LHSG to the DCLG in late 2016. Officers at South Holland District 
Council played a leading role in driving the bid for funding for this project, given available 
evidence concerning the extent of rough sleeping in the district. This project went ‘live’ in 
September 2017, following a successful funding bid to the DCLG from the LHSG. 

1.10 It should be noted that the data underpinning strategy relates to the 2016-17 period. In 
order to ensure that the strategy remains relevant, it is proposed that a review of the data 
underpinning the strategy is commenced within six months of adoption of the strategy 
(scheduled for Q3 2018/19). Such a review would be timely, given that from April 1st 2018 
the national approach to collating data on homelessness is being revised to reflect the 
Homelessness Reduction Act (which is due to take effect from April 2018), and that the full 
suite of countywide data from the financial year 2017/18 will also become available during 
Summer 2018. 

1.11 It is also worth noting that in addition to providing the basis for countywide joint working and 
initiatives in relation to homelessness, many of the key challenges identified in the strategy 
are also highly pertinent to projects and initiatives specific to South Holland. It is proposed 
that a separate action plan, setting out the local activity that the authority will undertake to 
deliver the strategy, will be developed throughout the course of 2018. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Adopt the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 (Recommended). Under this 
recommendation, the authority will adopt the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21. 
Working through its membership of the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy Group, the 
council will work with its partners to deliver a programme of countywide activity aimed at 
reducing and mitigating homelessness. The adoption of the document also ensures that the 
Council continues to meet its statutory duty under the Homelessness Act 2002 to adopt a 
homelessness strategy.  

2.2 Do Nothing (Not Recommended). Under this option, the authority will not adopt the 
Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21. As the strategy is a shared document that 
underpins the existing working relationship between Lincolnshire district councils on 
homelessness, not adopting the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 would likely 
impact upon the council’s continued involvement within the partnership that is the 
Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy Group. The council would also need to explore other 
means of meeting its statutory duty under the Homelessness Act 2002 to adopt a 
homelessness strategy, most likely achieved through the creation and the adoption of a 
district specific document. 

Page 116



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To adopt a revised strategy for the prevention of homelessness in Lincolnshire. To meet 
the council’s statutory duties under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2002. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The seven districts of Lincolnshire have a long and productive history around joint working 
on homelessness. This joint working has been underpinned by a shared strategy and a 
partnership group. 

4.2 Looking forward, it is intended that a revised strategy and a new approach to governance 
around the delivery of the strategy will ensure that future joint working on homelessness in 
Lincolnshire remains as effective as it has been in the past.

4.3 One further benefit to be realised is that, in adopting the strategy, the council’s statutory 
duties under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2002 would be met until 2021. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no such implications associated with this 
recommendation 

5.2 Constitutional & Legal

5.2.1 In adopting the strategy, the council’s statutory duties under the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2002 would be met until 2021.

5.2.2 This is not a policy falling within the Council’s Policy Framework in Article 4 of the 
Constitution. As such, determination of the policy is a Cabinet function.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no such implications associated with this 
recommendation

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 There is a strong alignment between the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 and 
the delivery of the council’s corporate priorities. This includes the council’s priorities in 
relation to ‘developing safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities while 
protecting the most vulnerable’. 

5.5 Crime and Disorder

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no such implications associated with this 
recommendation

Page 117



5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no such implications associated with this 
recommendation

5.7 Financial

5.7.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no such implications associated with this 
recommendation

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 There is a strong alignment between the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 and 
the council’s work around promoting the health and wellbeing of its residents, specifically in 
relation to the work relating to the prevention and alleviation of rough sleeping. It is 
intended that the delivery of the projects that underpin the Lincolnshire Homelessness 
Strategy 2017-21 will make a significant contribution to supporting the health and wellbeing 
of residents. 

5.9 Reputation

5.9.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no specific reputational implications associated 
with this recommendation, beyond the matter that the adoption the strategy will ensure that 
the council’s statutory duties in relation to the Homelessness Act 2002 are met. 

5.10 Risk Management

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no specific risk management implications 
associated with this recommendation,

5.11 Safeguarding

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no such implications associated with this 
recommendation

5.12 Staffing

5.12.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no such implications associated with this 
recommendation

5.13 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

5.13.1 There is no statutory requirement to publically consult on the development of a 
homelessness strategy. Despite this, the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 has 
been developed in conjunction with a number of key statutory and non-statutory partners, 
including homelessness charities, service providers, housing associations and ‘blue light’ 
services. 

Page 118



5.14 Transformation Programme

5.14.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no such implications associated with this 
recommendation

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All wards

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 DCLG – Department for Communities and Local Government / LHSG – Lincolnshire 
Homelessness Strategy Group

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Matthew Hogan, Strategic Housing Manager 
Telephone Number 01775 764524
Email: Matthew.Hogan@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Y 

Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021 Lincolnshire
Homelessness

Strategy
2017-2021

Page 121



contents
Welcome

Lincolnshire in context

Boston

City of Lincoln

East Lindsey 

North Kesteven 

South Holland

South Kesteven

West Lindsey

Reflecting on the previous Lincolnshire 

Homelessness Strategy 2012 – 2016

Strategy introduction

Homelessness in context in Lincolnshire

Priorities, Delivery Plan and Governance

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

3

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

2

4

5

6

8

10 

12 

14

16

18

20

23

37

49

P
age 122



IT Strategy 2015 - 2017Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

4

welcome
Welcome to the fourth Homelessness Strategy produced 
by Lincolnshire housing authorities. The strategy sets out 
the key challenges, priorities and objectives for preventing 
and tackling homelessness across Lincolnshire over the 
next five years. 

Local authorities and their partners face unprecedented 
change, economic challenges and significant welfare, 
housing and planning policy developments. 

Over recent period the current government has introduced 
substantial and wide-ranging changes meaning that the 
period ahead will be one of the most challenging for local 
authorities and their partners. 

Homelessness is a complex issue that cuts across many 
policy areas. Local authorities have long recognised that 
partnership working is the key to tackling homelessness. 
Now more than ever we need to work together to respond 
to an environment of rapid change. The potential impact 
of a wide range of policy changes on people vulnerable to 
experiencing homelessness cannot be underestimated. 

The strategy is supported by a delivery plan which 
clearly sets out the short, medium and longer term 
activities to deliver an effective homelessness strategy for 
Lincolnshire. To ensure the strategy remains relevant and 
can respond to change, the delivery plan will be regularly 

monitored by the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 
Group and will be reviewed annually. 

Over the past four years Lincolnshire has experienced 
both an increase in homelessness, alongside an increase 
in the complexity of the needs of individuals and 
households affected by homelessness. 

During the lifetime of this strategy we will see significant 
changes which, without innovation, collaboration and 
partnership may lead to increased homelessness amongst 
vulnerable households. In order to respond to the 
challenges ahead we must build on our relationships with 
other statutory services, registered providers, employment 
and skills colleagues and financial inclusion services, all 
of whom will play a larger role in preventing homelessness 
over coming years. With continued pressures on the level 
of available resource across local authorities and their 
partners, we will have to be innovative in our approach 
to homeless prevention, develop further initiatives and 
make best use of our collective resources to improve 
the lives of those who are at risk of, or are experiencing, 
homelessness across Lincolnshire.

This strategy represents a partnership response to 
preventing and tackling homelessness. We would like to 
thank all of the individuals and organisations who have 
contributed to the development of the strategy.

5

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Lincolnshire 
in context
Lincolnshire is the fourth largest county in England, 
covering 5921 sq. km. It is also the fourth most sparsely 
populated. It is a county of contrasts, with a diverse 
landscape covering coastal, rural and urban areas with 
concentrations of population around the city of Lincoln 
and the key market towns of Gainsborough, Sleaford, 
Boston, Grantham, Louth, Skegness, Spalding and 
Stamford. Rural and coastal areas present particular 
homelessness challenges, with the coastal area 
characterised by high concentrations of deprivation 
and high levels of low paid seasonal work while rural 
areas have low population density areas, limited road 
networks and transport infrastructure coupled with 
social isolation.

743,400
Estimated population 2016

5,921km2

P
age 123



7

Boston
Covering an area of 362 square kilometres Boston 
Borough consists of the market town of Boston and 18 
rural parishes. Boston is a sub-regional centre, second 
in the county to Lincoln, and provides retail employment 
and a variety of visitor attractions. It has a strong food 
and agricultural sector as well as a stable historic 
industrial base and a port. Its historic environment is 
recognised by English Heritage as one of the most 
important in England.

Shaped by agricultural and horticultural activity, the 
Boston area has seen one of the largest increases 
in population since the 2001 Census, nationally. The 
population of Boston Borough has increased by 19.3% 
(to 66,500) since 2001. A high proportion of the increase 
has come from economic migrants, particularly from 
Portugal and Eastern Europe, placing a strain on housing 
and local services. The population is forecast to grow 
further by 10,000 for the period 2014 to 2039.

In common with many other coastal communities, Boston 
faces significant challenges. These include geographical 
isolation, low wages, an economy over-reliant on 
elementary occupations and a poor skills base. Gross 
weekly full time pay is £411.20 compared with an East 
Midlands average of £492.00 (2015) while the proportion 
employed in elementary occupations is 20.3%, more than 
double the Great Britain figure of 10.8%. However, long-
term unemployment remains below the England average. 

Although local schools are of a generally high quality, the 
proportion of residents with NVQ4 Level qualifications 
and above is significantly below the East Midlands and 
Great Britain average.

Some 19.8% of the district’s population falls within the 
20% most deprived areas in England compared to a 
Lincolnshire average of 11.7%. Private sector rented 
accommodation is of generally low quality and rents are 
higher than the East Midlands average.

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

6

£411.20
Gross weekly full 
time pay Compared with an East 

Midlands average of

£492

66,500 
19.3% increase in 
population since 2001

Having some 
of the highest 
private rents 
in the region 
and lowest full 
time wages, 
Boston faces 
real affordability 
challenges

P
age 124



8 9

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021 Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

City of Lincoln 
City of Lincoln has an estimated population of 97,065 
residents across approximately 44,600 households, with 
the average Lincoln household containing 2.21 people.

In 2015 Lincoln had ten areas that were in the highest 
10% of deprived areas nationally.  This has increased 
from seven areas in 2010 and five areas in 2007 
according to the Indices of Multiple Deprivation.  The ten 
areas equate to 16,014 Lincoln residents and 16.5% of 
the total City of Lincoln population.

Although there is growth in the local housing market 
this is at levels significantly less than that assessed as 
needed in the local plan. The highest growth is in the 
number of flats with 2,110 being built in the last ten 
years.

There has been a significant increase in the number 
of private rented properties in the last fifteen years 
and this is partly due to the growth of the universities 
and consequent student numbers. A quarter of the 
City’s total housing stock is now private rented and 
with estimates of non-decency at 36% and Category 1 
Hazards, under the Housing and Health Rating System, 
at 21% the sector present significant challenges.   

The City’s age demographic is younger than the rest of 
the County, which is mainly driven by University growth, 
but this can mask the growing demand and need for 
support and care services from the permanently resident 
population. 

In the five years from 2012/13 to 2016/17, the number 
of people formally approaching the City Council as 
homeless, with the exception of one year, stayed at 
a fairly consistent 240-250 households per annum.  
Within that though there has been a movement towards 
younger age levels presenting themselves as homeless.  
In line with the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 the 
Council is targeting more resources on homelessness 
prevention activities in forthcoming years. 

Rough sleeping in Lincoln is increasing, as evidenced 
by the formal annual rough sleeping count of 2017. 
A range of support and accommodation services are 
already operated by several agencies within the City. 
The short term focus in addressing rough sleeping is to 
develop closer partnerships between the third sector and 
statutory agencies to ensure consistency of both support 
and emergency accommodation.  
 

There is a higher proportion of 
younger people living in Lincoln, 
compared to other districts

97,065
Residents across approximately 
44,600 households

242
people as 
homeless

2,110
flats being built

P
age 125



1110

East Lindsey 
East Lindsey has an estimated population of 138,400 and 
covers approximately 1,765 square kilometres making it the 
second largest non-unitary District in England or the ninth 
largest overall if you include unitary authorities. Only four of its 
189 parishes have a population greater than 5,000.

The population is expected to increase but below national 
levels. However the percentage of working age people is set to 
decrease significantly whilst the number of over 65’s, which is 
already higher than regional and national averages, will continue 
to rise. The demand for adapted lifetime homes and health 
related services is already high and will continue to increase.

Employment, training and education opportunities are poor 
resulting in an out of work claimant count of 8,930 (11.6% of the 
working age population) for main out of work benefits including 
JSA, ESA & Income Support. The total claimant count is 12,580 
(16.4% of working age population) which includes Carers, 
Bereavement and Disability benefits as well.

Average wages in East Lindsey have traditionally fallen behind 
regional and national levels but for full-time workers this gap 
has narrowed.  Part-time workers continue to earn less than the 

national average and this gap has widened. There are few major 
employers, and lots of self-employed and micro businesses.

Being a coastal district, with circa 28,000 static caravans, brings 
many challenges. The population of Skegness area increases 
from circa 25,000 up to 250,000 during the summer months 
which generates income to individuals and the wider area but 
can also put pressure on public services. There are high levels 
of seasonal employment which creates financial uncertainty for 
many residents.

Overall, East Lindsey is ranked the 33rd most deprived local 
authority district area in England (out of 326) and there are 
approximately 4,500 children living in poverty. During summer 
months there is an increase in rough sleepers who generally 
migrate from the Midlands to the coast to make a fresh start. 

Between 1st April 2008 and 1st April 2017, the Council enabled 
the development of 1351 new affordable homes. Opportunities 
for large scale housing development are limited due to 
restrictions linked to the Wolds Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB), proximity to the coast and the risk of flooding 
and existing market town infrastructure.

Being a coastal district, 
there are high levels of 
seasonal employment

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021 Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

138,400
Estimated population

Adults claim  
key out of  
work benefits

11.6%Poor employment, 
training and education 
opportunities

28,000
static caravans bring  
many challenges

1351
New affordable  
homes

High levels  
of seasonal  
employment

P
age 126



12 13

North Kesteven 
North Kesteven has the lowest crime rate in the country 
and is ranked as the 34th best place to live according 
to Rural Quality of Life Survey.  However, there are a 
range of issues that pose challenges for residents, 
businesses, district council and other public services.  
The 2011 census showed that North Kesteven was the 
fourth fastest-growing district in England and Wales. 
Latest projections indicate this is to grow a further 6% 
by 2021, which creates additional demand on accessible 
and affordable housing, support, education and health 
services. As well as the predicted growth levels, the age 
profile of the population will change significantly with a 
projected 44% increase in the 65+ population by 2031.
  
The NK Economy is built upon traditional strengths 
relating to agriculture and associated industries.  

The district council has financial plans to invest in new 
social, affordable and private rented accommodation. 
In recent years the district has experienced growth 
in local economy and 277 jobs have been created or 
safeguarded and a further 131 local businesses have 
stated their intention to grow. Unemployment is below 
the national average but wage levels are not only 
below the national average but amongst the lowest 
in the country. Deprivation is lower than average, but 
approximately 2,200 children live in poverty. Locally 
we are experiencing an increase in mortgage lending, 
property sales and average houses prices but they 
remain below the national average. The private rented 
sector has also seen increases in rental charges but 
Local Housing Allowance rates remain unchanged for the 
second year.

The District Council has 
financial plans to invest in new 

social, affordable and private 
rented accommodation

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Growth in local 
economy and 

277 
jobs created

131 
local businesses 
have stated  
intention to growth

2,200
children live  
in poverty

111,000
Estimated population

922.6km2

44%
increase in 
65+ by 2031

P
age 127



14 15

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

South Holland 
South Holland has an estimated population of 92,000. 
The population has grown by c.20% between 2001 and 
2011, driven by a combination of inward migration from 
other parts of the UK and further afield, alongside growth 
in the ageing population locally. Whereas unemployment 
remains consistently lower than national averages, 
lower earnings locally compound the issue of housing 
affordability within South Holland. The population of 
the district is anticipated to grow significantly over 
the next 21 years, with rates of population growth 
anticipated to reach the second highest levels of 
growth within Lincolnshire. Whereas there is a buoyant 
housing market in South Holland, driven by the district’s 
excellent connectivity to places of high growth such as 
Peterborough, levels of growth have fallen short of local 
targets. Market rents in South Holland are high, and are 
comparable with those in Cambridgeshire to the south 
of the district. There is a notable gap between Local 
Housing Allowance rates and local market rents. 

The number of applications for assistance with 
homelessness to the council has increased over the 
past 12 months, leading to corresponding increases in 
temporary accommodation use. The district has also 
seen an increase in rough sleeping over the past few 
years. In response to these challenges, South Holland 
District Council is seeking to play an activity role in 
increasing supply of new housing within the district. 
The authority has set up Welland Homes Ltd (a private 
company with a remit to develop new housing for market 
rent), alongside pursuing a number of new affordable 
housing developments through the council’s Housing 
Revenue Account. The council is also planning for 
major housing growth through two Sustainable Urban 
Extensions within Spalding; the largest settlement within 
the district. Growth is also planned for Crowland and 
Holbeach.

39.2%
own their own 
home without a 
mortgage

33.3%
home owners 
with a mortgage

12.7%
privately rent/rent 
within  
social housing

mortgage renting

The population is expected 
to increase significantly 

over the next 21 years

6,250+
new homes 
planned over 2 
major sites

20% 
population
increase since 2001

P
age 128



16 17

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

South Kesteven 
South Kesteven is a district of divides. Stamford in the 
south of the district is very affluent yet areas of Grantham 
in the north of the district rank among the 10% most 
deprived neighbourhoods in the country. In 2013 the 
Sunday Times voted Stamford as the Best Place to Live  
in Britain. Many households cannot afford to buy a house  
in Stamford. 
 
The Office for National Statistics data shows that South 
Kesteven will see the highest increase across the county 
of the 75+ age group between 2012 and 2037. This means 
that the demand on accessible and affordable housing will 
increase whilst the number of people of working age and 
paying tax for much needed services will decrease.  

The district council intends to invest approximately £8m 
on affordable housing over the next four to five years.  
The number of unemployment claimants has reduced by 
more than a half in the last four years.  Between April 2015 
and April 2016, there was a drop in claimant rate of over 
4%.  The median average house price across the whole 
of South Kesteven in 2012 was £156,500.  Between 2009 

and 2013, there has been an increase in the house prices 
in all areas of South Kesteven. The increase has ranged 
from 4% in Market Deeping to 14% in Stamford.   

The Local Housing Allowance rates have remained the 
same in South Kesteven for the last five years. Only 
about half of two and three bed private rental properties 
available to let in Grantham are at or below Local Housing 
Allowance rates; most if not all of the rental properties in 
Stamford and Bourne are above the LHA rate and all 4+ 
bed properties are above the LHA rate (Rightmove figures 
as at 2016). 

The Peterborough Sub-Regional Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment shows that the indicative income required 
to buy a property at the lower quartile purchase price is: 
£37,100; for a lower quartile private rent: £19,400; for an 
affordable rent: £15,500 and for a social rent: £13,400 
(figures as at 2013).  These statistics show that many 
households are priced out of private homeownership and 
many households who need to rely on welfare benefits are 
priced out of the private rental sector.

Stamford is a very expensive 
place to live, making housing 

unaffordable to many households 

Stamford
best place to live in Britain
Sunday Times 2013

SK will see the highest in-
crease across the  
county of 75+ age group

£8m
on affordable 
housing over the 
next  
4 - 5 yrs

P
age 129



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

18 19

The district is 
predominantly rural 

and has a diverse 
housing market 

West Lindsey 
The district of West Lindsey covers the area immediately 
north of Lincoln and forms the north west gateway to 
Lincolnshire. The district is predominantly rural and has 
a diverse housing market with significantly higher levels 
of demand and higher house prices and affordability 
challenges in villages closer to Lincoln compared to the 
main market town of Gainsborough. This is also reflected 
in the levels of deprivation and unemployment across the 
district. 

Whilst some of the West Lindsey villages are amongst 
the least deprived in the country, the South West Ward of 
Gainsborough is one of the most deprived. This area is 
characterised by a dense private rented sector requiring a 
number of council initiatives to improve housing standards 
and reduce vulnerability. The Council is working hard 
to tackle empty homes and has recently introduced a 
selective licensing scheme to improve the standards and 
management of private sector properties. A number of 
successful multi-agency approaches to tackling the wider 
issues that contribute to deprivation and vulnerability 
across the District are underway. 

Varied micro markets across former Ministry of Defence 
villages, rural villages and market towns within the district 
present very different housing challenges. 

Gainsborough has been identified as an area in which 
there will be significant growth and development over 
the next few years. Gainsborough is one of the few areas 
of the Country to have achieved Housing Zone status, 
with ambitious plans to develop a minimum of 800 new 
homes on brownfield sites within the town. Further land 
is allocated to accommodate an additional 3635 which 
represents 12% of the total growth planned for Central 
Lincolnshire

Over the last 10 years, West Lindsey has experienced 
4.3% growth in population and it is anticipated that by 
2030, the population will increase by 30% which is the 
highest level of growth in the county and compares with a 
regional level of 20% and a national level of 15%.

West Lindsey has an ageing population. Some 21% of the 
population in the census was of retirement age compared 
with 19% in the rest of the country. It is envisaged that 
this will rise to 32% by 2037. This is also reflected in a 
lower than average proportion (75%) of people who are 
economically active. This means that the demand on 
accessible and affordable housing will increase whilst the 
number of people of working age and paying tax for much 
needed services will decrease.

West Lindsey District Council’s housing stock was 
transferred to Acis Group in 1999. 

4.3% growth
in population

30% increase
by 2030

21%
of population in  
the census was  
of retirement age

P
age 130



20 21

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Reflecting on the previous 
Lincolnshire Homelessness 
Strategy 2012 – 2016 
Lincolnshire’s Homelessness Strategy 2012 – 2016 focused 
on five key priority areas:

• Priority 1: Prevention
• Priority 2: Partnership working
• Priority 3: Welfare reform
• Priority 4: Young people
• Priority 5: Rough sleeping
 
Through working together, the Lincolnshire Homelessness 
Strategy 2012-16 achieved the following key outcomes:

• Prevented in excess of 9,700 households across 
Lincolnshire from experiencing homelessness

• Secured around £1 million of additional homelessness-
related government grant for Lincolnshire, which has 
been used to fund services and initiatives that have 
contributed towards the prevention of homelessness

The strategy and partnership also secured the following 
achievements which made a significant contribution to 
reducing homelessness across Lincolnshire:

PREVENTION

• We focused our resources to target the most vulnerable 
enabling them to remain in their own homes or obtain 
suitable alternative accommodation, mitigating as far 
as possible the impacts of welfare reform. The range 
of measures deployed include the use of discretionary 
housing payments, charitable funding, government grants 
and rent deposit schemes to prevent homelessness

• We delivered a ‘Breaking the Myths’ communications 
campaign, that sought to dispel the myths about 
homelessness through various media in Lincolnshire.

PARTNERSHIP WORKING

• We established a genuine collaboration to broker 
additional local and central government funding to deliver 
services such as the rough sleeper outreach team to 
redirect the lives of over 1,200 individuals

• Following a successful partnership bid of £430k we 
secured the provision of new accommodation and 
support, introducing specialist accommodation for male 
domestic abuse victims

• Through closer working with criminal justice agencies 

we enhanced our understanding of the links between 
homelessness and offending to achieve better risk 
management and enable more settled housing solutions

• Together with statutory and voluntary partners, 
we developed our Vulnerable Adult Panels across 
Lincolnshire to assist in meeting the needs of complex 
and chaotic households

WELFARE REFORM

• We have worked closely in partnership with the 
Department of Work and Pensions, Citizens Advice and 
Credit Unions to prepare for and mitigate against the 
impact of welfare reform

• Lincolnshire has taken a lead for the Universal Credit 
‘pilots’, training over 500 advisors on the implications of 
Universal Credit and how to identify support needs for 
customers, together with the setting up of digital hubs 
across Lincolnshire managed by trained volunteers

YOUNG PEOPLE

• We worked in partnership with Lincolnshire County 
Council to develop a model of early intervention and 
prevention to reduce youth homelessness and developed 
a joint protocol to meet the needs of young people at risk 
of homelessness

• With a focus on early intervention to prevent youth 
homelessness, we commissioned a successful drama 
programme in schools. A total of 278 shows were 
performed during the life of the strategy to 16,589 young 
people. The project has since been commissioned by 10 

other local authority areas across the country. 
• Our youth homelessness  prevention work is cited as 

best practice by the Department for Communities and 
Local Government 

ROUGH SLEEPING

• We developed and supported implementation of rough 
sleeper outreach service operating across Lincolnshire 
and Rutland, redirecting the lives of 1,395 individuals

• Lincolnshire received national recognition from Homeless 
Link for best practice when tackling rough sleeping 
across multiple local authority areas

• Our partnership working had a significant impact on 
reducing rough sleeping across Lincolnshire by 47% in 
the first year of the outreach service  

• We encouraged members of the public to play an active 
role by reporting and referring people sleeping through 
implementation of a dedicated 0800 rough sleeper hotline

• 279 EU Nationals were connected back to their local 
communities and support networks 

• Recognising the important contribution that this service 
made to vulnerable rough sleepers, an extension for the 
funding for this service was secured for a minimum of 
three years through discussions with Public Health

P
age 131



23

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

22

Strategy introduction
The Homelessness Act 2002 requires housing authorities 
to take a long term strategic approach to preventing and 
managing homelessness. Councils are required to carry out 
regular reviews of the homelessness situation in our local 
authority areas, taking account of the activities and services 
available to prevent and tackle homelessness in addition to 
taking account of relevant national and regional policies and 
to develop a strategy based on the findings of these. 

Lincolnshire’s Homelessness Strategy 2017 – 2021 sets out 
how the seven Lincolnshire housing authorities, together with 
a range of partners, aim to prevent and tackle homelessness 
over the next five years. This is Lincolnshire’s fourth joint 
homelessness strategy; a combined strategy between 
the seven Lincolnshire district authorities who, although 
managing very diverse housing and homelessness pressures 
and needs, have committed to working to common goals to 
prevent homelessness across Lincolnshire. 

This strategy has been developed through engagement 
with stakeholders of the Lincolnshire Homelessness 
Strategy Group, elected members and service users. It has 
been informed by the findings of a homelessness review 
undertaken during 2016 and 2017. 

Engagement has taken place with statutory and voluntary 
sector partners to ensure our homelessness strategy is 
effective and relevant. Consideration has been made of 

local and wider sub-regional plans and regional plans and 
strategies. Therefore a series of engagement events and 
surveys were held to assist in the collation of data. 

It is important to acknowledge this strategy has been 
developed at a time of considerable change in the housing 
sector. Legislative changes being introduced at the time of 
writing are being implemented and will likely have significant 
implications for local authorities and our partners in tackling 
homelessness. 

NATIONAL AND LOCAL CONTEXT AND DRIVERS FOR 
CHANGE 

Over the next five years there are a number of challenges 
that are likely to impact heavily upon those who are 
vulnerable to experiencing homelessness, alongside those 
who work to prevent homelessness. These challenges 
include changes to government policy where careful 
management of the possible impacts are required, a 
continuous demand on resources in the face of tightening 
budgetary pressures, a fragile national economic picture 
and various policy areas that have the potential to impact 
on preventing and tackling homelessness but are not 
necessarily coordinated. In order to successfully prevent 
homelessness going forward, the homelessness prevention 
agenda across Lincolnshire will need to prepare those 
vulnerable to homelessness and the services that support 

P
age 132



2524

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

them for the challenges that may lie ahead. This section sets 
out the national, countywide and local context that surrounds 
some of these challenges. 

A national government focus on supporting home 
ownership, and a likely corresponding reduction in the 
supply of new homes for affordable rent 

Since the May 2015 General Election there has been a 
notable shift in central government policy in relation to 
affordable housing. Whereas previous government policy 
was strongly focused on increasing the number of homes 
available for affordable rent, prevailing government strategy 
has seen investment and policy directed towards increasing 
the supply of affordable homes designed to help households 
into home ownership. Early indications following the June 
2017 General Election suggest that supporting households 
into home ownership will remain a key theme of the 
government’s focus in relation to affordable housing. 

The government has sought to do this in a number of ways. 
The government has consulted on proposals for local 
authorities to secure a higher large proportion of new housing 
on new housing developments as ‘low cost home ownership 
housing (e.g. shared ownership and shared equity housing) 
as opposed to low cost rented housing. The government 
is also seeking to direct higher levels government grant 
for affordable housing into ‘rent to buy’ housing; a product 
aimed at working households who can afford a market rental 
property, but as a result do not have the available income to 
save for a deposit to buy. 

The government has also applied a constraint on the income 
that social landlords can derive from rented housing between 
2016 and 2020. This has had the impact of encouraging 

housing associations to build a higher proportion of homes 
for market sale and rent, as a means of cross-subsidising 
the delivery of rented housing. Whereas cross-subsidisation 
is helping housing associations to deliver rented housing, 
the investment priorities of many housing associations have 
drifted away from rented housing as a result. 

Whereas this shift in government policy will undoubtedly 
generate opportunities to support households into home 
ownership across Lincolnshire, these changes are likely to 
result in the delivery of fewer rented homes for affordable 
rent. This creates challenges for local authorities in relation 
to how they plan to meet the needs of those for whom home 
ownership is not a viable housing solution. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

A decrease in the supply of new social housing has the 
potential to significantly impact on the ability of Lincolnshire 
local authorities to meet their statutory duties in relation to 
homelessness households. The reduction in supply which 
may result from these policy changes may also limit our 
ability to utilise social housing to prevent and/or alleviate 
homelessness before it arises, and also to limit the options 
available for those in need of independent accommodation 
(such as those presently residing in supported 
accommodation). 

Over the next four years, it will become vitally important 
to the success of this strategy to ensure that the available 
supply of affordable rented housing is prioritised for the most 
vulnerable, and that those who can meet their housing needs 
through alternative tenures are supported to do so. 

Home ownership opportunities will be varied across 

Lincolnshire. One of the biggest challenges in Lincolnshire is 
to understand how many households will be able to afford 
low cost home ownership products – for some, this will 
present a new opportunity for home ownership however 
for others and in some parts of the county, this will not be 
viable. Lincolnshire’s ageing population presents additional 
challenges, with some households being unable to access 
high street borrowing options to enable home ownership. 
Housing providers will need the flexibility to be able to 
develop a range of home ownership products and must 
also consider how best to ensure that social rented stock 
prioritised for those in the greatest need. 

A likely reduction in the size of the existing pool of 
available affordable housing for rent 

In addition to limiting the supply of new affordable housing to 
rent, a number of new government initiatives may also result 
in reducing the existing stock of affordable rented housing 
across Lincolnshire. Such initiatives include the extension of 
the Right to Buy for housing associations tenants (affording 
housing association tenants the right to buy their home at 
a discount), alongside an plans to introduce a policy which 
will compel stock-owning local authorities to sell their higher 
value stock in order to fund the replacement of homes 
purchased through the extended Right to Buy scheme. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

As with the potential decrease in the supply of new 
affordable housing for rent, any reduction of the existing pool 
of homes to rent is likely to limit the ability of Lincolnshire 
local authorities and their partner organisations to utilise 
social housing to meet the needs of all but the most 
vulnerable households. Once again, it will become vitally 

important to the success of this strategy to ensure that the 
available supply of affordable rented housing is prioritised for 
the most vulnerable. 

A likely increased reliance on the private rented sector 
to meet housing need amongst vulnerable groups, and 
other PRS reforms 

With the government placing a strong emphasis on 
supporting home ownership, there are a number of factors 
that are likely to impact upon the supply of new and existing 
affordable housing for rent. Lincolnshire local authorities 
and their partners rely heavily upon the existing stock 
of affordable rented housing within the county to meet 
the needs of the most vulnerable households, including 
those who are either threatened with or have experienced 
homelessness. 

If the supply of new affordable housing for rent decreases, 
and the pool of existing stock for rent shrinks, it is likely that 
over the lifespan of this strategy there will be an increased 
reliance upon the private rented sector across Lincolnshire 
in order to meet the housing needs of those whose needs 
would have previously been met through a housing 
association or local authority home. 

This comes at a time when central government is seeking 
to encourage a higher quality private rented sector by 
introducing new standards in relation to fire safety, new 
standards in relation to lettings practices and bolstering 
consumer rights for tenants and also through utilising the tax 
system to encourage landlords to become more ‘visible’ and 
adopt more formal business arrangements. It also comes at 
a time when many local authorities are exploring becoming 
private landlords themselves, as a means of setting a higher 

P
age 133



27

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

26

standard for within the sector locally in terms of management 
practices and quality of accommodation. South Holland 
District Council is one local authority within Lincolnshire who 
has established itself as a market rented landlord. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

There is evidence of a high level of demand for private rented 
housing across all of the major towns in Lincolnshire. The 
quality and affordability of the private rented sector offer is 
however, hugely varied across Lincolnshire. 

Our evidence suggests that the private rented sector plays 
an important role in meeting housing need and demand 
across the county, however, consistent with the national 
picture, the ending of a an assured shorthold tenancy in the 
private rented sector continues to be a leading reason for 
households approaching local authorities as homeless. 

Increased reliance on the private rented sector to meet 
housing need will require those working in homelessness 
agenda across Lincolnshire to consider how we best engage 
with the sector as a means of supporting households 
to access private rented accommodation, in addition to 
supporting private landlords to provide accommodation for 
those who will come to rely upon it. Supporting vulnerable 
households in accessing the sector will become a key focus 
of our strategic approach to addressing homelessness over 
the course of this strategy. 

A government welfare reform agenda with a strong 
emphasis on supporting access to employment 

Since the 2010 and 2015 General Elections, there has been 

a strong government focus on reform to the Welfare Benefits 
system. There have been a number of national drivers 
for these reforms, including a tightening of government 
expenditure on welfare budgets and a policy focus on 
encouraging and supporting households to take up 
employment opportunities as opposed to being reliant upon 
welfare payments to meet housing and living costs. 

The government’s Welfare Reform agenda includes a 
number of key policies, most notably the introduction of 
Universal Credit (which consolidates a range of existing 
welfare payments into a single monthly payment) and the 
introduction of caps and limits of the benefit that households 
are entitled to in order to cover their living and housing costs. 
There are some specific elements of welfare reform which 
pose potential challenges to the homelessness agenda at 
a national, county and local level over the lifetime of this 
strategy. These challenges include the following: 

THE DESIGN OF KEY ASPECTS OF THE UNIVERSAL 
CREDIT SYSTEM 

A flagship policy of the government’s welfare reform 
agenda, the Universal Credit system seeks to pull together 
six means tested benefits into a single welfare payment. 
The government’s view is that the Universal Credit scheme, 
which will see a single payment of welfare benefit paid to 
households on a monthly basis, will support households in 
the transition into employment by simplifying the benefits 
system from the perspective of the claimant (thus making 
it easier for the claimant to understand how their benefits 
may change if they enter employment) whilst also preparing 
claimants for life in employment by mirroring the typical 
monthly pay cycles associated with paid work. 
A large number of housing and homelessness charities 

Lincolnshire local authorities and 
their partners rely heavily upon the 
existing stock of affordable rented 
housing within the county to meet 
the needs of the most vulnerable 
households, including those who 
are either threatened with or have 
experienced homelessness

P
age 134



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

29

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

28

have raised concerns about some elements of the design 
of the Universal Credit scheme, and how these elements 
may heighten the risk of vulnerable households claiming 
the benefit from experiencing budgeting challenges, debt 
issues and homelessness. Concerns relating to scheme 
design issues include the monthly payment of benefits 
(which will require households to effectively manage their 
income over a month long period, ending the current 
fortnightly arrangement), and the ending of direct payment 
of rent to social landlords (which will lead to claimants in 
the social sector being required to take responsibility for 
ensuring the housing elements of Universal Credit are paid 
to their housing provider). Claimants of Universal Credit 
will also be required to enter into formal arrangements with 
the Department for Work and Pensions in relation to their 
commitment to find employment. Those who cannot satisfy 
the requirements of the DWP in relation to expectations 
around finding employment may be subject to benefit 
sanctions. 

Whereas there is broad political consensus that the welfare 
system should be reformed to better support households 
into employment, a number of housing and homelessness 
charities have raised concerns about the sanctions system 
and how it may adversely affect vulnerable individuals and 
those who live chaotic lifestyles. 

At the time of writing, there are 2300 Universal Credit 
claimants in Lincolnshire. Whilst new claimants moving 
onto Universal Credit will do so only in line with the eligibility 
criteria, any change in circumstances for those claimants 
will not lead to a move away from Universal Credit, therefore 
there will be people in receipt of Universal Credit with varied 
circumstances and needs. 

THE LOWERING OF THE BENEFIT CAP FROM £26,000 
TO £20,000 

Another flagship policy of the government’s welfare reform 
system relates to the lowering of the national household 
benefit cap. The benefit cap, which limits the total annual 
value of welfare entitlement that a household can claim, was 
lowered from £26,000 to £20,000 in November 2016.

Whereas the original £26,000 cap introduced in April 
2013 broadly only affected larger out of work families, 
the proposed £20,000 cap has affected a larger number 
of households nationally, especially those in higher value 
areas where housing benefit is being claimed to support 
accommodation costs.

THE GOVERNMENT’S COMMITMENT TO THE 
‘REMOVAL OF THE SPARE BEDROOM SUBSIDY’ 

The government remains committed to the continued 
removal of the ‘spare bedroom subsidy’ for those claiming 
housing benefit whilst residing in affordable housing. This 
welfare reform, introduced in 2012, requires tenants in the 
social rented sector to make a financial contribution to their 
rent where the property that they occupy is larger than what 
their family requires. Whereas many housing providers and 
local authorities have sought to mitigate the impact of this 
policy by reviewing how they allocate and manage affordable 
housing, it remains a financial challenge for many tenants 
residing in social housing where their ability to move to 
smaller accommodation is restricted. There are proposals to 
extend the policy to include those of pensionable age who 
were previously exempt. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

The government’s strong and continued emphasis on 
utilising welfare reform as a means to encourage households 
to enter employment presents a number of challenges for the 
homelessness prevention agenda across Lincolnshire over 
the lifespan of this strategy. 

The government’s use of Universal Credit to encourage 
greater personal responsibility in relation to budgeting 
requires those working in the homelessness agenda across 
the county to consider the importance of budgeting advice 
and financial inclusion as a tool to protect and mitigate 
against vulnerable households experiencing debt and 
homelessness. 

The policy focus on capping the welfare entitlement of many 
out of work households will lead to many households being 
compelled to find employment or move to less expensive 
housing, in order to meet their accommodation and living 
costs, including households who are presently furthest away 
from the jobs market. 

Preparing households for the impacts of welfare reform 
will form a key component of our strategy to prevent 
homelessness over the coming four years. 

A shifting role for social housing in meeting housing need 

A key theme of emerging government policy in relation to 
housing is the shifting role of social housing in meeting 
housing need, with a strong focus on social housing starting 
to play the role of a ‘stepping stone’ to alternative housing 
tenures as and when the circumstances of the tenant 
improve to a point that allows them to move out of publicly 

subsidised accommodation. 

This shift is demonstrated through the Housing and Planning 
Act 2016, which has paved the way for secondary legislation 
to be introduced which, if enacted, will bring to an end the 
automatic granting of ‘lifetime tenancies’ for those in local 
authority housing. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

The government’s agenda in relation to the shifting role 
of social housing in meeting housing need presents both 
challenges and opportunities for the homelessness agenda 
across Lincolnshire. In relation to the opportunities, measures 
which assist housing providers in directing social housing 
to those in greatest need have the potential to ensure 
that opportunities are created for vulnerable households 
to benefit from a scarce resource. It will be necessary to 
revisit and review housing allocations policies and tenancy 
strategies to ensure that the social housing resource is 
prioritised for those in the greatest need. 

A growing call for local authorities to do more to prevent 
homelessness 

Nationally there is a growing call for local authorities to go 
beyond their current statutory duties and play a more direct 
and proactive approach in preventing homelessness and 
to improve the help that single people receive under the 
homelessness legislation. These calls have not only come 
from leading housing and homelessness charities, but also 
from Parliament itself. 

In August 2016, the cross-party Communities and Local 
Government Committee published the findings of its 

P
age 135



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

30 31

enquiry into homelessness. The review explored the 
factors contributing to homelessness, the present role and 
performance of local authorities in supporting those who lose 
their accommodation, and the experiences of the system of 
those who have become homeless. Much of the work has 
also drawn on the experiences of the revised homelessness 
legislation in Scotland and Wales, leading to consideration of 
whether any of the lessons learned and changes made could 
be applied in England.
 
In addition to making several recommendations in 
relation to government welfare and housing policy, the 
committee called on the government to amend the existing 
homelessness legislation. As such The Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 became law in 2017 and will go live in 
April 2018. The Act will amend Part 7 of the Housing Act 
1996 and is far reaching in its ambitions. 

Key measures in the Act include:
• An extension of the period during which an authority 

should treat someone as threatened with homelessness 
from 28 to 56 days, and clarification of the action 
an authority should take when someone applies for 
assistance having been served with a notice to leave 
market rented housing. These provisions represent a 
shift in focus to early intervention, and aim to encourage 
local housing authorities to act quickly and pro-actively, 
addressing some concerns that some previously only 
intervened at crisis point.

• A new duty to prevent homelessness for all eligible 
applicants threatened with homelessness, regardless 
of priority need. This extends the help available to 
people not in priority need, with local housing authorities 
supporting them to either stay in their accommodation 
or help them find somewhere to live and should mean 

fewer households reach a crisis situation.

• A new duty to relieve homelessness for all eligible 
homeless applicants, regardless of priority need. This 
help could be, for example, the provision of a rent 
deposit or debt advice. Those who have a priority need 
will be provided with interim accommodation whilst 
the Local Housing Authority carries out the reasonable 
steps.

• A new duty on public services to notify a local authority if 
they come into contact with someone they think may be 
homeless or at risk of becoming homeless. It is hoped 
that this measure will ensure that a person’s housing 
situation is considered when they come into contact with 
wider public services, and encourage public services 
to build strong relationships based on local need and 
circumstances. 

The legislation reflects a recognition that tackling 
homelessness is not simply a matter of increasing housing 
supply, and instead that an effective national strategy to 
tackle homelessness will need to be developed across 
a wider cross-government programme of work. At a 
national level, homelessness policy currently sits within 
the Department for Communities and Local Government, 
but is influenced by policy from many other Government 
departments including Department for Works and Pensions, 
the Department of Health and the Treasury. The committee 
recognised that policies from these departments have 
impacted on homelessness through the absence of joined 
up working and at times, as a result of contradictory policies. 
A wider, cross government strategy on homelessness 
prevention has been recommended by the committee 
report, including a focus on early intervention and a duty 
for public services to cooperate. The committee also set 

P
age 136



32 33

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

out a view that legislative change will only deliver ambitions 
to reduce homelessness if implemented as part of a 
coherent, workable, long-term national strategy for ending 
homelessness. The committee reported the view that a 
successful strategy would review the impact of national 
policy on homelessness trends and bring together local 
housing, health, justice and employment partners. 

The committee also set out a need to address the increasing 
gap between household incomes and rising rents and allow 
councils to protect and build more affordable homes. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

The extension of the statutory duties that local authorities 
have to homeless households to include a wider group 
of people beyond the most vulnerable is likely to result in 
increased costs for local authorities, requiring a renewed 
emphasis on homelessness prevention across Lincolnshire.

Proposed changes to the future funding of supported 
housing 

A policy statement issued in October 2017 set out proposed 
changes to the funding of supported housing.  These 
proposals are currently out to consultation but include 
changes to short term and transitional supported housing 
to be through a new ring fenced grant to local authorities in 
England.

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

There remains a great deal of uncertainty at the time 
of drafting this document, however, partners across 
Lincolnshire remain committed to working together to 

feed into the government consultation, undertake a needs 
analysis and develop a strategic supported housing plan.  
Throughout the life of this strategy we will need to continue 
to work together to ensure effective pathways for vulnerable 
people that rely on supported accommodation.

Depending upon the outcome of the consultation relating 
to the future funding of supported housing, the future 
provision and sustainability may prove challenging with 
such significant constraints placed on providers’ revenue. 
In addition to partners, local authorities will seek to play 
an active role in the national discussions relating to the 
proposed changes to the funding of supported housing.

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 is far reaching in its ambitions 
and includes a new duty to prevent homelessness for all eligible 

applicants threatened with homelessness, regardless of priority need

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

P
age 137



34 35

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

The term homelessness is broad, and in this section we 
consider key matters impacting on homelessness.

Some forms of homelessness are governed by law and 
this is commonly known as statutory homelessness.  The 
law is complicated but covers households which do not 
have accommodation they have a legal right to occupy, is 
accessible and physically available to the household and it 
would be reasonable for them to continue to live in. 

Local authorities  have a duty to provide free advice and 
assistance to all households threatened with homelessness, 
although in practice authorities often go beyond this to pro-
actively attempt to prevent or relieve homelessness. 

Rough sleeping is the most visible form of homelessness 
and in line with government advice, a count of people 
sleeping rough is undertaken each autumn. 

An increasing number turn to the council for assistance 
with their homeless crisis. 

Between 2010/11 and 2016/17, 6,286 homeless applications 
were made to the seven housing authorities across 
Lincolnshire. A total of 3,969 of these applications led to a full 
homelessness duty being accepted.

Between 2010/11 and 2016/17, the number of decisions 
made by Lincolnshire authorities rose by 46.5%. Discounting 
East Lindsey where the number of decisions made fell 
(15.9%), decisions rose by 79.8%. This is a considerable rise 
when viewed against the national rise in decisions of 6.26% 
and evidences the lack of affordable alternatives across the 
county.

Homelessness in
context in Lincolnshire

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

P
age 138



36 37

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC Totals

197 12 77 65 164 42 150 707

SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC Totals

268 94 127 101 243 95 89 1078

Homelessness Decisions 2016/17

SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC Totals

22 11 29 2 14 28 12 118

No. in TA (snapshot end of Q4) 2016/17

Acceptances/1000 population 2016/17

TYPE SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC Totals

B&B / hotel 0 0 1 0 5 0 6 12

Other nightly paid, 
privately managed 
accommodation

0 0 17 2 4 0 0 23

Hostel 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 5

Women’s refuges 0 0 4 0 1 0 1 6

PRS/RP 0 6 7 0 0 0 0 13

LA stock 22 0 0 0 4 28 5 59

SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC TOTAL

2011 Census population 
figure

133,788 64,637 136,401 89,250 93,541 88,270 107,766 713,653

Acceptances 197 12 77 65 164 42 89 646

Acceptances per 1000 
population

1.47 0.19 0.56 0.73 1.75 0.48 0.83 0.91

Type of TA (snapshot end of Q4) 2016/17

Homeless Duty Acceptances 2016/17

Not all homeless applications are approved by authorities. Some applicants are found to be not homeless or to be homeless 
but have no priority need, or to have made themselves intentionally homeless. Applicants falling into these categories are 
provided with advice and assistance to obtain alternative accommodation or to remain in their current accommodation where 
possible. Nevertheless, the number of applications that were awarded the full main duty has risen across Lincolnshire by 
46.5% over the period. 

Many homeless households are literally homeless, requiring the council to find temporary accommodation whilst enquiries 
are progressing or until a more settled home is secured. 

The following tables do not show all households provided with temporary accommodation by the authority over the year. 
Instead, they show the numbers accommodated at the end of March 2017. For those households who require temporary 
accommodation, the majority (53%) are housed within local authority stock.

P
age 139



38 39

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY?

There is a long term trend of a rise in homelessness both nationally and locally. Every homeless application made comes at a 
cost to the local authority in terms of staff time and potentially for temporary accommodation whilst enquiries are being made 
or whilst more settled accommodation is being secured. 

The Homeless Reduction Act 2017 has the potential to increase considerably the work load of Lincolnshire authorities in 
meeting their duties to households in housing need. There are risks of legal challenge to the authority if resource requirements 
are not met and councils are unable to meet new legal duties arising from the Act. Government has committed to providing 
additional resource to local councils to help them implement the new Act. The demands will be met from a combination of 
existing resource, partnership working and any future funding from government.

Homelessness Reasons 2016/17 SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC %

Parents no longer willing or able to 
accommodate 

30 1 0 1 6 2 8 7.43

Friends no longer willing or able to 
accommodate

11 0 9 2 11 8 6 7.28

Relationship breakdown – non violent 22 0 6 9 14 5 21 11.92

Violence 12 6 15 21 54 5 16 19.97

Harassment, threats or intimidation 1 1 2 0 1 0 3 1.24

Mortgage arrears 1 0 0 2 1 1 4 1.39

Rent arrears 2 0 0 1 3 3 7 2.48

Termination of Assured Shorthold Tenancy 69 2 25 23 39 6 5 26.16

Reason other than Termination of Assured 
Shorthold Tenancy

15 1 19 1 23 7 12 12.07

Required to leave accommodation 
provided by Home Office as asylum 
support

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

Left an institution or LA care 2 1 0 2 7 2 0 2.17

Left armed forces 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.15

Other 32 0 1 3 5 3 6 7.74

The loss of private rented accommodation as a key  
cause of homelessness across Lincolnshire

The ending of an assured shorthold tenancy is the single 
largest reason for loss of settled accommodation amongst 
statutorily homeless households nationally. This trend 
that has been increasing sharply since 2009, with over 
4,000 households (11% of all cases in 2009/10) becoming 
homeless through the ending of a private tenancy to now 
17,900 (31% of cases in 2015/16).  The main reason for 
homelessness in Lincolnshire is the ending of an assured 
shorthold tenancy, this accounts for 26% of all statutory 
homeless acceptances in 2016/17 across the county.

Domestic abuse is a key driver of homelessness  
across Lincolnshire

Violence is the second most common reason for 
homelessness in Lincolnshire. During 2015/16 there were 
856 cases of domestic abuse that were assessed as being 
high risk and have required a high level of multi agency 
intervention and a referral to Multi Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference. This demand on services demonstrates a 
continued need to pro-actively ensure early intervention 
is used to help households that have become homeless 
through violence. 

Parents no longer willing or able to accommodate

Parental exclusions is also considered a main reason 
for homelessness across Lincolnshire, with many young 
people also being captured in the category of friends no 
longer willing or able to accommodate. Councils work 

collaboratively with Lincolnshire County Council to ensure 
that young people receive the help and support that they 
need. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY?

With an increased reliance on the private rented sector to 
meet housing need including for vulnerable households; 
access, sustainability, quality and affordability in the private 
rented sector must be a key feature of our strategy to 
prevent and reduce homelessness in Lincolnshire. Councils 
will need to develop new incentives to engage with private 
sector landlords and help customers to access or remain in 
their tenancies.

It will be more important than ever for councils to work in 
partnership to address the many forms of domestic abuse 
and to ensure that schemes to prevent homelessness are 
prioritised.

Partnership working forms the cornerstone of our work with 
young people. We need to maintain current work streams 
whilst together we assess if better outcomes could be 
delivered by doing things differently.

P
age 140



40 41

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Homelessness Preventions 
2016/17

SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC TOTAL %

Mediation 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 4 0.25

Conciliation 5 1 5 14 0 9 12 46 2.85

Homeless Prevention Fund 2 2 0 33 1 27 2 67 4.15

Debt Advice 2 1 7 2 0 84 7 103 6.38

Resolve Housing Benefit 3 0 28 62 348 119 275 835 51.73

Resolve Rent Arrears 15 1 65 0 0 3 24 108 6.7

Sanctuary Scheme 8 0 3 17 33 1 14 76 4.71

Crisis Intervention 2 0 0 4 3 1 8 18 1.12

Negotiation with PRS 21 18 7 13 2 6 21 88 5.46

Assistance with PRS 13 0 6 83 1 102 0 205 12.71

Mortgage Arrears intervention 1 1 8 0 0 0 7 17 1.05

Other 10 0 22 0 1 0 14 47 2.91

Total 84 24 151 228 389 352 386 1,614

Developing a joined and cohesive approach to 
homelessness prevention between districts and county

It is becoming more important for councils to make attempts 
to prevent homelessness and during the five year period 
of the homeless strategy, over 9,700 households were 
prevented from becoming homeless across Lincolnshire. 

Tackling financial issues highlighted by the need for debt 
advice, resolving housing benefit issues and resolving rent 
arrears remain key factors in preventing homelessness.
Many of these issues relate to helping a household to remain 
in the private rented sector or to find accommodation in 
the private rented sector. This mirrors the major cause of 
homelessness being the ending of an assured shorthold 
tenancy. 

SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC TOTAL

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

%

Hostel/HMO 7 1 0 5 56 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 8 0 76 6 6.93

PRS - 
Incentive 
Scheme

10 4 1 3 60 2 5 0 29 6 21 0 8 1 134 16 12.68

PRS - Without 
Incentive

1 0 0 4 67 0 11 1 0 0 3 0 61 0 143 5 12.51

Friends/
Relatives

0 0 0 3 11 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 9 4 21 7 2.37

Supported 
accomm-
odation

4 1 0 7 31 0 33 10 23 5 12 0 15 0 118 23 11.92

Social Housing 
- Existing LA 
Tenant

0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 0.34

Social Housing 
- Part 6 offer

7 1 7 11 82 4 85 2 111 10 123 0 66 15 481 43 44.29

Social Housing 
- Non Part 6

14 0 0 1 35 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 51 1 4.4

Low cost 
home 
ownership 
scheme

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 1 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 44 0 45 9 4.56

44 7 8 43 343 6 134 13 163 21 170 0 211 20 1073 110

P
age 141



42 43

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY?

The role of preventing homelessness will have to be 
strengthened and further developed particularly in finding 
incentives to encourage the private rented sector to work in 
partnership. The Homeless Reduction Act will act as a key 
driver for authorities with new duties for Councils and new 
responsibilities placed on applicants. 

There are clear linkages with other public services and a 
requirement to work in partnership to ensure that homeless 
people receive the right support. 

Just as the government’s cross party Communities and 
Local Government Committee found that an effective 
strategy needed to be developed across a wider cross 
government programme of work, it is clear that the same 
requirement exists at the local level. Our future approach 
requires collaboration from a range of partners across the 
statutory and voluntary sectors. 

A continued challenge to tackle rough sleeping in 
Lincolnshire 

Rough sleeping is the most visible form of homelessness. It 
is also one of the most destructive forms of homelessness. 
The life expectancy of someone who has experienced rough 
sleeping is around 47 years compared with 77 within the 
general population.

Rough sleeping is rising. Nationally rough sleeping rates have 
risen by 79% between 2012 and 2016. Despite efforts of 
the service to reduce rough sleeping during 2016, there has 
been a year on year increase in rough sleeping levels across 
Lincolnshire (100% from 2012 to 2016, source: Autumn 
Rough Sleeper Counts).

Local 
Authority 
Area

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

COL 5 11 8 14 13

WLDC 0 0 1 0 1

NKDC 0 0 0 0 3

SKDC 1 1 2 2 1

BBC 7 5 4 7 5

SHDC 1 2 6 3 4

ELDC 3 2 1 6 7

Lincs Total 17 21 22 32 34

England 
Total

2309 2414 2744 3569 4134

Rates of rough sleeping vary across the county, with 
specific ‘hotspots’ existing in Lincoln, Boston, Spalding and 
Skegness. 

Homeless People - Priority Needs

Of those households accepted as being homeless, 
the following priority needs were recorded. They 
demonstrate that households with children are the 

main category of priority need. Also notable is the 
demonstration that homeless people are approaching 
with high prevalence of physical disability and mental 
illness or disability.

Priority Need 2016/17

S
K

D
C

B
B

C

E
LD

C

W
LD

C

C
O

L

S
H

D
C

N
K

D
C

T
O

TA
L

%

Emergency (fire, flood, storms, disaster, etc) 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0.31

Dependent children 130 9 56 42 101 22 59 419 64.86

Pregnant woman - no dependents 24 0 0 2 11 7 6 50 7.74

Aged 16 or 17 years old 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 3 0.46

Formerly "in care", and aged 18 to 20 years 
old

0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0.15

Old age 1 0 1 8 0 1 3 14 2.17

Physical disability 18 0 7 5 5 1 11 47 7.28

Mental illness or disability 18 0 6 3 22 6 6 61 9.44

Drug dependency 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 4 0.62

Alcohol dependency 2 0 0 1 0 0 1 4 0.62

Former asylum seeker 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0.15

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0.15

Having been "in care" 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Having served in HM Forces 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Having been in custody/on remand 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.15

Having fled their home because of violence/
threat of violence

0 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 0.31

Domestic violence 1 2 6 3 20 3 1 36 5.57

Total 197 12 77 65 164 42 89 646

P
age 142



44 45

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021 Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

ROUGH SLEEPING LEVELS IN LINCOLNSHIRE OVER 
THE PAST FOUR YEARS HAVE BEEN INFLUENCED BY 
THE FOLLOWING KEY CHALLENGES:

The introduction of restrictions to the welfare
entitlement for EEA nationals

Changes to the welfare entitlement of EEA nationals has 
been a contributing factor to increased levels of rough 
sleeping amongst EEA nationals across Lincolnshire and 
most particularly, those individuals assessed as ineligible 
for welfare benefits but considered by the Home Office to 
have permanent residency in the UK. These changes have 
had the impact of limiting the housing options available to 
those who experience a loss of employment whilst residing 
in the UK, resulting in some individuals who experience 
sporadic employment patterns which in turn leads to street 
homelessness. Such individuals can face being ‘trapped’ 
with no resources to return to their home country, no work 
and therefore no money and no home. 

These challenges are likely to remain for the lifetime of this 
strategy, requiring authorities across Lincolnshire and their 
partners to consider how support is provided to those 
who have lost their employment and experience street 
homelessness. This includes support in re-accessing 
employment, in addition to support in returning to their 
country of origin.

Rough sleeping as a result of being vulnerable and/or 
having a chaotic lifestyle

Significant numbers of rough sleepers and those known 
as hostel hoppers or sofa surfers are vulnerable in the 
commonly understood sense of the word. This can include 

having a mental health problem, or addiction to drugs or 
alcohol, being physically unwell or any combination of these. 
Many have had abusive childhoods or have had a sequence 
of major life traumas which have the consequence of an 
inability to form positive relationships and ‘difficulty coping’.
The fear of isolation and loneliness can act as a barrier for 
some to access and maintain settled accommodation where 
the ‘street’ represents a known quantity and familiar faces.

There are examples where partners involved in supporting 
rough sleepers across Lincolnshire express difficulties in 
accessing appropriate services for individuals. The Rough 
Sleeper Outreach Service, commissioned by Lincolnshire 
County Council and delivered by P3, frequently reports 
the difficulties in supporting rough sleepers with mental 
health issues in accessing services to provide support and 
assistance with such issues.

In addition to difficulties in accessing mental health services, 
many partners report difficulties in securing suitable 
accommodation for rough sleepers, often as a result of their 
higher support needs, substance misuse and their tenancy 
history.

There is some evidence of individuals experiencing 
homelessness as a result of being discharged from hospital 
without suitable accommodation being available for them 
upon discharge.

The challenges facing us include:
•  Concerns around engaging mental health services to 

assess and support individuals.
•  Evictions from supported housing
•  Unplanned discharge from hospital.
•  Difficulties in accessing accommodation due to support 

needs and tenancy histories.

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

More recently, a report commissioned by the independent 
anti-slavery commissioner considered the links between 
modern slavery and homelessness. The results were eye 
opening, showing that homeless people are at risk of being 
exploited when they are on the streets, but also that victims 
of modern slavery are at risk of becoming homeless if no 
long-term support is provided to them. The report makes 12 
recommendations for organisations who work with  
homeless people.

In response to the challenge, the street outreach team have 
implemented a ‘Housing First’ model, initially within Lincoln. 
Through this model, accommodation is offered to those 
who have been rough sleeping for a period of time or where 
traditional housing related support services have not worked.

More recently, together with P3 and Lincolnshire County 
Council, the seven district councils were successful in 
securing funding  from the Department of Communities and 
Local Government’s Homelessness Prevention Programme 
to expand our work with some of the most entrenched 
rough sleepers across Lincolnshire. This funding presents 
an opportunity to build on strong foundations to try, in 
partnership, something new and more innovative than 
previous traditional service models.

The service, ACTions Lincs is based on the premise that 
traditional methods of engagement do not meet the needs 
of the most vulnerable and will incorporate the support 
and coordination of other key services including the Mental 
Health Trust, Addaction, Lincolnshire CCG’s, the Police and 
Crime Commissioner, Health Watch and Credit Union to take 
an holistic approach to the needs of rough sleepers.

This is a £1.3m fund, just one of eight social impact bond 

projects across England and the first complex needs project 
in Lincolnshire. The project launched in September 2017 
and will support 120 of the most entrenched and vulnerable 
homeless individuals intensively for a three and a half year 
period. The model adopts a housing first approach, and will 
be delivered through genuine collaboration and partnership. 
ACTion Lincs will provide life changing support to the most 
entrenched rough sleepers across the County. 

The project will be delivered by a team of specialists 
including a seconded drug and alcohol recovery worker 
and a seconded mental health practitioner. Crucially, 
once someone is accepted onto the program, then unlike 
traditional services, they will remain part of the program and 
support will be provided in any setting whether that be the 
street, hospital, prison or home. By offering support over a 
prolonged period of time, and by being flexible to meet the 
needs of the people that we are working with, we hope that 
it will give them the best opportunity of bringing about lasting 
change.

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY?

Tackling rough sleeping will continue to form a major part 
of our work on homelessness. There is a need to build on 
relationships with key statutory and voluntary sector partners 
to address concerns and to tackle the barriers which prevent 
rough sleepers from moving away from the streets.

It is recognised that tackling homelessness is not simply a 
matter of increasing housing supply. To tackle the broader 
causes and symptoms of homelessness in Lincolnshire, 
there is a need for coordinated action; bringing together 
housing, health, criminal justice and employment 
commissioners and partners. At a time of increasing 

P
age 143



46

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021 Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

homelessness in Lincolnshire, there is a need to ensure 
that effective collaborative working is in place across each 
of these areas and that all partners and commissioners 
understand their roles and genuinely contribute to preventing 
homelessness even in the absence of national joined up 
policy.

At a national level the Homelessness Reduction Act provides 
an opportunity to include a duty to cooperate for other 
public bodies to comply with efforts to prevent and relieve 
homelessness, particularly for vulnerable groups. We will 
seek to engage with ongoing discussions regarding the 
Act. We will seek to engage with relevant strategic partners 
and commissioners, seeking to invite adoption of the 
homelessness strategy and action therein. Whilst a wider 
group of partners and stakeholders will continue to play an 
important role in homelessness prevention, the emergence of 
a group of strategic commissioners partners, focussed
on the prevention and reduction in homelessness across  
the county.

The need to ensure the availability of services and 
supported housing to meet the needs of those who are at 
risk of, or experience homelessness

Housing related support plays a vital role in preventing and 
relieving homelessness, particularly for vulnerable groups 
who are unable to access or sustain alternative housing 
options. It is important that the limited resources available 
are able to meet the needs of those customers in need, and 
that the services form part of a pathway to housing and 
independence. 

Thanks to Lincolnshire County Council’s ongoing 
commitment to preventing and tackling homelessness, 

Lincolnshire has not to date encountered the levels of 
reduction to housing related support provision experienced 
in other parts of the country. In 2014, the Public Health 
Directorate of Lincolnshire County Council recommissioned 
housing related support services in Lincolnshire. The revised 
model sought to provide transitional accommodation and 
support to a greater number of people – services were 
rationalised and an emphasis placed on throughput and 
more even distribution of services across Lincolnshire.

Whilst the recommissioning process has resulted in the 
loss of client group specific accommodation and support, 
the need to continue to address rough sleeping was 
integrated into the revised model as part of a countywide 
floating support service.  The development of an electronic 
referral system sought to improve areas such as ease of 
access to services, greater transparency, accountability and 
improved data capture to inform evidence of need and future 
commissioning.   The services commissioned as part of the 
revised model are available to:

• Former rough sleepers, and other single homeless 
people living in hostels, to move-on into self-contained 
accommodation;

• Recovering substance misusers, to settle down after 
treatment and rehabilitation;

• Offenders, who have lost their home while in prison, to 
plan for their release;

• People suffering domestic abuse to find new 
accommodation freeing themselves from abusive 
relationships

47

It is anticipated that housing related support services will 
be re-commisioned during the life of this strategy. A Public 
Health led review of the service as part of the commissioning 
cycle is currently underway, with a focus on:

• Rationale for current model
• Delivering outcomes 
• Future commissioning needs and alignment with  

other key areas of work (such as the Housing for  
Independence Strategy)

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

Access to stable and suitable accommodation plays a 
vital role in assisting vulnerable people to rebuild their 
lives. It is also important to genuinely work collectively and 
collaboratively to meet the needs of those at risk of, or 
experiencing homelessness and to make best use of the 
limited resources available to us in Lincolnshire. We will 
engage fully with the review of Housing Related Supported 
services, with a focus on ensuring that supported housing 
continues to be available to those who need it. We will seek 
to ensure that associated work streams (including housing 
for independence, the Housing Health and Care Delivery 
Group and the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment) are 
aligned. We also seek to engage Lincolnshire County Council 
as a partner in adoption and delivery of this countywide 
homelessness strategy.

The emergence of a number of non-commissioned 
supported housing schemes, funded in the main through 
intensive housing management must also be considered as 
part of this strategy in terms of their role in preventing and 
tackling homelessness, their sustainability and opportunities 
to ensure a partnership approach to preventing and tackling 

homelessness across Lincolnshire.  We will seek to actively 
engage with providers of these services operating in 
Lincolnshire.

P
age 144



48 49

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Effective governance arrangements are key to 
driving change and improvements across the sector. 
Coordination of our Delivery Plan and associated work 
programmes will be the responsibility of Lincolnshire’s 
Homelessness Prevention Programme Manager. 
This post will be accountable to the Lincolnshire 
Homelessness Strategy Partnership. Any further 

demands will be met from a combination of existing 
resource, partnership working and any future funding 
from Government.

The following table sets out our governance 
arrangements and the key roles and responsibilities of 
those involved in making this strategy a success:

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Context / Role

Homelessness 
Prevention 
Programme Manager

A countywide role funded by a grant from the Department for Communities and Local 
Government. 

Accountable to the Homelessness Strategy Partnership.

Homelessness 
Strategy Network 

Wide network of voluntary and statutory sector stakeholders working together to prevent and 
tackle homelessness in line with the objectives of the countywide homelessness strategy and 
delivery plan. Information sharing, collaboration and delivery.

Homelessness 
Strategy Partnership 
(Strategic)

Strategic partnerships comprising the District Councils, County Council and other key 
stakeholders from Health and Criminal Justice. Oversee the delivery of the Homelessness 
Strategy and ensure the delivery plan is responsive to emerging needs. Unblock and address 
key strategic issues that are impacting on homelessness.

Oversee the ACTion Lincs Project and steering group

Accountable to the District Housing Network.

Programme / Project 
Sponsorship

Within the homelessness strategy, work programmes / key projects may require strategic 
leadership from a member of the Homelessness Strategy Partnership. For these areas of work, a 
Local Authority programme /project sponsor will be agreed.

District Housing 
Network

Endorsed by the Lincolnshire Chief Executives Group as the senior housing group on 
Lincolnshire. Oversee the work and outcomes of the Homelessness Strategy Partnership.

Housing, Health and 
Care Delivery Group

A sub group of Lincolnshire’s Health & Wellbeing Board. Driving forward collaboration and 
integration between housing, health and care.

 

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

We have used the sections above on ‘national and local 
context and drivers for change’ (pages 21 – 33) and 
‘homelessness in context in Lincolnshire’ (pages 35 – 46) to 
formulate the following Key Priorities that we hope to focus 
on and achieve throughout the life of this strategy. We will 
meet these priorities through working to meet the actions 

set out in a Delivery Plan. Accompanying this strategy will 
be our first Delivery Plan which will run for the first two years 
following launch of the strategy. We will undertake a review 
of our Delivery Plan after 18 months and consider progress, 
whether it is still fit for purpose and whether other actions 
need to be added.

Priorities, Delivery Plan and 
Governance

Priority One:  Protect
Protecting the most vulnerable from experiencing 
homelessness including tackling rough sleeping. 

Priority Two:  Prevent Preventing homelessness wherever possible to 
do so.

Priority Three:  Partnership Developing and maintaining strategic 
relationships and partnerships.

Priority Four:  Place Ensuring access to the right type of housing 
solution. 

Priority Five:  Possibility Ensuring a sustainable future for supported 
housing. 

The Key Priorities are:P
age 145



South Holland District Council
Homelessness Out of Hours: 01775 761161
Housing Advice/Needs: contact via SHDC  
Switchboard: 01775 761161

North Kesteven District Council
Homelessness Out of Hours: 01529 308308
The Safe as Houses and Housing Options: contact via 
NKDC switchboard: 01529 414155

West Lindsey District Council
Homelessness Out of Hours: 01427 613960
The Housing & Communities Team and Home Choices Team 
contact via WLDC switchboard: 01427 676676

East Lindsey District Council
Homelessness Out of Hours: 07766 776447
Housing Advice: 01507 613126

Boston Borough Council
Homelessness Out of Hours: 01205 362151
Housing Advice/Needs: 01205 314555

South Kesteven District Council
Homelessness Out of Hours: 01476 590044
Housing Advice/Needs: contact via SKDC  
switchboard – 01476 406080

City of Lincoln Council
Homelessness Out of Hours: 01522 534737
For housing advice contact the Property Shop:  
01522 873777 
Private Sector Housing team: 01522 873787

Page 146



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Christine Marshall, Director of Commercialisation and Councillor Peter 
Coupland, Portfolio Holder for Finance

To: Cabinet Tuesday, 13 February 2018, Council 28th February 2018

Author: Matthew Hogan - Strategic Housing Manager, Interim Chief Accountant

Subject Welland Homes Business Plan Update

Purpose: To update the Welland Homes Business Plan, and to put in place the 
necessary arrangements for Welland Homes to commence delivery of a 
housing development at Parkside Crescent, Spalding.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That subject to business plan and subsequent changes to budget being approved, the 
council agrees to the sale of the land at Parkside Crescent

2) That subject to business plan and subsequent changes to budget being approved, that 
delegated authority be granted to the Executive Director - Commercialisation (the S151 
Officer), to approve the terms of any loan agreements required and the value of any 
periodic cash flow payments to be made to the company. 

Recommendation(s) to Council: 

3) That this amendment to the Welland Homes Business Plan be approved, and that the 
Capital Programme, included as Appendix E to the draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and 
Capital Strategy Report to Council on 28th February 2018, considered as Item 7 on this 
agenda, be amended to reflect the amended programme set out in paragraph 1.18.

4) To reaffirm the delegated authority, granted by Council on 25th March 2015, to the 
Executive Director – Commercialisation (the S151 Officer), to approve the final mix of use 
of reserves and borrowing in line with the business plan and Council Treasury 
Management Strategy.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 On 22nd February 2017 the Council approved an updated financial model for Welland 
Homes Limited on the basis that a substantial component of the business activity of 
Welland Homes will be as a holding and investment vehicle for private rented housing.

1.2 This business plan was approved to give immediate short term clarity around the 
sustainability of Welland Homes and to provide a basis for revenue generating activity 
which will be central to covering core costs and allowing the company to trade, in addition 
to providing a sustainable platform from which any other potential housing-related 
opportunities can be pursued (e.g. housing development activity etc.).

Page 147

Agenda Item 10.



1.3 Since the adoption of the updated financial model for the company back in February 2017, 
the company has completed the acquisition of its first investment properties; a 15 unit 
acquisition at Green Lane, Spalding. These units have been let by the company as market 
rented housing, and are now providing the company with a revenue stream.

1.4 On 26th July 2017 the Council approved an update to the Company’s Business Plan to 
include the acquisition of a further 5 units at London Road, Long Sutton. A ‘heads of terms’ 
for the contractual arrangements between the company and the site developer has been 
prepared and approved by Welland Homes Board at its’ meeting on 19th December 2017. 
At the current rate of progress, ‘start on site’ for the London Road scheme is anticipated in 
April 2018, with practical completion within the first quarter of 2019.

1.5 In addition to pursuing investment activity such as the units at Green Lane and London 
Road, the company has also been exploring opportunities relating to the development of 
housing for the purposes of market rent. The company has developed a detailed 
development proposal in relation to council-owned land at Parkside Crescent, Spalding. 
The company has secured planning consent for a 10 unit development of two bed houses, 
and has utilised a competitive procurement process to identify a building contractor with 
whom to work in partnership with in order to develop the scheme. Full details concerning 
the detail of the development proposal for Parkside Crescent are set out below.

1.6 The development proposal at Parkside Crescent relates to a 0.35ha former garage site 
adjacent to an existing council-owned housing scheme on Parkside Crescent, west of the 
Peterborough to Sleaford railway line in central Spalding. The site is currently owned by the 
Council, and following a recent appropriation process is now accounted for within the 
council’s General Fund. The access to the site is presently served by an adopted highway. 
However, in order to develop the site there is a need to extend this access into the site, in 
addition to connecting the site to neighbouring services such as electricity and water. 

1.7 The potential for Welland Homes to pursue a development opportunity at Parkside 
Crescent, Spalding was first presented to the Welland Homes Board in May 2016

1.8 In March 2017 Welland Homes sought and obtained planning consent for the development 
during 2017 (Planning Reference: H16-1245-16). Full detailed consent is in place for 10 
two bed dwellings. It is Welland Home’s intentions to make the properties available for 
market rent, and to hold the properties as a long term investment asset. 

1.9 In order to obtain a firm cost and delivery proposal for the development, a procurement 
exercise for a building contract to deliver the Parkside Crescent scheme has now been 
completed. The full tender assessment process has now been concluded based on quality 
and price, and the process of relaying the outcome of that process to those who tendered 
for the scheme has commenced.

1.10 Revised financial modelling and scheme evaluation have now been completed based on 
the anticipated winning tender. Confidential Appendix 1 summarises the financial impact of 
the Parkside Crescent Scheme and the changes to assumed cost and revenue following 
the completion of the contract tender process. 

1.11 It should be noted that the financial summary within the appendix includes financial 
information in relation to the build cost of the development (e.g. the physical development 
of the 10 units, the development of the necessary road infrastructure, the connections to 

Page 148



services, and the site preparation work which includes an element of remediation) 
alongside the wider project costs associated with the development (e.g. development 
period loan, professional fees and an allowance for internal project management costs).

1.12 The projected impact on the overall Welland Homes Business Plan is set out in Confidential 
Appendix 2.

1.13 At its meeting of 23rd January 2018, the Welland Homes Board considered a report on the 
proposed development. Following extensive consideration of the business case associated 
with the development, including a detailed consideration of the costings associated with the 
scheme, the board resolved to agree the following: 

 That, subject to due diligence, Welland Homes Ltd will proceed to contract for the 
proposed development of ten dwellings at Parkside Crescent, Spalding.

 That the company agrees to approach the Council in order to put in place the necessary 
arrangements to enable the company to proceed towards contract. 

1.14 Consequently, in order to enable Welland Homes to proceed with this project, the company 
is seeking approval from the shareholder to put into place all of the necessary 
arrangements to enable the company to deliver the project. These arrangements include 
Council approval of the company’s updated business plan (in its capacity as sole 
shareholder), approval from the council to make available all necessary finance to enable 
the company to deliver the project, and agreement from the council to sell the land at 
Parkside Crescent to the company in order to enable the development to commence.

1.15 In terms of the sale of the land to Welland Homes, the Council has sought professional 
valuation advice as a means of determining an appropriate sale price for the land which 
represents the market value of the site. This valuation process was undertaken in January 
2018 as a means of ensuring that any sale of land to Welland Homes is based on the latest 
valuation of the site within the context of the local market. The necessary transfer 
document has been prepared to enable the sale of the land to complete, subject to Council 
agreeing to the recommendations set out within this report.

1.16 The detailed projected financial impact on the Council is set out in Confidential Appendix 3

1.17 The key changes since the Welland Homes Business Plan was last approved in July 2017 
are summarised below:

 An increase in the total scheme costs for London Road, Long Sutton of £11k due to 
an increase in the estimated Stamp Duty cost and provision for a Clerk of Works to 
monitor and scrutinise the build on behalf of the company in order to protect it’s 
interests during the build period.

 Parkside Crescent has now been included within the business plan and the capital 
cost of the scheme is approximately £36k lower than the indicative scheme 10 unit 
included in the earlier plan.

1.18 The total investment required to deliver six schemes (60 properties) is now estimated at 
£8.708m over the period 2016-17 to 2021-22 as follows:

Page 149



Development 
Loan

Commercial 
Loan

Equity 
Investment

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

2016-17 (includes 
cashflow equity)

- 409 877 1,286

2017-18 184 933 - 1,117

2018-19 986 469 253 1,708

2019-20 (1,170) 1,844 993 1,667

2020-21 - 948 510 1,458

2021-22 - 957 516 1,473

- 5,560 3,148 8,708

July 2017 Business Plan - 5,576 3,157 8,733

Change (16) (9) (25)

1.19 The current modelling assumes that the Council’s Investment in Welland Homes will be 
funded through internal borrowing. While the base rate is so low this will mean that the 
Council can achieve a higher rate of interest from Welland Homes than by investing 
elsewhere. However, as this is a long term investment there is a risk that if the base rate 
increases the opportunity cost of this internal borrowing could increase.

1.20 To mitigate this risk the Council could choose to fund this investment through a long term 
PWLB loan. This would reduce annual savings to the Council through interest receipts but 
the major benefit, dividend on Company profits, would be unaffected. This would also free 
up internal borrowing resources for more short term investment opportunities.

1.21 In line with the delegated authority, granted by Council on 25th March 2015 and re-affirmed 
within the recommendations within this report, the Executive Director - Commercialisation 
(the S151 Officer) will approve the final mix of use of reserves and borrowing in line with 
the business plan and Council Treasury Management Strategy.

1.22 During the construction phase a development period loan will be required, with the 
properties then re-financed through the Council on a long term basis upon completion. 
Further details on this loan are set out in Confidential Appendix 4 including arrangements to 
deal with any costs arising from abnormal unforeseen construction challenges.

1.23 The element of funding that comprises a loan or loans will be subject to a formal loan 
agreement or agreements which may be protected by way of a charge against the 

Page 150



company’s assets generally (a floating charge) or against specific assets. Delegation to the 
Section 151 Officer is sought to approve the terms of any such agreements.

1.24 Delegation to the Section 151 Officer is also sought to approve the process required for the 
Company to draw down periodic cash flow payments under the development period loan. 
This will include arrangements to address the cashflow implications of any significant 
abnormal construction challenge which may occur. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do Nothing - This would mean that Welland Homes would be unable to proceed with the 
proposed development at Parkside Crescent, Spalding. This in turn would limit the delivery 
of housing from Welland Homes under the existing business plan and leave the company 
unable to deliver forecast returns.

2.2 Proceed as per the report recommendations – Under this option, the council will agree 
to put in place the necessary arrangements to enable the company to move towards 
contract stage. Those necessary arrangements include approval of the company’s updated 
business plan, approval from the shareholder to make available all necessary finance to 
enable the company to deliver the project, and agreement from the council to sell the land 
at Parkside Crescent to the company.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To enable Welland Homes to proceed to contract stage for the proposed development at 
Parkside Crescent, Spalding.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The delivery of the Parkside Crescent development scheme will support the delivery of the 
wider Welland Homes Business Plan, which will in turn support the delivery of savings 
targets set out in the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitutional & Legal

5.1.1 Whilst operational matters in respect of the company are executive functions, the changes 
proposed to the business plan result in a need to change the budget. As a result, the final 
decision is reserved to Council.

5.1.2 The key legal issues have been considered at each stage of the project, and have been 
reported to the Cabinet and Council previously.

5.1.3 The proposed revisions to the business plan are consistent with the agreed objectives of 
the company.

5.2 Contracts

5.2.1 In capitalising Welland Homes as a means to enable the company to deliver the project, the 
Council will utilise a loan and equity agreement, prepared by external legal advisors. This 

Page 151



loan and equity agreement will act as a contract between the council and Welland Homes 
in relation to the financing arrangement between the two parties.

5.3 Corporate Priorities

5.3.1 The recommendations contained within the report will make a notable contribution to the 
realisation of a number of the Council’s corporate priorities, including to ‘encourage the 
local economy to be vibrant with continued growth’. The recommendations also support 
council objectives in terms of increasing housing supply, making effective use of council 
assets, and generating commercial opportunities to maximise income into the authority.

5.4 Financial

5.4.1 This is a financial report with detailed financial implications set out in the body of the report.

5.5 Reputation

5.5.1 In order to mitigate reputational risk, a robust risk management structure sits around both 
the delivery of the Parkside Crescent project, and the administration of Welland Homes as 
a company. Reputational risk is a key consideration within this structure, and is being 
proactively managed by the project team.

5.6 Risk Management

5.6.1 In order to mitigate risk, a robust risk management structure sits around both the delivery of 
the Parkside Crescent project, and the administration of Welland Homes as a company. 
This risk management structure has been created to manage the financial, legal, delivery, 
strategic and reputation risks associated with the activity of the company. 

5.6.2 In terms of construction risk, the construction contract for the Parkside Crescent 
development has been procured through a ‘design and build’ route. The ‘design and build’ 
approach also serves to pass the majority of the day-to-day construction risks to the 
contractor, and serves to provide the company with a greater degree of certainty around 
the construction costs of the project. Furthermore, a number of site surveys have been 
undertaken in order to understand as much as practicably possible concerning the ground 
conditions associated with the site, and these surveys have been made available to the 
contractor in order to enable them to arrive at a view as to the level of construction risk 
associated with the delivery of the scheme. 

5.6.3 Whereas reasonable steps have been taken to identify any potential construction risks 
associated with the Parkside Crescent development, it should be noted that any 
development activity carries with it a degree of risk, not matter how unlikely that risk is to 
occur. 

5.7 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

5.7.1 Welland Homes has an ambition to enter into a building contract for the development at 
Parkside Crescent in March 2018. Any delays to entering into contract may have an 
adverse impact upon the contract price provided by the winning contractor. Consequently, 
the decisions and recommendations within this report are time sensitive to the delivery of 
Welland Homes’ business plan.

Page 152



5.8 Transformation Programme

5.8.1 Detailed revenue savings arising from the investment in Welland Homes are set out as part 
of Confidential Appendix 3. Forecast revenue savings of over £0.325m per year will be 
achieved by 2022-23 as a result of this investment in line with the savings targets set as 
part of the Council’s Moving Forward Programme. In addition the Council will also receive 
indirect contributions through New Homes Bonus and as a result of an increased Council 
Tax Base.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All 

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 None

Background papers:- Council Report dated 22 Feb 2017 – Welland Homes Business Plan
Council Report dated 26 July 2017 – Development at London Road

Lead Contact Officer:

Name and Post: Matthew Hogan, Strategic Housing Manager, Interim Chief 
Accountant

Telephone Number 01775 764524

Email: matthew.hogan@breckland-sholland.gov.uk, 
mastbury@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Y

Exempt Decision: Partially exempt

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Confidential Appendices attached to this report: 

(Please note that the following appendices are not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information))

Appendix 1  Parkside Crescent Financial Evaluation 

Appendix 2 Updated Welland Homes Limited Business Plan

Appendix 3  Financial Impact on the Council  

Appendix 4  Development Period Loan

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 155

Agenda Item 13.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy
	Appendix A for Budget 2018-19
	Appendix B for Budget 2018-19
	Appendix C for Budget 2018-19
	Appendix D for Budget 2018-19
	Appendix E for Budget 2018-19
	Appendix F for Budget 2018-19
	Appendix G for Budget 2018-19
	Appendix H for Budget 2018-19

	8. Q3 Finance Report 2017-18
	9. Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21
	Appendix 1 for Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-21

	10. Welland Homes Business Plan Update
	13. Welland Homes Business Plan Update

